
High Peak Borough Council

THE EXECUTIVE AGENDA

Date: Wednesday, 4 December 2019

Time: 6.00 pm

Venue: The Board Room, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton

26 November 2019

PART 1
1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
ii) Other Interests

3. To approve the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

4. Corporate Plan: Communication and Engagement Plan and Performance 
Framework Update (Pages 9 - 18)

5. Second Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2019/2020 
(Pages 19 - 70)

6. Updated Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 to 2023/24 (Pages 71 - 122)

7. Car Parking: Pay and Display Machine Upgrades (Pages 123 - 134)

8. Leisure Centre Options (Pages 135 - 144)

9. Food Enforcement Plan (Pages 145 - 176)

10. Declaration of an Air Quality Managment Area on part of the A57, Dinting Vale, 
Glossop (Pages 177 - 260)

11. Air Quality Monitoring Action Plan Update on the AQMA Woodhead Road (A628) 
Tintwistle (Pages 261 - 300)

12. To resolve that the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Public Document Pack



PART 2
13. To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 301 - 306)

(Paragraph 3, 7 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. )

14. Buxton Crescent and Thermal Spa Project - Alternations to lease and support for 
Buxton Heritage Trust (Pages 307 - 316)
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) )

15. Contract Award Report P3954 Queens Court Roofing Works (Pages 317 - 328)
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) )

16. P4120 Supply and Installation of Windows, Doors and Glazing - HRA Properties 
Contract Award Report (Pages 329 - 346)
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) )

SIMON BAKER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Membership of The Executive
Councillor A McKeown (Chair) Councillor D Greenhalgh (Vice-Chair)
Councillor A Barrow Councillor F Sloman
Councillor J Todd



THE EXECUTIVE

Meeting: Thursday, 10 October 2019 at 6.00 pm in The Board Room, Pavilion Gardens, 
Buxton

Present: Councillor A McKeown (Chair) 

Councillors A Barrow, D Greenhalgh and J Todd

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors F Sloman

Councillors T Ashton and J Collins were also in attendance.

20/16 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
(Agenda Item 2)

There were no declarations made.

20/17 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 3)

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 15 August 2019 be 
approved.

20/18 FIRST QUARTER FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW 2019/20
(Agenda Item 4)

The purpose of the report was to inform the Executive of the Council’s 
overall performance and financial position for the period ended 30th June 
(“First Quarter 2019/20”) The report was considered by the Corporate Select 
Committee on 30 September 2019. The position was summarised as 
follows:

Subject Headline
Finance The headlines for the First Quarter were:

Performance against Budget
 At the Quarter One stage the General Fund provisional outturn 

for 2019/20 was a forecast small overspend of £58,810.
Efficiency Programme
 The 2019/20 general fund efficiency target of £714,000 had 

already been exceeded with £800,000 of savings achieved to 
date.  

Housing Revenue Account
 The Housing Revenue Account was forecast at the Quarter 1 

stage to be in surplus (against budget) by £16,144 
Capital Programme
 The General Fund Capital Programme budget for 2019/20 as 

revised was £7.90 million. The outturn was anticipated to be on 

High Peak Borough Council

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



The Executive
Thursday, 10 October 2019

target at the Q1 stage.
 The HRA Capital Programme for 2019/20 as revised was £4.41 

million.  At the Quarter 1 stage the outturn was expected to be 
£4.01 million which represented a £0.4 million underspend.

Treasury Management
 Cash investments held at 30th June 2019 totalled £13.5 million.
 Council borrowing at 30th June 2019 totalled £66.8 million.
 The Council’s net interest general fund budget was forecast to 

be overspent by £60,980 with a £25,050 surplus on the HRA
Revenue Collection
 29.64% of Council Tax was collected by 30th June 2019, 

compared to 29.47% for the same period last year.
 30.01% of Business Rates was collected by 30th June 2019 

compared with 31.12% for the same period last year.
 At the end of Quarter 1 the value of sundry debt over 60 days 

old was £178,520 which compares to £461,117 at 30th June 
2018

Procurement The headlines for the First Quarter were:
 30 procurement activities were completed 
 At the 30th June 2019, 50% of procurement activity undertaken 

was on the forward plan and the Council paid 95% of its 
invoices within 30 days

Performance The headlines for the First Quarter were:
 Target was met for 60% of the key performance indicators
 Of the 15 Priority Actions within the Corporate Plan, one was 

awaiting a decision, and the remainder being classified as 
‘Green’

 The Council received 47 complaints, 51 comments and 24 
compliments in the First Quarter. Repeat complaints and 
response times both on track 

Options considered:

Detailed analysis was contained within the appendices to the report.

RESOLVED:

That the First Quarter 2019/20 financial, procurement and performance 
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of this 
covering report be noted.

20/19 CORPORATE PLAN 2019 - 23
(Agenda Item 5)

The purpose of the report was to agree a Corporate Plan which would cover 
the period 2019 to 2023. The Plan set out the Council’s vision, aims and 
objectives and provided clear direction for the delivery of services and the 
achievement of positive outcomes for residents. The report was considered 
by the Corporate Select Committee on 30 September 2019 and the Leader 
of the Council referred to a number of amendments that had been made to 
the report following its presentation to the Committee.  A request by the Page 4



The Executive
Thursday, 10 October 2019

Chairman of the Corporate Select Committee to postpone the performance 
framework working group until the outcome of consultation was known 
would be considered by the Executive.

Options considered:

There were two options available to members in respect of the approval of 
the Corporate Plan:

 Approve the draft Corporate Plan and recommended Council adoption 
subject to comments from the Corporate Select Committee and the 
Executive (recommended) – this would ensure that positive outcomes 
could be delivered to residents in line with priorities which were 
established around their needs and aspirations.

 Reject the draft Corporate Plan (not recommended)  

RESOLVED:

1. Recommends that Council approves the Council’s vision, aims, 
objectives, influencing objectives and priorities.

2. That a process of internal and external consultation and engagement as 
set out in the report be adopted.

3. That the establishment of a working group to agree a new performance 
framework be supported.

20/20 DATA PROTECTION POLICY
(Agenda Item 6)

To update the Council’s Data Protection Policy in light of recent legislative 
changes. The report was considered by the Corporate Select Committee on 
30 September 2019.

Options considered:

None identified. The Council was required to adopt a Data Protection Policy 
that reflected current legislation.

RESOLVED:

That the Council’s revised Data Protection Policy be noted and approved.

Page 5



The Executive
Thursday, 10 October 2019

20/21 TO RESOLVE THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM 
THE MEETING FOR THE FOLLOWING ITEMS BECAUSE THERE MAY BE 
DISCLOSURE TO THEM OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN 
PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972.
(Agenda Item 7)

RESOLVED:

That the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

20/22 TO APPROVE THE EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 8)

The exempt minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 15 August 
2019 were approved.

20/23 FIRST QUARTER FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW 2019/20 - APPENDIX D
(Agenda Item 9)

The Executive approved proposed writes offs as attached in Appendix D of 
the report.

20/24 GLOSSOP TOWN HALL COMPLEX UPDATE
(Agenda Item 10)

The Executive approved a scheme to renovate the Glossop Town Hall roof, 
the Market Hall and Municipal Buildings.

20/25 SURRENDER AND RE-GRANT OF THE BUXTON AND HIGH PEAK GOLF 
CLUB LEASE
(Agenda Item 11)

The Executive approved a report that requested High Peak Borough Council 
and Buxton Golf Club to agree a surrender of the existing golf club lease 
and a simultaneous re-grant of a revised area with amended terms. 

20/26 GRANBY ROAD SITE A - DISPOSAL REPORT
(Agenda Item 12)

The Executive approved a report that sought the disposal of land at Granby 
Road and updated members on the proposals for the Granby Road site.

20/27 LEASE OF LAND AT SERPENTINE DEPOT, BURLINGTON ROAD, 
BUXTON
(Agenda Item 13)

The Executive approved a report that considered a ‘Lease’ and an 
‘Agreement For a Lease’ of the land and buildings at Serpentine Depot.

Page 6



The Executive
Thursday, 10 October 2019

The meeting concluded at 6.25 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

4 December 2019

TITLE: Corporate Plan: Communication and 
Engagement Plan and Performance 
Framework Update

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor A McKeown - Council Leader 

CONTACT OFFICER: Vanessa Higgins – Information Business 
Partner

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-specific

Appendices Attached:
Appendix 1: Communication and Engagement Plan
Appendix 2: New Performance Measures (gap analysis)

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Executive on the progress made in 
developing a new performance framework for 2019-2023 and the plans for 
communicating and engaging with stakeholders on the Council’s corporate 
plan priorities.

2. Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive notes the content of the report, including 
the proposal for a Performance Framework Sub-Committee in the New Year.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The new 4-year Corporate Plan (2019-2023) was adopted at Full Council on 
15th October 2019 and sets out the high level aims and objectives for the 
Borough and the specific priority actions to be undertaken over the life of the 
plan.

3.2 This report sets out the proposed communication and engagement process for 
the new Corporate Plan and also provides a progress update on the work 
done to date to create a new performance framework; together with the next 
steps for member engagement in this process.

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 This report pertains to the Corporate Plan and therefore links to all of the 
Council’s Corporate Plan aims and objectives.  

5. Alternative Options

5.1 This report is for information and councillors are invited to comment.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None.

6.2 Workforce
None.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and 
Diversity policies.

An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken on the 
Corporate Plan, which feeds into budget plans.

6.4 Financial Considerations
None

6.5 Legal
None.

16.6 Sustainability
None.

6.7 External Consultation
Details of the proposed consultation are contained within the report

6.8  Risk A Risk Assessment
Not applicable 

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) and Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Vanessa Higgins

Page 10



Information Business Partner
vanessa.higgins@highpeak.gov.uk

Page 11



7 Background & Introduction

7.1 The new 4-year Corporate Plan (2019-2023) was adopted at Full Council on 
15th October 2019 and sets out the high level aims and objectives for the 
Borough; together with the priority actions to be undertaken over the life of the 
plan.

7.2 The adoption of a new Corporate Plan necessitates the realigning of the 
council’s performance framework to these new aims and objectives, in order 
for progress to be effectively monitored and reported to management, 
councillors and wider stakeholders.

8 Development of a New Performance Framework

8.1 The development of a new performance framework is being carried out in the 
following stages:

 Gap analysis – identifying new areas of priority that will require value for 
money performance measures developing (complete)

 Identification of new measures following the gap analysis (draft complete, 
see Appendix 2)

 Development of Service Plans across all teams, aligned to the Corporate 
Plan, to enable planned, scheduled and resourced delivery of the 
Corporate Plan down to individual PEP targets (Dec 2019)

 Performance Sub-Committee to meet and scrutinise the draft Performance 
Framework for 2019-2023 (late Jan 2020). Followed by scrutiny at 
Corporate Select (Feb 2020)

 Relaunch of a new performance framework for 2019-2023 with a suite of 
fully aligned performance measures (March / April 2020)  

8.2 As noted in the list above, work has already commenced on developing a new 
performance framework and the initial outputs in terms of suggested 
performance measures are detailed in Appendix 2. These only focus on the 
identified gaps at this stage and more work will take place through the service 
planning process. Members will be given the opportunity to scrutinise all 
targets in the New Year, through the usual sub-committee approach, prior to 
February’s Corporate Select.

9 Communication and Engagement

9.1 The second strand of this report relates to the proposed process for 
communicating and engaging with a variety of internal and external 
stakeholders on the council’s priorities as set out in the 2019-2023 Corporate 
Plan.

9.2 In developing the communication and engagement plan, the statutory annual 
budget consultation has been considered and a joint approach has been 
agreed in order to streamline and co-ordinate these activities.

Page 12



9.3 The plan, which is attached at Appendix 1, will enable the council to 
communicate its spending priorities and to seek feedback on its aims and 
objectives from a variety of interested groups from employees, to partners, 
residents and businesses. The results will be available to feed back to 
members alongside the new performance framework in February 2020.

                                  

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1: Communication and Engagement Plan for the 2019-2023 
Corporate Plans

Internal Communication and Engagement

Group Content / Method Timing

Managers 
Forum: Heads of 
Service / 
Directors

Understanding the new areas of focus, 
ensuring priorities are owned and 
understood, setting the groundwork for 
a new performance framework

October 10th 2019

COMPLETED

All staff / 
councillors

Publication of the summary plans on the 
intranet with signposting via Keeping You 
Informed 

October 2019

COMPLETED

All staff A series of four in-focus articles looking 
at each of the Plans 4 Aims in detail 
through Team Talk – development of 
service plans.

November 2019 
through to February 
2020

IN PROGRESS

External Communication and Engagement

Group Content / Method Timing

Residents/Community Media release following Full Council 
publicising the adoption of the 2019-
2023 Corporate Plan with high level 
information on its aims and 
objectives  

October 2019

COMPLETED

Residents/Community Online questionnaire on the Council 
Website with media release 
highlighting the consultation

Businesses Online questionnaire in Business 
Newsletter

Voluntary Sector Online questionnaire on the Council 
Website – signposted via link officers

Parish and Town 
Councils

Parish and Town Councils via Clerks 
– signposted by link officers

Strategic Partners Online questionnaire on the Council 
Website – signposted via link officers

Dec 13th 2019 – Jan 
13th 2020

Developed Jointly 
with the annual  
budget 
consultation

Specific stakeholder 
groups (linked to 
equalities impact 
assessment) 

Bespoke consultation and 
engagement linked to specific 
projects / strategies

Throughout the 
Plan’s 4-year rollout 
linked to project 
management

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2: New Performance Measures / Gap Analysis
Corporate 
Aim

Objective How will we measure this

Aim 1 Effective relationship 
with strategic 
partners

This objective will be measured through the specific 
work of each partnership based on its purpose. A 
Partnership Register is being coordinated by Democratic 
and Community Services.  

Aim 1 Effective / Practical 
support of 
community safety 
arrangements / 
CCTV

1. Levels of crime by type (contextual)
2. Levels of Anti social behaviour (ASB) (contextual)
3. Delivery of the Community Safety Partnership Plan: 

100% of actions delivered on time
4. CCTV Monitoring – a suite of PIs from the new 

monitoring system will be developed 
Aim 1
HIGH 
PEAK

Work with our 
partners and the 
community to 
address health 
inequality, food and 
fuel poverty, mental 
health and loneliness

1. BEIS figs (2 years in arrears) % of households in the 
district / borough who are fuel poor (10.8% SMDC 
8.5% at HPBC) Contextual PIs

2. Health indicators in Annual Report
3. New suite of carelink PIs 
4. Foodbank usage  / fuel voucher distribution G52 

Aim 1
HIGH 
PEAK

Improved private 
sector housing 
conditions – THIS IS A 
PRIORITY OUTCOME

1.     The number of complaints received in relation to 
private sector rented accommodation              
conditions

2.     The number of Category 1 hazard properties   
(descriptors of types)

3.     The number of Category 2 hazard properties
4.     Enforcement action undertaken: The number of 

improvement notices served 
5.     Revenue costs of private sector housing function

Aim 2 Effective 
procurement with a 
focus on local 
business

1. % of expressions of interest that come from 
businesses within the local area (to be defined)

2. % of contracts awarded to local suppliers following 
submission of expression of interest

3. Supplier (creditor) spend within the local area (% of 
total)

4. Number of local business training / supplier 
engagement events facilitated 

Aim 2
HIGH 
PEAK

Use innovation, 
technology and 
partnership with 
others to help 
improve the 
efficiency of services, 
improve customer 
satisfaction and 
reduce our impact 
on the environment

1. Number of Onevu (Customer Portal) accounts 
(2019/20 target 22000 at HP and 17000 at SM)

2. % of services available online
3. Socitm user satisfaction measures

Aim 2
HIGH 

Provision of more 
apprenticeships – THIS 
IS A PRIORITY 

1. No. of apprentices by type i.e. higher / trade
2. No. of apprentices completing the apprenticeship

Page 17



Corporate 
Aim

Objective How will we measure this

PEAK OUTCOME 3. No of apprentices retained by the council
4.     % of apprentice levy spent within year

Aim 3 
High Peak

Supporting the 
development of 
innovative green 
jobs and business 
across the High Peak

1. Number of hits on our website ‘improving your 
energy performance’

2. Number of newsletters (subscriber reach) featuring 
funding for green growth

3. B1/B2 floor space delivered      
Aim 3 
High Peak

Working to support 
existing local 
businesses, both 
large and small 
across the High Peak 
as they respond to 
future challenges

1. Number of businesses reached through the monthly 
Business Newsletter

2. Business webpage – number of hits
3. Cost of business support activity 

Aim 4 Meeting the 
challenges of climate 
change

Overarching target is to be carbon neutral by 2030. Suite 
of PIs to be developed as part of the 2030 plan. 

1. Emissions per capita (use national statistics). 

Page 18



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

4 December 2019

Appendices Attached
 Appendix A – 2019/20 – Second Quarter (Provisional Outturn) Financial Report
 Appendix B – 2019/20 – Second Quarter Procurement Report 
 Appendix C – 2019/20 – Second Quarter Performance Report

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s overall 
performance and financial position for the period ended 30th September 
(“Second Quarter 2019/20”)

2. Recommendations

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive: 

 Note the Second Quarter 2019/20 financial, procurement and performance 
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of this 
covering report

3. Executive Summary

3.1 This report summarises the Council’s performance and financial position after 
considering service activity up to the end of the Second Quarter (i.e. 30th 
September 2019). 

3.2 Detailed analysis is provided in Appendix A (Finance), Appendix B 
(Procurement) & Appendix C (Performance).

TITLE: Second Quarter Financial, Procurement & 
Performance Review 2019/20

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Cllr Alan Barrow – Executive Councillor for 
Corporate Services and Finance

CONTACT OFFICERS: Claire Hazeldene - Finance 
Vanessa Higgins - Performance 

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-Specific

Page 19

Agenda Item 5

SMDC%2520-%2520Q4%2520(Prov%2520Out)%252011-12%2520App%2520A%2520(11-07-12).doc
SMDC%2520-%2520Q4%2520(Prov%2520Out)%252011-12%2520App%2520B%2520(11-07-12).doc
SMDC%2520-%2520Q4%2520(Prov%2520Out)%252011-12%2520App%2520C%2520(11-07-12).doc


3.3 The position can be summarised as follows:

Subject Headline Reference
Finance The headlines for the Second Quarter are:

Performance against Budget
 At the Quarter Two stage the General Fund provisional outturn for 

2019/20 is a forecast surplus of £252,870.
Efficiency Programme
 The 2019/20 general fund efficiency target of £714,000 (General 

Fund) has already been exceeded with £900,000 of savings 
achieved to date.  

Housing Revenue Account
 The Housing Revenue Account is forecast at the Quarter 2 stage to 

be in surplus (against budget) by £1,467,100. 
Capital Programme
 The General Fund Capital Programme budget for 2019/20 as 

revised is £7.99 million. The outturn is anticipated to be £1.84 million 
underspent at the Q2 stage.

 The HRA Capital Programme for 2019/20 as revised is £4.41 million.  
At the Quarter 2 stage the outturn is expected to be £2.93 million 
which represents a £1.48 million underspend.

Treasury Management
 Cash investments held at 30th September 2019 totalled £21 million.
 Council borrowing at 30th September 2019 totalled £66.8 million.
 The Council’s net interest general fund budget is forecast to be in 

surplus by £20,500 with a £35,430 surplus on the HRA
Revenue Collection
 56.79% of Council Tax was collected by 30th September 2019, 

compared to 57.10% for the same period last year.
 59.11% of Business Rates was collected by 30th September 2019 

compared with 60.25% for the same period last year.
 At the end of Quarter 2 the value of sundry debt over 60 days old 

was £165,340 which compares to £156,120 at 30th September 2018

Appendix A

Procurement The headlines for the Second Quarter are:
 14 procurement activities were completed 
 At the 30th September 2019, 52% of procurement activity undertaken 

was on the forward plan and the Council paid 96% of its invoices 
within 30 days

Appendix B 

Performance The headlines for the Second Quarter are:
 Targets for 57% of the key performance indicators were met
 Of the 15 Priority Actions within the Corporate Plan, one is awaiting a 

decision, and the remainder being classified as ‘Green’
 The Council received 74 complaints, 143 comments and 61 

compliments in the Second Quarter. Repeat complaints and response 
times both on track 

Appendix C

Page 20



4.      How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 
effective management of performance and financial resources, which is the 
subject of this report.

5.      Options and Analysis

5.1 Detailed analysis is contained within the appendices

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2 Workforce
None

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality 
and Diversity policies.

6.4 Financial Considerations
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report.

6.5 Legal
None

6.6 Sustainability
None

6.7 External Consultation
None

6.8      Risk Assessment
There are a number of risks to the financial position presented, which are 
identified and explained in the financial report attached at Appendix A.

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Various background working papers Buxton Town Hall Claire Hazeldene
01538 395400 Ext. 4191
Vanessa Higgins 
01538 395400 Ext. 4195

6.4

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



1

APPENDIX A

2019/20

Second Quarter 
Financial
Review

Page 23



2

1. Background and Introduction 

1.1. In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and recommended 
good practice, a quarterly financial report is presented to members. This is the 
Second such report for 2019/20.

1.2. The report summarises overall financial performance for 2019/20 with particular 
emphasis on the key sources of financial risk to the Council. Specific 
considerations are as follows:

 General Fund Revenue Account (Section 2) – considers budgetary 
performance on the General Account by looking at variations in income and 
expenditure and the funding received by the Council. 

 Alliance Environmental Services (Section 3) – highlights the performance of 
the Council’s Joint Venture Company providing Waste and Fleet services.

 Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (Section 4) – considers 
progress in achieving the efficiency and rationalisation savings forecast. 

 Housing Revenue Account (Section 5) – highlights the budgetary position in 
respect of the operation of the Council’s housing stock.

 General Fund Capital Programme (Section 6) – provides an update to 
Members on progress against the Council’s General Fund capital plans.

 HRA Capital Programme (Section 7) – provides an update to Members on 
progress against the Council’s HRA capital plans.

 Treasury Management (Section 8) – sets out the key statistics in terms of 
investments and borrowings.

 Revenue Collection (Section 9) – considers progress-to-date in collecting the 
Council Tax, Business Rates and Sundry Debts.

Page 24



3

2. General Fund Revenue Account

2.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the General 
Fund Revenue Account against budget by looking at variations in income and 
expenditure and funding received by the Council.

Service (with staff) 2019/20 
Budget

Expected 
Outturn 
2019/20

Variance

Use of / 
(Contribution 

to) 
Earmarked 
Reserves

 £ £ £ £
Alliance Leadership Team 58,290 58,290 - -
Audit 10,240 8,240 (2,000) -
ICT 581,980 541,980 (40,000) -
Human Resources 72,480 60,480 (12,000) -
Member Services 195,220 190,920 (4,300) -
Property Services 23,050 240,170 217,120 52,000
Benefits (198,470) (206,970) (8,500) 4,000
Planning Applications (470,930) (495,520) (24,590) 1,030
Building Control 38,270 18,270 (20,000) -
Customer Services 141,890 133,890 (8,000)
Legal Services 30,510 30,510 - -
Electoral Services 81,470 166,470 85,000 115,000
Licensing and Land Charges (316,480) (327,920) (11,440) -
Regeneration 112,560 206,450 93,890 52,850
Communities and Cultural 283,030 296,460 13,430 17,430
Housing Strategy 67,930 36,920 (31,010) (23,000)
Transformation 21,250 23,750 2,500 -
Community Safety and Enforcement 118,080 109,580 (8,500) -
Finance Income & Procurement (26,130) (51,880) (25,750) -
Corporate Finance* 6,461,360 6,127,360 (334,000) -
Waste Collection 2,066,860 2,033,600 (33,260) 2,000
Street Scene (33,520) 130 33,650 12,000
Leisure Services 206,200 219,210 13,010 3,820
Horticulture (809,750) (811,490) (1,740) 840
Environmental Health (31,710) (30,710) 1,000 -
     
Net Total of Services 8,683,680 8,578,190 (105,490) 237,970
     
Net Interest 1,569,370 1,548,870 (20,500)
 10,253,050 10,127,060 (125,990)
     
Funding - external (10,248,040) (10,143,500) 104,540
Funding - reserves contribution to/(from) (5,010) (236,430) (231,420)
     
Projected (Surplus)/Deficit - (252,870) (252,870)
    
* Staff budgets are currently budgeted within Corporate Finance (except for the staff budget of the Carelink service within Housing 
Strategy which for operational reasons are included within the Service).

  ** The Council’s Housing management costs are charged to the Housing Revenue Account

2.2. A revenue budget of £10,253,060 was set for 2019/20.  The table above shows 
how this budget has been allocated to services.

Page 25



4

2.3. The Q2 projected outturn on the General Fund Revenue Account for 2019/20 is 
£10,000,180.  This represents a projected underspend for the year of £252,870.

2.4. There are three service areas with a projected significant overspend (>£50,000):

 Property (£217,120 overspend); the running costs of the Council’s buildings 
are expected to be some £165,000 above budget. Exceptional costs of 
£70,000 relate to remedial works undertaken at the leisure sites and Pavilion 
Gardens as part of the commencement of the new contracts with Parkwood 
Leisure. A combination of the Council’s liability for the business rates on 
vacant industrial properties, loss of income on Glossop Arcade units and 
industrial units is resulting in a forecast £30,000 overspend. The Car Parks 
budget is forecast to be some £14,000 overspent owing to a reduction in 
income being generated by Buxton town centre car parks. On top of this a 
£40,000 overspend on general property maintenance is expected as a result 
of the interim Facilities Management arrangements currently in place. Savings 
across a small number of other budgets are slightly offsetting the above 
overspends.  As set out in Section 2.7 below a £52,000 use of earmarked 
reserves has been identified as a further mitigation of the exceptional budget 
pressures on the Borough’s leisure sites.

 Electoral Services (£85,000 overspend); May 2019 saw the Borough’s local 
elections, at a cost of some £140,000.  The Authority budgets to make annual 
contributions into a reserve earmarked to cover these costs.  As set out in 2.7 
below there will be a net £115,000 drawdown on this reserve in 2019/20.  
Other than the impact of the above election, spend of the service against its 
operational Individual Electoral Registration budget is predicted to be in 
surplus by £30,000 owing to Government funding exceeding expected spend.

 Regeneration (£93,890 overspend); A £40,000 deficit on the Markets budget 
is reflecting pressures on the indoor and outdoor markets at Glossop. A 
£52,850 overspend is also predicted as a result of the Borough incurring 
revenue fees facilitating asset sales in advance of what will be capital receipts.  
As set out in 2.7 below there will be a drawdown of £52,850 of earmarked to 
offset this overspend.  

2.5. There is one service with a projected significant underspend (<£50,000).

 Corporate Finance (£334,000 underspend); savings arising out of the 
Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme, ahead of expectation, have given 
rise to an in-year underspend. This is generating a £313,000 annual saving 
and is discussed more fully in section 4 (below). A further £21,000 surplus is 
accruing across a number of other corporate budgets.

2.6. The £20,500 underspend on net interest costs is detailed in section 8. 

2.7. The level of funding anticipated for the year is currently forecast £126,880 above 
that budgeted due to the following:

External Funding (£104,540 reduction):

Business Rates Retention £104,540 net shortfall made up of:
 Additional retention of £288,430:

Page 26



5

o £274,020: After the 100% pilot ended, the 2019/20 budget included a 
conservative estimate of levy payment savings anticipated from the 
Council’s membership of the Derbyshire business rates pool based on 
the previous pool arrangements – this is estimated to be exceeded.

o £14,410: The Business Rates income forecast has reduced since the 
budget was set due to increased Small Business Rate Relief being 
awarded; this has the effect of reducing the ‘levy’ payable on the 
business rates growth. 

 Offset by Reduced retention of £392,970: 
o Section 31 grants due to the authority are anticipated to be lower than at 

budget setting, this relates particularly to Retail discount which was 
estimated on the basis of government criteria for the relief at budget 
setting, but is lower in practice due to State Aid implications. The 
shortfall on the general fund from the reduced grant will be offset over 
time by a larger surplus on the collection fund from the reduced relief 
awarded, which will be distributed in future years.

Use of Reserves £231,420 increase:

At this time, a £231,420 additional net movement out of earmarked reserves is 
predicted, the most significant elements of which are;

 Property Services £52,000 use: this represents the use of funds set aside to 
support remedial works on a number of the Borough’s leisure sites.

 Electoral Services £115,000 use: this is the drawdown to help cover the costs 
of the quadrennial election held in May.  It is the mechanism that spreads the 
cost of the Borough’s elections over the term of a Council.

 Regeneration £52,850 use: New Burdens monies reserved in previous years 
is to be used to fund the in year revenue costs incurred facilitating asset sales.

 Communities and Cultural £17,430 use: New Burdens grant received in 
relation to assets of community value is to be applied to fund survey costs in 
relation to Victoria Hall.

 Housing Strategy £23,000 contribution: Monies received in year to fund 
Homelessness reduction projects are to be earmarked for future use.

 Street Scene £12,000 use: Monies set aside last year to fund a Keep Britain 
Tidy campaign are to be utilised in 2019/20.

Page 27



6

3. Alliance Environmental Services

3.1. Alliance Environmental Services Ltd (AES) is a company created with a vision to 
deliver waste, street cleansing and grounds maintenance services in the High 
Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands areas. The company has three shareholders: 
High Peak Borough Council, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and Ansa, 
which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire East Council. This section of the 
report considers the financial performance of the company and contribution to the 
Council’s Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2019/20.

3.2. Phase 1 of the transfer of services commenced on 7th August 2017 to deliver 
High Peak Borough Council Waste services. This followed the end of the 
previous contract with Veolia Environmental Services.  Phase 2 began on 1st 
July 2018 to deliver waste services to Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
and fleet management services to the Alliance as a whole.

Alliance Environmental Service’s financial performance

3.3. The AES business plan for all services delivered to both Councils included an 
anticipated operating profit of £127,185 in 2019/20. The draft outturn provided at 
the end of the second quarter shows that a profit of £76,652 is anticipated by the 
end of the year; resulting in a shortfall of £50,533 against the budget. The outturn 
includes the forecast risk items payable by the Councils (£423,443); and the 
reimbursement of the planned efficiency target payable by (AES £178,750). 

2019-2020 Budget Draft outturn Variance

£ £ £
Turnover (7,676,264) (7,983,677) (307,413)
Cost of sales 6,873,073 7,194,296 321,223
Gross profit (803,191) (789,381) (13,810)

Administrative & Other 
Expenses 676,006 712,729 36,723

(Profit)/ Loss (127,185) (76,652) 50,533

Impact on the Council’s budgets

3.4. This table shows in more detail the forecast outturn on the AES contract included 
in the General Fund Revenue Account and HRA:

Page 28



7

2019-20 General 
Fund HRA Total

£ £ £
AES Contract budget 2,746,520 103,390 2,849,910
Former vehicle contract hire budget 22,130 - 22,130
Available budget 2,768,650 103,390 2,872,040

Management fee (incl. vehicle premium) 2,824,373 109,804 2,934,177
Forecast in-year risk items 86,589 18,897 105,486
HSE notice of change 27,294 - 27,294
Allocation of AES efficiency (81,624) (3,113) (84,737)
Total management fee payable 2,856,632 125,588 2,982,220
Allocation of Joint Operation Profit (35,002) (1,335) (36,367)
Net total 2,821,630 124,253 2,945,883

Net Variance to budget 52,980 20,863 73,843
Other waste savings (52,980) - (52,980)
Total variance to budget - 20,863 20,863

3.5. In addition to the service budgets for the management fee (contract budget), it 
has been recognised that savings on former contract hire vehicle budgets have 
been achieved as a direct result of the change in vehicle provision upon 
cessation of the SFS contract (the Council’s former provider of contract hire 
vehicles). Therefore, savings of £22,130 have been utilised to support the 
forecast waste vehicle and other fleet ‘risk items’.

3.6. Following the procurement of new waste vehicles, in year savings are being 
forecast relating to the cessation of lease financing costs of hire vehicles. A 
refund against the management fee is anticipated during the year of £55,000. 
The management fee shown in the table above includes this reduction. This is a 
preliminary estimate and will be reviewed at quarter 3.

3.7. The AES Business Plan also includes forecast expenditure recognised initially as 
‘risk items’ which may or may not crystallise into actual costs/ payments or may 
be absorbed into the existing management fee paid on account.  The current 
forecast anticipates that £105,486 (£86,589 general fund, £18,897 HRA) of these 
risk items will crystallise. £67,717 of these risk items relates to fleet costs 
including grounds maintenance equipment which falls under the ‘Fleet’ group. 
The remaining £37,769 relates to contract pressures forecast by AES on 
increasing costs of waste disposal and reducing income on recyclate. These are 
currently forecast by AES on a prudent risk based approach, but the company is 
working to negotiate on prices or offset with savings in other areas. This will be 
reviewed at quarter 3.

3.8. A Health & Safety Executive (HSE) enforcement notice has required a change in 
the operational way in which AES collect bulky items. This was not anticipated at 
the time of budget setting, therefore has resulted in additional costs. These are 
forecast for the year at £27,294, made up of £9,747 for vehicle hire costs and 
£17,547 for agency costs. 

Page 29



8

3.9. The Council’s share of the total AES efficiency to be achieved is £84,737 
(£81,624 general fund, £3,113 HRA). This is repayable to the Council and is 
allocated against the management fee costs.

3.10. Under accounting standards, AES’s financial performance is incorporated in to 
the Councils’ single entity statements as a ‘Joint Operation’ as opposed to 
separate group accounts being reported.  The profit is therefore apportioned 
between the two Councils and the respective services in line with the input of 
original budgeted resources from each department. The Council’s share of the 
forecast profit at the end of quarter 2 is £36,367 (£35,002 general fund, £1,335 
HRA) and is offset against the management fee costs.

3.11. The remaining overspend resulting from crystallised risk items is further offset by 
savings anticipated in the wider waste service of £52,980 not related to AES, 
which relate largely to improved trade waste income.

Efficiencies

3.12. The total 2019/20 efficiency target relating to AES services is £420,640. This is 
made up of the £178,750 allocated to AES for both Councils and £241,890 to be 
achieved from the retained budgets of both Councils. This will be monitored 
during the year taking into account the timing of phase 3 (the transfer of street 
cleansing and grounds maintenance services).

Page 30



9

4. Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme

4.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 
Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2019/20.

4.2. The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan (approved in February 2018) included 
a new four-year (2017/18 – 2020/21) Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 
targeting savings of £2.1 million. This was required to balance the forecast budget 
deficit position of £1.7m and also the carry forward of unachieved efficiencies from 
2016/17 of £0.4m.

4.3. The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy has the effect of both reducing 
expenditure and increasing income. The need to grow income is now more of a 
priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing. The strategy was 
developed with the underlying principles of protecting frontline service delivery. It 
is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable the Council to ensure that its 
service spending is determined by the established priorities set out in the 
Corporate Plan.

4.4. The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy has five areas of focus:

 Major Procurements - The individual projects will focus on Waste Collection & 
Environment Services, Leisure Management and Facilities Management

 Asset Management Plan – continuation of the existing priority of rationalising 
the Council’s asset base with a focus around priorities in order to allow for the 
necessary capital investment

 Growth – development of a clear focus upon housing and economic growth 
based upon the established Local Plan. 

 Income Generation – focus on increasing the yield from existing sources on 
income and a drive towards identifying new sources of income

 Rationalisation – a commitment to reducing expenditure on non-priority areas 
of spend e.g. management arrangements, channel shift, non-statutory services 

4.5. The 2019/20 budget provided for the achievement of £657,000 of new savings in 
year (being £430,000 from the original strategy plus £227,000 of reprofiled 
savings from 2021/22). In addition to this a further £132,000 of savings were 
brought forward as a result of anticipated shortfalls in 2018/19 (assumed as at the 
point the budget was being proposed) – bringing the target to £789,000.  
However, £75,000 of these savings was actually achieved by the end of 2018/19, 
making the savings requirement for 2019/20 a total of £714,000. The major focus 
of the savings programme in 2019/20 being on growth, income generation and 
procurements.

4.6. At the end of Quarter Two, £900,000 has been taken against the overall efficiency 
programme, which includes sizeable savings arising out of the retendering of the 
Council’s contract for insurance services; the AES joint arrangement; the changed 
Pavilion Gardens arrangements; and the procurement of a new leisure 
management contract. The saving from the last of these has been realised 12 
months earlier than anticipated in the original Efficiency Programme (where it was 
expected to be realised in 2020/21). A further £144,000 of growth related savings 
were also delivered at budget-setting time, arising out of New Homes Bonus and 
Business Rates funding forecasts.  

Page 31



10

4.7. Although this gives a healthy look to the 2019/20 savings position and offsets the 
shortfall from 2018/19, there remains a savings target to achieve in 2020/21. It is 
therefore important that the remainder of this year is used to focus on some of the 
income-related savings, included in the early years of the Efficiency Programme, 
which have not been fully realised.

4.8. The Council carries a longstanding reserve earmarked to support the Efficiency 
Strategy which can be drawn on to offset one-off costs of delivering the efficiency 
programme, such as redundancy costs. The reserve currently stands at £200,000. 
It has not been necessary to draw on this reserve in previous years so it remains 
intact to underwrite performance against future savings targets in the Efficiency 
Programme.

Page 32



11

5. Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

5.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 
Housing Revenue Account and highlights the budgetary position in respect of the 
operation of the Council’s housing stock. 

5.2. The 2019/20 Housing Revenue Account budget was originally set to produce a 
surplus of £261,660. The Chief Financial Officer has, in accordance with Financial 
Procedure Rules, authorised the roll forward of £150,000 in unused budgets from 
2018/19 to facilitate delayed capital works to complete a major disabled 
adaptation (£50,000) and to replace the boiler at ALMA Square (£100,000).  
Additionally in August 2019, the Executive approved an increase to the rolling 
three year HRA kitchen programme resulting in a further £171,170 HRA 
contribution to Capital. This brought the 2019/20 budget to a deficit of £59,510.

5.3. Provisional outturn expenditure on the Housing Revenue Account at the second 
quarter stage is £13,646,110 with estimated income of £15,053,700. This 
represents a surplus for the year of £1,407,590 (i.e. £1,467,100 below budget).

Housing Revenue Account

2019-20 
Approved 

Budget
Q2 

Changes
2019-20 
Revised 
Budget

2019-20 
Expected 
Outturn

Variance

£ £ £ £ £
INCOME    
Dwellings Rents (14,325,340) - (14,325,340) (14,337,190) (11,850)
Non - Dwelling Rents Etc (622,090) - (622,090) (716,510) (94,420)
Sub-total income (14,947,430) - (14,947,430) (15,053,700) (106,270)
 EXPENDITURE
Repairs & Maintenance 3,860,920 530,070 4,390,990 4,781,990 391,000
Supervision & Management 3,166,590 (537,840) 2,628,750 2,471,100 (157,650)
Rents, rates, taxes Etc 105,260 7,770 113,030 128,030 15,000
Other Operating Expenditure 736,450 - 736,450 646,200 (90,250)
Depreciation & Impairment 2,099,030 - 2,099,030 2,099,030 -
Interest & Debt Management 2,783,310 - 2,783,310 2,747,880 (35,430)
Contribution to Capital 2,255,380 - 2,255,380 771,880 (1,483,500)
Sub-total expenditure 15,006,940 - 15,006,940 13,646,110 (1,360,830)
 Surplus(-)/Deficit 59,510 - 59,510 (1,407,590) (1,467,100)

5.4. The Council has a duty, in accordance with Part VI (Section 74) of the Local   
Government and Housing Act 1989, to maintain a “Housing Revenue Account” 
(HRA).  By “ring -fencing’ the Housing Revenue Account, the Council ensures that 
the management and maintenance of the Council’s housing stock is funded from 
the income generated by rents and other related sources. The Council is required 
under Part VI (Section 76) to prevent a debit balance each year on the HRA by 
setting the appropriate budget and monitoring progress against that budget 
throughout the financial year. The surplus balance predicted by the Council at this 
second quarter stage will be transferred to reserves within the Housing Revenue 
Account.

5.5. There is just one significant (>£50,000) overspend on the HRA:

 Repairs and Maintenance (£391,000) – There are a number of variances 

Page 33



12

contributing to this overspend; the most significant are as follows:
- A further £338,000 spend is required to continue the scheme that 

commenced in 2018/19 to replace loft insulation within a number of council 
dwellings.  This was intended to be funded from HRA Reserves (i.e. 
utilising part of the underspend achieved in 2018/19), however with 
savings forecast elsewhere within the HRA (i.e. reduction in the amount 
required to be contributed to fund capital expenditure) this will be offset by 
savings generated in 2019/20.

-  Spend within the operational property services budget is expected to be 
higher than anticipated in a number of areas including the purchase of 
tools and materials (£65,000) and the increased use of subcontractors 
(£80,000). These spending pressures are compensated by a number of 
smaller underspends across a mix of budget areas thereby resulting in a 
net overspend of £53,000

5.6. There are four significant (>£50,000) underspends to be noted at this stage.

 Income - Non-Dwelling Rents (94,420) – improvements to void turnarounds 
and increased income from service charges have been responsible for this 
positive variance.

 Supervision and Management (£157,650) – there are numerous small 
underspends across a large number of budget areas contributing to this 
underspend including savings made following the recent insurance tender. 
However, the largest proportion of this variance relates to savings in salary 
costs from vacancies and staff turnover.

 Other Operating Expenditure (£90,250) – this variance is due to the lower 
than expected contribution needed to the bad debts reserve.

 Contribution to Capital (£1,483,500) – This underspend relates to delays in 
commencement and completion of a number of Capital Schemes and is 
reflective of the changes to the Capital programme detailed in Section 7 
below.

Page 34



13

6. General Fund Capital Programme

6.1. This section of the report provides an update on the Council’s General Fund 
Programme.

6.2. The table below shows a high level (service) summary of the General Fund 
Capital Programme position at 30th September 2019. Further detail on a scheme 
by scheme basis is contained in Annex A.

 
2019/20  

Approved 
Budget 

Q2 Changes
2019/20 
Revised  
Budget

Expected 
Outturn 
2019/20

Expected 
Variance 
2019/20

 £ £ £ £ £

Housing 597,000              -   597,000 27,000 (570,000)
Housing Standards 783,550              -   783,550 556,840 (226,710)
Property Services 2,542,180 186,570 2,728,750 2,384,300 (344,450)
ICT 255,800              -   255,800 135,000 (120,800)
Fleet /CCTV 3,052,960              -   3,052,960 2,517,010 (535,950)
Regeneration 382,780              -   382,780 337,780 (45,000)
Horticulture 289,570 (96,570) 193,000 193,000              -   
Total 7,903,840       90,000 7,993,840 6,150,930 (1,842,910)
      
Planning Obligations              -   33,000 33,000       33,000              -   
External Contributions 873,350 (226,710) 646,640 646,640 -
Capital Receipts 979,320       67,770 1,047,090 1,047,090              -   
Capital Receipts(one for one) 597,000 (570,000) 27,000 27,000              -   
Capital Reserves 75,310 424,690 500,000 500,000              -   
Earmarked Reserves              -   64,450 64,450 64,450              -   
Borrowing 5,378,860 296,800 5,675,660 3,832,750 (1,842,910)
Total 7,903,840 90,000 7,993,840 6,150,930 (1,842,910)

6.3. The 2019/20 General Fund Capital Budget as updated and approved by Members 
on 10th October was set at £7,903,840. During the second quarter budget 
increases of £90,000 have been included; resulting in a revised 2019-20 budget of 
£7,993,840

6.4. The changes made to the capital programme in Quarter 2

 Horticulture Whitfield Play Area - Increased budget £90,000 – Members 
through delegated decision on 10th September 2019, approved a project to 
fully refurbish the site with new play equipment for both toddlers and juniors. 
The project is part funded by section 106 monies; application of a Government 
Grant awarded towards play schemes and the current Play provision capital 
budget.

6.5 There are five significant capital programme variances to report:-

 Housing  (£570,000 underspend) -   The use of one for one housing  capital 
receipts is restricted by time limits imposed on when the receipts have to be 

Page 35



14

spent and also on rules regarding eligibility of projects. There is one payment 
expected in this year which meets the criteria which is retention owing of 
£27,000 against an affordable housing project at Thomas Field Brown Edge. 
The Council has funded the project in return for nomination rights.  

 Housing Standards (£226,710 underspend) - the level of Disabled Facilities 
Grant (DFGs) approvals in 2019-20 is expected to be lower than forecast.  
The payment of these mandatory grants is currently  met from funding the 
Borough receives annually through the Better Care Fund; the above  change 
brings the balance of  unallocated funding to £376,929 

 Property (£344,450 underspend) - A number of projects have been re-
profiled into future years and some, including car park resurfacing, have been 
brought forward into the current year following the on-going review and 
prioritisation of works contained within the Asset Management Plan. 

 ICT (£120,800 underspend) – the anticipated underspend is due to a number 
of changes made to requirements for new and upgrades to existing  ICT 
systems.  The underspend will be carried forward into 2020/21 to meet 
commitments which primarily relate to the implementation of a new system to 
aid waste collection processes and the migration of the cash receipting 
system.

 Fleet Management (£535,950 underspend) - following transfer of the waste 
collection service to Alliance Environmental Services (AES), new fleet 
management arrangements are in place, with vehicles now directly purchased 
by the Council. The underspend reflects the revised timing of acquisitions of 
fleet vehicles which will take place over the next four years 

6.6 The significant changes to the funding requirements are set out below:-

 Disabled Facilities Grants – as reported above the spend and consequently the 
application of external contributions is expected to be £226,710 lower than 
budgeted

 Capital receipts reserves and planning obligations have been increased by a 
net £19,910 to reflect the latest anticipated levels of funding available; 

 As a consequence of the above and the revised timing of capital spend, the 
borrowing requirement is anticipated to be £1,842,910 lower than the revised 
borrowing budget.

 

Page 36



15

7.  Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme

7.1. This section of the report provides an update to Members on the Council’s HRA 
capital spending.

7.2. The table below shows a high level summary of the HRA Capital Programme at 
30th September 2019. Further detail on a scheme by scheme basis is contained 
in Annex B.

Scheme
2019-20 

Approved 
Budget

Q2 Changes
2019-20 
Revised 
Budget

2019/20 
Expected 
Outturn

2019/20 
Variance

 £ £ £ £ £

Asset Management Works 3,777,910 - 3,777,910 2,536,910 (1,241,000)
Repairs Team Capital Works 295,000 - 295,000 295,000 -
Commissioning Fees 100,000 - 100,000 100,000 -
Vehicle Purchasing 242,500 - 242,500 0 (242,500)

4,415,410 - 4,415,410 2,931,910 (1,483,500)
Funding:
Major Repairs Reserve 2,099,030 - 2,099,030 2,099,030 -
Capital Receipts Applied 61,000 - 61,000 61,000 -
HRA Contribution 2,255,380 - 2,255,380 771,880 (1,483,500)

4,415,410 - 4,415,410 2,931,910 (1,483,500)
 

7.3. The 2019/20 HRA Capital budget of £4,094,240 was approved by members in 
February 2019 as part of the MTFP.

7.4. The Chief Financial Officer has, in accordance with Financial Procedure Rules, 
authorised the roll forward of £150,000 in unused budgets from 2018/19 to 
facilitate delayed capital works to complete a major disabled adaptation (£50,000) 
and to replace the boiler at Alma Square (£100,000).  Further to this, in August 
2019 the Executive approved an increase to the three year kitchen programme 
budget resulting in an additional £171,170 being added to the 19/20 HRA Capital 
programme. This brings the total HRA Capital Programme to £4,415,410.

7.5. During the second quarter, £1,002,007 has been incurred on HRA Capital 
Schemes principally on central heating boiler replacements, electrical works and 
aids and adaptation schemes.

  
7.6. Much of the HRA spend is scheduled to commence in late autumn, however there 

are four significant capital variance to note at this stage relating to asset 
management works:

 Window Replacement (£600,000) – Although this scheme has been recently 
tendered, there has been little interest in the contract and no responses to the 
tender process.  A further procurement exercise is underway; tenders have 
been returned and are currently being evaluated meaning that the start date 
for this particular project is likely to be much later than expected.  Any 
underspend this year will be re-profiled into 2020/21 and updated within the 

Page 37



16

next Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 Door Replacement (£221,000) – This scheme was also part of the Window 

Replacement tender and has suffered the same delay.  Underspends from this 
year will also be re-profiled into 2020/21 and updated within the Medium Term 
Financial Plan

 Roofing and External Work (£220,000) – The next phase of roofing works 
covering predominantly Glossop and New Mills was due to commence in late 
Autumn, however due to resource pressures, the procurement process has 
been put back until after the winter months. Although some roofing work may 
commence in the spring, weather permitting, the majority of spend has been 
re-profiled into 2020/21 and updated within the next Medium Term Financial 
Plan.

 Vehicle Purchases (£242,500) – This underspend relates to the provision of 
new vehicles for the repairs Team; however the service is currently under 
review and therefore this spend has been re-profiled into 2020/21 and updated 
within the Medium Term Financial Plan.

7.7. Capital funding expected to be applied during 2019/20 is lower than forecast due 
to the variances noted above.

Page 38



17

8. Treasury Management

8.1. This section of the report sets out the key treasury management statistics in 
relation to the Council’s investments and borrowings. This report comprises a high 
level summary as the Audit and Regulatory Committee receives detailed 
operational updates on Treasury Management.

Investments

8.2. Cash Investments held on the 30th September 2019 totalled £21.0 million. The 
average level of funds available for investment up to the end of the quarter totalled 
£17.9 million and £73,740 interest was earned.

8.3. The Council has budgeted to receive £225,260 in investment income in 2019/20. 
A shortfall of £47,000 is anticipated against this budget due to the continuation of 
internal borrowing which reduces the levels of funds available for investment and 
lower interest rates than forecast.

8.4. The loan to the Buxton Crescent Heritage Trust has now been fully drawn to the 
value of £250,000: drawdowns in quarter 1 were £60,000 on 25th April and 
£50,000 on 25th May. Interest is charged at 6% which amounts to £14,360 during 
2019/20. This was not anticipated in the budget, therefore will partially offset the 
interest income shortfall above.

Borrowing

8.5. Outstanding borrowing at 30th September 2019 totalled £66.8 million. The 
Council’s general fund and HRA budgeted to incur £1,794,630 and £1,783,310 
respectively in interest charges and other financing costs in 2019/20. This was 
based on existing external debt and new external debt to fund the borrowing 
requirements arising from general fund capital programmes.

8.6. No ‘new’ borrowing or refinancing activity has occurred by the end of quarter 2, 
therefore the budget is forecast to be £88,570 underspent overall: split £53,140 to 
the general fund and £35,430 to the HRA.

Page 39



18

9. Revenue Collection

9.1. The collection rate outturn for Quarter 2 2019/20 was as follows:

 Council Tax – 56.79% of Council Tax was collected by 30th September 2019, 
compared to 57.10% for the same period last year.

 Business Rates – 59.11% of Business Rates was collected by 30th September 
2019, compared with 60.25% for the same period last year. 1.23% of this year-
on-year shortfall in performance is attributed to variations on payment plans of 
some large hereditaments and are not anticipated to continue to create a 
shortfall by year end. 

 Sundry Debts - The value of sundry debts over 60 days old at the end of 
Quarter 2 was £165,340 which compares with £156,120 at 30th September 
2018.  

Page 40



19

ANNEX A    

                   General Fund Capital Programme Update – 30th September 2019

Scheme
2019/20  

Approved 
Budget 

Q2 
Changes

2019/20 
Revised  
Budget

Expected 
Outturn 
2019/20

Expected 
Variance 
2019/20

 £ £ £ £ £

Housing & Housing Standards      
Affordable Housing Project 597,000             -   597,000 27,000 (570,000)
Disabled Facilities Grants 715,820             -   715,820 489,110 (226,710)
Landlord Accreditation Grant Scheme 67,730             -   67,730 67,730              -   
 1,380,550             -   1,380,550 583,840 (796,710)
Property Services      
Asset Management Programme 2,542,180 186,570 2,728,750 2,384,300 (344,450)
 2,542,180 186,570 2,728,750 2,384,300 (344,450)
ICT 255,800             -   255,800 135,000 (120,800)
 255,800             -   255,800 135,000 (120,800)
Fleet Management      
Vehicle Acquisition  3,002,960             -   3,002,960 2,467,010 (535,950)
CCTV       50,000             -   50,000 50,000              -   
  3,052,960             -    3,052,960  2,517,010 (535,950)
Regeneration      
Heritage Regeneration Grants 45,000             -   45,000             -   (45,000)
Buxton Crescent & Spa 337,780             -   337,780 337,780              -   
 382,780             -   382,780 337,780 (45,000)
Horticulture      
Glossop Cemetery Extension 186,570 (186,570)             -               -                -   
Play Facilities 103,000 90,000 193,000 193,000              -   
 289,570     (96,570) 193,000 193,000              -   
      
Total General Fund 7,903,840       90,000 7,993,840 6,150,930 (1,842,910)

Page 41



20

ANNEX B

Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme Update - 30th September 2019

Scheme

Approved 
Budget 
2019/20

Q2 
Changes

2019/20 
Revised 
Budget

2019/20 
Expected 
Outturn 

Over / 
(Under) 
Spend

ASSET MANAGEMENT WORKS: £ £ £ £ £
Roofing & External Works 495,000 - 495,000 75,000 (420,000)
Kitchens 554,170 - 554,170 554,170 -
Bathrooms 266,000 - 266,000 266,000 -
Central Heating 276,500 - 276,500 276,500 -
Electrical Works 424,000 - 424,000 424,000 -
Aids & Adaptations 295,000 - 295,000 305,500 10,500
Aids & Adaptations (Sherwood Road) 50,000 - 50,000 50,000 -
Aids & Adaptations (Lyne Avenue) 36,240 - 36,240 36,240 -
Structural Works (Various) 150,000 116,000 266,000 261,500 (4,500)
Lift Replacements 100,000 - 100,000 100,000 -
ALMA Square – Boiler Replacement 100,000 - 100,000 94,000 (6,000)
Works to Communal Areas 150,000 (116,000) 34,000 34,000 -
Window Replacement Programme 660,000 - 660,000 60,000 (600,000)
Door Replacement Programme 221,000 - 221,000 - (221,000)
 3,777,910 - 3,777,910 2,536,910 (1,241,000)
REPAIRS TEAM CAPITAL WORKS
Void Rewires 35,000 35,000 70,000 70,000 -
Void Kitchens  200,000 (45,000) 155,000 155,000 -
Void Bathrooms  60,000 10,000 70,000 70,000 -
 295,000 - 295,000 295,000 -
STAFFING & PROFESSIONAL FEES
Staffing Recharges/ Commissioning Costs 100,000 - 100,000 100,000 -
 100,000 - 100,000 100,000 -
VEHICLE PURCHASING
Vehicle Purchases 242,500 - 242,500 - (242,500)
 242,500 - 242,500 - (242,500)
 
TOTAL SPEND 4,415,410 - 4,415,410 2,931,910 (1,483,500)

Page 42



APPENDIX B

2019/20

    Second Quarter
    Procurement 

    Review

Page 43



1. Introduction

1.1 A key element of the financial savings included in the Council’s Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy is being met from Procurement activity which was 
approved by Full Council n February 2017. 

1.2 The strategy was developed to ensure that its objectives link closely with the 
Council’s overall strategic vision and aims and objectives.  The key actions in in 
the strategy included:-

 Delivery of cashable efficiency savings to support the Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy by tendering, retendering and renegotiating of 
contracts.

 Development and embedding a professional procurement unit of excellence 
to deliver on going efficiency savings for the Councils

 Revising Procurement Procedure Rules to support transparency, timeliness 
of contract award and greater control – these have now been updated

 Expanding the usage of electronic procurement systems for works as 
appropriate

 Increasing the levels of spend covered by the contract
 Implementation of e-tendering
 Supporting the local economy by increasing the number of procurement 

opportunities advertised and adoption of a local business concordat

1.4 The Procurement Strategy is now due for updating and is scheduled for 
presentation during 2019/20. 

Page 44



2. Second Quarter Completed Procurements

2.1 The activity supported by the procurement function for the Second quarter July 
2019 to September 2019 is summarised below:

Second Quarter  
High Value 

(> £181,000)

Low Value

 (< £181,000)
Total

HPBC Only - 10 10
JOINT (HP/SM) 1 3 4
TOTAL 1 13 14

2.2 Annex A provides details of the 14 procurement exercises completed during 
Quarter two.  

2.3 Procurement savings will continue to be monitored throughout the year and any 
savings identified will be offset against the efficiency programme.  

 

Page 45



3. 2019/20 Procurement Forward Plan 

3.1 The table below details the number of exercises which fall into either low or high 
value (profiled over full contract term) scheduled for either completion or starting 
in 2019/20.

2019/20
Activity

High Value 
(> £181,000k)

 Low Value
 (< £181,000k) Total

HPBC 14 54 68
JOINT (HP/SM) 6 42 48
TOTAL 20 96 116

In addition to the above, there are 62 listed entries brought forward from previous 
years (for review and completion for both HPBC and SMDC combined). 

3.2 Some of the more significant ‘high level’ procurement activity that is scheduled for 
delivery in 2019/20 includes:-

 CCTV Equipment, Maintenance and Monitoring Arrangements
 Construction Materials Supplies – Direct Services
 HRA Capital Works: Windows & Doors, Central Heating, Roofing, Bathroom 

programmes 
 Banking Services Contract (currently under a value for money review)
 IT Desktop Support Contract

Page 46



4. Procurement Performance

4.1 This section reports on the Council performance in terms of procurement activity 
and the payment of suppliers.

4.2 Performance for the second quarter is highlighted below:-

Performance Indicator Target Performance at 
30th Sept 2019

% of Alliance Procurement 
Activity on Forward Plan 72% 52%

Annual contract spend as % 
of gross expenditure budget

85% 83%

% of invoices paid within 30 
days 96% 96%

Performance Indicators – targets off track

4.3 % of Alliance Procurement Activity on Forward Plan
There have been a number of single source exemptions to complete reactive or 
urgent works / services during Q2, which could not have been included  on the 
procurement forward plan at the last service reviews.  During Q3 scheduled 
reviews will be undertaken with services to monitor current planned activity and 
future requirements (including 20/21 and 21/22).  The forward plan will also be 
reviewed by Finance Business Partners after service reviews are completed.

4.4 Annual contract spend as % of gross expenditure budget
The Procurement team have been working closely with Direct Services to capture 
current sub contracting activity to work towards formalising contract arrangements 
for these larger spend areas. 
A current programme of Electrical and Joinery (including Glazing) framework 
contracts have been let and will result in higher on contract spend activity in Q3 as 
the contracts start.  The Procurement Team will continue to support services to 
formalise their contracting arrangements with external market, during the 
remainder of 19/20 to achieve target.

Page 47



ANNEX A
Second Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – HPBC

Contract Title Brief contract 
description

Recurring 
or One Off 

Service Area Procedure Award Detail Term / 
Duration

 Total 
Contract 
Value £    

Earth River Bank 
Reinstatement and 
Wall repair –
84/86 Buxton Rd 
Whaley Bridge

Repair required to 
retaining wall and 
riverbank at Buxton Road 
Whaley Bridge

One Off
(Works)

Assets Open 
Tender

Derbyshire 
Geotechnical 
Ltd

12 wks 123,649

External 
Professional - 
Planning

Advocacy and Advice on 
Planning Appeal site

One Off Legal RFQ Kings 
Chambers 
Giles Cannock 
QC

n/a 29,600

10 Meadow Lane 
Structural Works

Structural and Associated 
works to Council property 

One Off 
(Works)

Assets Open 
Tender

Roy Wright & 
Co Ltd

6 - 8 
wks

26,054

Empty Homes 
Review – External 
Consultancy

Support to maximise new 
homes bonus funding by 
completing a full review 
of every single long term 
empty property

One Off Finance Framework Liberata Uk 
Ltd T/A 
Capacity Grid

2 yrs 25,000

Replacement Lift 
Installation [Council 
Property]

Replacement of obsolete 
lift in domestic Council 
property – Aid / 
Adaptation

One Off
(supply / 
install)

Assets Single 
Source

OTIS Ltd n/a 19,289

Supply of Christmas 
Trees

Purchase of Christmas 
Trees for town centres

One Off
(Supply)

Operational 
Services - 
Grounds

Contract 
variation

Joseph 
Noblett

n/a 
(supply)

17,984

Rural Crime 
Prevention

Smart Water security 
packs

One Off Communities Single 
Source

Smart Water 
Technologies

n/a
(supply)

13,994

New furniture at 
Cromford Court

Purchase of furniture at 
Cromford Court, Whaley 
Bridge for Communal 
area

One Off
(Supply)

Housing 
Tenancy 
Services

RFQ Care Chair n/a 
(supply)

8,298

Grave Digging 
Services HPBC 
(Interim 19/20)

Provision of Grave 
digging services for High 
Peak – Interim contract 
arrangement

Recurring Operational 
Services - 
Grounds

RFQ Berresford 
Contracting 
Ltd

3 
months

3,500

Chapel-en-le-Frith 
Business Park  
Masterplan update 
2019

External Consultancy One Off Regeneration N/A Exercise Suspended

Page 48



Second Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – JOINT (HPBC & SMDC)

Contract Title Brief contract description Recurring 
or One Off 

Service Area Procedure Award 
Detail 

Term 
(years)

 Total 
Contract 
Value £

Public Realm 
CCTV Upgrades 
and 
Maintenance 
Contract

Combined contract for 
upgrades to Control Room 
Equipment and 
infrastructure, Includes 
support and maintenance  
element for HP and SM.  

Recurring Communities OPEN Tender 
(OJEU 
Supplies / 
Services)

OpenView 
Security 
Solutions 
Ltd

5 yrs 389,782

SMDC = 
257,603

HPBC = 
132,179

Playground 
Equipment 
Spare and 
replacement 
parts 
requirements

Supply of spare equipment 
and replacement items to 
repair any damages at 
various playgrounds across 
HP and SM areas

Recurring Operational 
Services – 
Leisure 

Open Tender GB Sport & 
Leisure

1 
(+2yrs)

21,000
(est. 50% 

per 
Authority)

Intranet Housing 
and Licence 
Support 

Current intranet system 
ongoing hosting and support 
services (contract novated)

Recurring Transformation Single Source Upbeat 3 5,105
(50% per 
Authority)

DCP Online 
Subscription 
Renewal

Access to development 
control manual, to ensure 
high quality development 
control decisions

Recurring Development 
Control

n/a – 
subscription 
to online 
legislation

DCP 
Online 
Renewals

1 3,525
(50% per 
Authority)

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



High Peak Performance and Customer Feedback Report: April to September 2019 (Q2)

P
age 51



57%
43%

On Track Off Track
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%                       

29%

52%

19%

Better Weaker No Change
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%         

High Peak Q2 Summary 

The following report provides Councillors with an overview of performance at High Peak for the period April to September 2019 in relation to 
the Council’s corporate plan priorities and the associated performance targets and projects (NB the revised Corporate Plan is now in place and 
will be reflected in the performance framework from Q3). The report also provides an overview of the results from the Council’s customer 
feedback system in terms of how we handle and learn from complaints, and the level of comments and compliments.      

Performance Overview 

There are 121 ‘monthly’, ‘quarterly’ and ‘annual only’ reported performance measures at High Peak (10 less than last year). The chart below 
shows the results for the first half of the year and reveals an 8% dip on Q2 compared to September 2018. The actions being taken to address 
the ‘off track’ measures are detailed at the end of this report.

The report also provides an update on the progress of key projects that contribute to the priority actions outlined in the previous Corporate 
Plan. The table below right explains the colour coding used to describe the current status of these actions / projects. 

  

Customer Feedback Overview 

The number of complaints received during the first half of 2019/20 is 38% lower than this point last year, with just 74 complaints. Both repeat 
complaints and responding to complaints are on track. This report includes further details of the lessons learned from complaints and any 
repeat issues.     

    

Off Track

In danger of going off Track

On Track

Not yet started / decision 
awaited

Complete / Closed

P
age 52



On Track Off Track
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

HP Aim 1: September Results 
2019/20

Better Weaker No Change
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

HP Aim 1 : September 
Trends 2019/20

Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our residents to live and work 

High Peak has more measures ‘off track’ than ‘on track’ under this Aim. The number of households in temporary accommodation is 25 
compared to a target of 15; however, the use of this type of accommodation is supporting the council’s approach to preventing homelessness 
with 97% of cases resolved.            

Celebrating Success: 

At the end of September 2019 the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:

 homelessness prevention

P
age 53



Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Priority Action Status Commentary – September
Continue to influence the provision 
of accessible health and social care 
services through the Council’s 
Scrutiny work programme 

The Community Select Committee met on 19th June and members received a general overview of 
scrutiny. No further updates at present.

 Implement the Council’s new sport 
and physical activity strategy and 
carry out research into nil cost 
facility provision being achieved by 
other councils; in order to achieve 
improved health and value for 
money outcomes   
 

A meeting occurred with Sport England in early September at which our future plans were 
discussed. They have confirmed they will support us to develop a consultancy brief to help us 
identify plans for the future of key facilities. Further meetings are being scheduled for October to 
include a tour of our sites and a meeting with key colleagues across relevant service areas.

Complete the review of the CCTV 
system and implement the agreed 
recommendations

Contracts have been awarded; the next stage is to obtain a timeline for the works from our 
successful bidder.

P
age 54



On Track Off Track
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

HP Aim 2: September Results 
2019/20

Better Weaker No Change
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

HP Aim 2: September 
Trends 2019/20

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money

High Peak has dropped by 4% this month (one PI) and now has 11 ‘off track’ measures, largely due to housing stock related PIs (rent loss, job 
rates, repairs, re-let times) but also channel shift interactions, levels of sickness absence and sundry debt. 

   

Celebrating Success:    

At the end of September 2019 the following PIs outstripped their target:

 twitter and Facebook followers
 complaint handling and repeat issues
 internal audit recommendations implemented
 IT systems and network availability

 

P
age 55



Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Priority Action Status Commentary – September
Deliver the Channel 
Shift Programme

The Digital Strategy is currently under review. We are awaiting a new contact at SOCITM 
E billing: Civica OPEN Access extended whilst ongoing work is taking place with IEG4. A meeting took place in 
August and work is ongoing.
IEG4 portal- project board to be resurrected. Process review to be carried out re Revs & Bens.
Environmental reporting app- this was looked at as part of the CGI review. To be included in the new digital 
programme going forward, work to be prioritized. 

Provide advice and 
support for 
residents affected 
by the rollout of 
Universal Credit  

Phase 2: Universal Credit roll out (rents).

A project stream is being established to look at local Council tax reduction processes and the options for this 
going forward. A forecasting tool to analyse and cost out a banded scheme has been purchased and 
modelling for a suitable scheme is currently underway.

Continue to embed 
good information 
management 
practices through 
the ASSURED 
framework

The GDPR action plan, which now includes the recent audit actions, is on track. Progress is monitored 
through the Information Governance Group. 
The online GDPR training package has been rolled out across the organisation, further in depth training will 
be arranged for relevant staff. 
Information Asset Registers have been reviewed and re-issued to Managers to outline gaps and 
inconsistencies, along with a Managers checklist formulated by the DPO.  A programme of challenge 
sessions have been compiled and will commence in October where managers will be invited to attend 
Information Governance Group to review their registers. 
Work is ongoing with suppliers to ensure adequate GDPR clauses are in place.

Develop and 
implement a plan to 
identify new and 
innovative ways of 
generating income

Fees and charges- Next review for 2019/20 budget setting/MTFP. Cash up against efficiency target to be 
undertaken during 2019/20.
Advertising/Sponsorship - A new policy is to be written and adopted. The project team has been identified; 
the first meeting took place In Sept 2019. 
Annual Council Tax review to inform New Homes Bonus allocation is ongoing, with letters sent to empty 
property owners and property inspections pending. Initial feedback from period 2-31.8.19; 50% return rate, 
with 65 HP occupied properties identified.  After this exercise, a questionnaire survey shall be sent to empty 
property owners starting with High Peak. Analysis of responses will identify why properties remain empty 
and what action/ assistance would help to effectively bring properties back into use.

P
age 56



Priority Action Status Commentary – September

Refresh and 
implement the 
Asset Management 
Plan, including a 
review of public 
estate, and ensure 
adequate facilities 
management 
arrangements are in 
place

Facilities Management: An agreement to extend has been made with DCC with 3 months notice. The Asset 
Management Plan is pending the implementation of the new Asset Management system. Head of Assets is 
producing a report for the Executive Director and is working through a business case as the next stage.

P
age 57



On Track Off Track
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%
HP Aim 3: September Results 

2019/20 

Better Weaker No Change
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%
HP Aim 3: September Trends 2019/20

Aim 3: Support economic development and regeneration 

The Council has a perfect record on planning processing targets with all targets currently on track. The two ‘off track’ measures relate to the 
Pavilion Gardens complex with both footfall and Trip Advisor satisfaction ratings below target.           

Celebrating Success:    

At the end of September 2019 the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:

 Major, Minor and other planning applications processed on time
 Major and minor developments allowed on appeal

P
age 58



Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Priority Action Status Commentary - September
Together with partners work 
for the delivery of the Buxton 
Crescent development

The project Board has now been established and projects prioritised. The invitation to tender for 
the development branding toolkit for Buxton is now complete. This will see the development of a 
creative brand, logo and strap line reflecting the vision set out in the Buxton Visitor Economy 
Strategy. The property will be handed over to the Crescent Trust once completed- the lease has 
been drafted. Consultants have been appointed to deliver the branding toolkit. A stakeholder 
workshop began in August- awaiting update.

Support the development of 
Glossop Halls

Completion of the Town Hall roof has been delayed - this is being challenged by the project team. 
The latest completion date is November 2019. The clock has been fixed and was working but has 
stopped whilst a new power cable is being installed to replace the temporary supply.
The use of Victoria Hall continues with the friends of Victoria Hall successfully supporting the first 
performance there.
Next phase is the Market Hall Roof, a meeting was held at the end of September with Councillors.
  

Implement the accelerated 
housing delivery programme

Discussions with all relevant land owners and developers as well as DCC and Homes England are 
on-going: 
Glossop package: Glossop and Gamesley OPE funding confirmed. The project board has been set 
up.
Buxton package: Conditions of the HIF grant offer are being considered by legal. A report is being 
prepared recommending a re-grant of the Golf Club lease. The first stage of the consultation on 
the roundabout has now closed; a feedback report is being prepared by DCC. A focus meeting will 
be required for the roundabout.
Granby Road- Report prepared recommending disposal of Granby Road A for consideration in 
October. First draft of soft marketing test received and is being considered. A proposed disposal 
plan is being prepared including timescales, phases, costs and additional resources required. 

P
age 59



Priority Action Status Commentary - September
HP - Implement the 
accelerated business growth 
and employment programme

Wrens Nest: The temporary hold on property expansion placed by Kingspan has now been lifted 
and they are now ready to resume negotiations. The optimum scheme on the remainder of the 
Wrens nest site is being costed before a proposal is put to the Borough Council. The company 
have confirmed their continued willingness to engage with agents representing neighbouring 
residential schemes to consider enabling access to these sites as part of their scheme. 

Goyt Bridge: S106 expires March 2019. A report will be written regarding the transfer of land, the 
project will then be closed.
 
Chapel Masterplan: A meeting will be held at the beginning of October with Derbyshire Police and 
Fire Service to consider potential use of the site as part of delivering a wider scheme for a High 
Peak northern hub Police Station 

Buxton Station:  Planning applications for the health hub and McCarthy & Stone development 
have been approved. Project managers have been appointed via the OPE process. DCHS is 
awaiting the outcome of the bid to STP programme.

P
age 60



On Track Off Track
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

HP Aim 4: September Results 
2019/20 

Better Weaker No Change
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

HP Aim 4 : September Trends 
2019/20

Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment

Aim four is a high performing area for the council with instances of fly tipping the only ‘off track’ measure. High Peak’s residual waste tonnage 
estimates have been challenged with the County Council and are expected to be lower than currently recorded in time for Q3 and have 
therefore been marked as on track on this occasion.  

 

   

Celebrating Success:    

At the end of September 2019 the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:

 
 % household waste sent for recycling (estimated)
 missed bins

 

P
age 61



Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Priority Action Status Commentary – September
Successfully deliver Phase 3 of the 
transfer of services to Alliance 
Environmental Services Ltd, our new joint 
venture company, to deliver waste, 
streets and ground maintenance services 
on behalf of the Council in order to 
achieve improved performance and value 
for money outcomes.

Phase 3 (streets and ground maintenance) go live date is still to be confirmed but is 
expected to be Spring 2020. An internal AES project board meeting took place at the 
end of September.

Establish a developer open space 
contributions plan

 

An Open Space Audit and Playing Pitch Strategy have been completed and forms part 
of a wider Developer Contributions SPD (Supplementary Planning Document). The 
intention is to contract this work out to a consultant and the draft specification is now 
being developed. The tender will be advertised in January 2019 with a view to an 
appointment being made in February. Following consultation, the SPD should be 
adopted by the end of 2019.

Commence the preparatory work needed 
to facilitate the expansion of Glossop 
Cemetery in 2019/20

Actions and outputs for the next stage: Redesign the whole of the area to assess if it 
would financially be more economical to install drainage to the whole site to future 
proof it for future development. This may need a deep drainage system as well as a 
water treatment plant.

P
age 62



P
age 63



P
age 64



Areas for Improvement: September 2019 

Measure of Success (PI) Aim / Objective Service Lead Target 
2019/20

Result 
September 

2019  

Service Manager Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve)

Assistant Chief 
Executive

Time taken to process new 
housing benefit claims

18 days 21.79 days

Time taken to process 
change of circumstances

7 days 15.38 days

New Claims: Performance has significantly 
improved over the last 2 months.  A reviewed 
triage system was introduced mid-September to 
ensure this trend continues. HP has a number of 
complex supported housing cases which can cause 
issues in terms of timely production of information 
from applicants

Change of Circs: Automation software that has 
been introduced coupled with a reduction in staff 
absences will enable the off track figures to reduce

Number of household in 
temporary accommodation

Aim 1: Fit for purpose 
housing stock that meets 

the needs of tenants

15 25 The temporary accommodation figures are off 
target however this is supporting our performance 
in preventing/relieving homelessness which is 
currently running at 97.3% of cases being resolved 
prior to main duty stage being reached.

a) Number of RTB 
transactions (applications) 
& b) % completed within 

statutory timescales (RTB2)

Aim 1: Fit for purpose 
housing stock that meets 

the needs of tenants

Head of Legal and 
Elections

100% a)31 b) 
97%

30 out of 31 applications processed within 
timescales

P
age 65



Measure of Success (PI) Aim / Objective Service Lead Target 
2019/20

Result 
September 

2019  

Service Manager Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve)

Average time from request 
to repair (DLO)

Aim 2: More effective use 
of Council assets

Head of Direct 
Services

13 days 14.33 days This PI is slightly weaker than last month with a 
continuing trend of large numbers of P4 jobs. Over 
42% of all jobs completed during September had 
an average completion time of 28 days. The 
average time to complete all jobs is below target, 
e.g.; P1 jobs - Target 1 day vs Actual 0.12 days; P2 
Jobs - Target 7 days vs Actual 3.15 days. It is 
expected that this PI will improve slightly over the 
coming months.

NEW: Average number of 
jobs completed per 
operative per day

Head of Direct 
Services

4.7 4.52 This Pi is slightly weaker that last month due to a 
larger proportion of jobs taking longer to complete 
e.g. P4 jobs which can take up to 1 or 2 days to 
complete vs P1 & P2 jobs which tend to be 
completed in less than 4 hours.

Rent collected

Aim 2: More effective use 
of Council assets

Head of Finance 98.5% 94.31% The September PI indicator reflects 
underperformance of 0.48% against last year; 
however, we remain confident that we can meet 
the year end target.  We are continuing to monitor 
performance, which is difficult with the DWP 
payment schedule (relating to UC claimants with 
managed payments).  We are currently reviewing 
the DWP schedules and trying to ascertain how 
many week in arrears the managed payments are, 
which then distort the figures.  We are also trying 
to understand any impact that monthly payers 
have on the performance calculation.

P
age 66



Measure of Success (PI) Aim / Objective Service Lead Target 
2019/20

Result 
September 

2019  

Service Manager Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve)

% Rent loss due to vacant 
stock

Assistant Chief 
Executive

0.86% 0.89% Current Rent loss due to vacant stock - 
£166,059.27
£122,990.08 of this figure is for properties in 
Marian Ct and  Church View
£20,782.08 of this figure is for Padfield Main Road 
which has been re-let of 2.10.19

Average time taken to re-let 
Council homes

Assistant Chief 
Executive

25 days 30.2 days The average turnaround time for a minor void 
excluding hard to let is 8.5 days. The off track 
margin has reduced by 1.5 days in a month. This 
month we relet a major void at 91 days.  This 
property required adaptations for the new tenant 
who uses a wheelchair.  The adaptations include 
widening doors, ramps, new kitchen and rewire.  
We also let a bedsit over target at 28 days.  All 
other voids let this month were under target.  

FOI requests:% responded 
to within statutory time 

frame 

Head of Legal and 
Elections

95% 80.76% We are reviewing response times with service 
areas. We will also be reminding Managers of their 
responsibility to meet the guidelines around FOI 
response times.

No. / % of interactions: a) 
phone b) face to face c) web

Aim 2: Easily available 
services provided right 

first time

Assistant Chief 
Executive

a)37% b)23%             
c)40%

a)  40%
b)  25%
c)  35%

Additional online forms introduced to allow 
customers to self serve. Overall contact to the 
council has reduced by a further 10% as we get it 
right first time and reduce the avoidable contacts.

P
age 67



Measure of Success (PI) Aim / Objective Service Lead Target 
2019/20

Result 
September 

2019  

Service Manager Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve)

Use of contracts register: 
annual contract spend as a 

% of gross expenditure 
budget 

2% 
improvement 

to 2018/19

83% A number of on-contract agreements ceased by 
HPBC as the contracting Authority in Qtr. 1 which 
had been previously included as on contract 
expenditure.  The Pavilion Gardens outsourcing 
has resulted in a reduction of large expenditure 
measured against on contract arrangements.  The 
forward plan details a pipeline of activity to 
address the current category areas identified as off 
contract arrangements which will be reviewed 
during 19/20. 

Collection rates: Sundry 
Debt (value of SD over 60 

days)

Aim 2: Effective use of 
financial and other 

resources to ensure value 
for money

Head of Finance 

5% reduction 5.84% 
increase on 

Q2 18-19

Invoice for almost £12,000 outstanding yet to be 
paid by Veolia.  Payment is in process & should be 
received by us within the next week

Ave days sickness per FTE 
(include short & long term 

absence per FTE)

Aim 2: 
A high performing and 

well motivated workforce

Head of OD & 
Transformation

9 days 5.67 days Ave days sickness per FTE: 

Short term 1.30 days / long term 4.37 days. 

There have been 21 cases of long term sickness 
this year equating to 1019 FTE days. 592 of these 
days relate to direct services operational staff.  
Out of the 21 cases, 5 are still ongoing and are 
being managed in line with the long term sickness 
procedure.

Pavilion Gardens : Trip 
Advisor rating (% 
good/excellent)

Aim 3: 
Flourishing town centres 

that support the local 
economy

Head of Service 
Commissioning

93.75% 88.66% 27 reviews were made in July and 25 reviews in 
August. September results have not yet been 
received from our contractor and so the result is 
estimated. Reports from Parkwood suggest visitors 
are moving to other forms of social media to 
record reviews. Of the 97 reviews received to date 
in 2019-20, only 3 were rated poor or terrible (3% 
of reviews received).

P
age 68



Measure of Success (PI) Aim / Objective Service Lead Target 
2019/20

Result 
September 

2019  

Service Manager Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve)

Pavilion Gardens: footfall Aim 3: 
Flourishing town centres 

that support the local 
economy

Head of Service 
Commissioning

Q2 220,000 193,689 Footfall in September has not yet been provided 
by our contractor so the result is estimated. July 
and August footfall was 48,685 lower than for the 
same period last year. Unfortunately the weather 
this summer will have affected footfall when 
comparing to the heatwave of 2018. Parkwood 
have instigated new indoor offers to help mitigate 
footfall losses and will continue to explore these 
over winter months also.

Number of fly tipping 
incidents collected by the 
Council (exc sec 46 waste) 

Aim 4: Provision of high 
quality public amenities, 

clean streets and 
environmental health 

Head of Service 
Commissioning

199 120 32 instances of fly tipping were cleared this month.

Joint Alliance Measures

% of Procurement activity 
on forward plan (Joint 

Alliance Measure)

Aim 2: Effective use of 
financial and other 

resources to ensure value 
for money

Head of Finance 72% 52% There have been a number of single source 
exemptions to complete reactive or urgent works / 
services during Q2, which could not be included on 
the procurement forward plan at the last service 
review.  During Q3, scheduled reviews will be 
undertaken with Services to monitor current 
planned activity and future requirements 
(including 20/21 and 21/22).  The forward plan will 
also be reviewed by Finance Business Partners 
after Service reviews are completed.

 

 For a full list of all performance measures and the Q2 results please visit the Performance Management page on the Intranet or click on this link

P
age 69

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/high_peak_q2_2019-20.pdf
https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/high_peak_q2_2019-20.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

4 December 2019

Appendices Attached:
Appendix A - Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 to 2023/24

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 This report presents the Council’s updated Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP). The MTFP presents the Council’s priorities in the context of the likely 
resources available, providing a financial context to future decision-making.

2. Recommendations

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive approves the Medium Term Financial 
Plan as attached at Appendix A.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The medium term financial planning process provides the Council with the 
opportunity to plan its delivery of public services in accordance with local 
priorities.

3.2 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is updated in accordance with the 
budget cycle. This version of the MTFP presents the Council’s finances over a 
four-year period, namely 2020/21 to 2023/24. It sets the context for the 
preparation of the 2020/21 budget which will be presented for approval by the 
Council in February 2020.  

3.3 The plan provides: 
 Details of local spending influences in the context of the new Corporate 

Plan 

TITLE: Updated Medium Term Financial Plan 
2020/21 to 2023/24

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Cllr Alan Barrow – Executive Councillor for 
Corporate Services & Finance

CONTACT OFFICERS: Claire Hazeldene – Deputy Director &Head of 
Finance
Keith Pointon – Principal Finance Officer 
(Financial Planning)

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-Specific

Page 71

Agenda Item 6



 A focus on the transformation programme and the consequential financial 
implications, including the capital programme, housing revenue account 
(HRA) and efficiency & rationalisation plan 

 Updated inflation and interest assumptions using the latest forecasts and 
the impact of any budgetary demand

 Updated income assumptions based on latest information
 An update on any national issues that will impact on the Council’s financial 

position

3.3 The previous version of the MTFP was agreed by the Council in February 
2019 when setting the budget for the current financial year. The Plan identified 
a surplus position of £253,390 by the end of 2022/23.  An assumed overall 
contribution of £479,150 into reserves was made over the life of the MTFP.

3.4 The overall financial assumptions have been updated and a new financial year 
(2023/24) has now been added to the plan, which forecasts a surplus of 
£214,240 by 2023/24. Taking this into account as well as the projected 
2019/20 surplus position as forecast in the Quarter Two report – this would 
result in an overall contribution to reserves over the life of the plan of 
£841,690.

3.5 The improved position is primarily due to assumptions around new homes 
bonus and business rates income.

3.6 However, this is subject to completion of the current efficiency programme 
(2020/21 being the final year of the programme) and any changes to financial 
assumptions going forward. Current progression against the Efficiency 
programme is positive with the 2019/20 target exceeded due to significant 
savings achieved from the Leisure Contract, Pavilion Gardens concession and 
Insurance Contract. A review of the remaining efficiency programme will take 
place in preparation for the MTFP to be presented in February.

3.7 Whilst this is a financially sound position, there are a number of risks to this.  
Further work is taking place to more accurately understand costings; for 
example, around capital programme projects and understanding the increased 
budget requirement in regard to the provision of facilities management.  In 
addition, a review of income forecasts around business rates retention income 
– which is extremely volatile - and progress against the land disposal strategy 
and realisation of capital receipts which potentially impacts on borrowing 
costs.  

3.8 There is also a risk around the potential impact of the Government’s fair 
funding and spending review, as well as the 75% business rates retention 
system and any further changes to the New Homes Bonus scheme.  

3.9 There is a surplus position of £2,139,840 on the HRA by the end of 2023/24.  
This incorporates the results of the recent stock condition surveys.  There is a 
projected deficit in 2020/21 due to the reprofiling of capital schemes – 
however, this deficit will be covered using the underspend projected in 
2019/20.  

Page 72



3.10 The MTFP currently assumes a Council Tax increase of 2% over the life of the 
plan, with Housing Rents increasing by CPI +1%.   

3.4 The General Fund and HRA capital programme has been updated to reflect 
the 2018/19 outturn position, projections for 2019/20 and any reprofiling 
required over the life of the MTFP.  Further work of estimating the costs of the 
capital programme is being undertaken, with any financial consequences 
feeding into the February 2020 MTFP.

3.5 As previously stated, this version of the MTFP sets the context for the 
development of the 2019/20 Budget.  Members will receive a further update of 
the MTFP when considering the final budget proposals in February 2020. The 
following actions will need to be completed to ensure that these proposals are 
robust:   

 Complete review of the Council's transformation programme (including 
capital programme and efficiency programme) and produce revised 
forecasts as required 

 Development of detailed budget plans for 2021/22
 Development of detailed proposals for fees and charges increases 
 Complete review of reserves and balances
 Continue to monitor the ongoing issues arising from the Autumn budget, 

retention of business rates and the associated financial implications for the 
Council, as well as any changes emerging from the fair funding / spending 
review. 

4.      How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 
effective management of financial resources, which is the subject of this 
report.

5.      Options and Analysis

5.1 There are no options to consider at this stage. Options will be need to be 
developed in order to close the financial deficits highlighted in this updated 
plan.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None.

6.2 Workforce
None.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and 

Page 73



Diversity policies.
An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken on the 
Corporate Plan, which feeds into budget plans.

6.4 Financial Considerations
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report.

6.5 Legal
None.

16.6 Sustainability
None.

6.7 External Consultation
The Council’s budget plans are the subject of an annual public consultation 
exercise. Full details are contained within the plan

6.8  Risk A Risk Assessment
A full risk analysis has been undertaken which is contained within the plan

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer

Background Papers Location Contact details

Various background working papers Buxton Town Hall Claire Hazeldene 
Finance & Procurement 
Manager
01538 395400 Ext. 4191

Keith Pointon 
Principal Finance Officer 
(Financial Planning)
01538 395400 Ext. 4193

Page 74



APPENDIX A

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2020/21 to 2023/24

November 2019

Page 75



INDEX

1 Introduction

2 Strategic Priorities

3     Current Spending Levels 

4 Transformation Programme
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Capital Strategy 
4.3 Capital Programme 
4.4 Housing Revenue Account Review 
4.5 Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy
4.6 Member Priority Projects
4.7 Alliance Environment Services (AES)

5 Financial Forecasts
5.1 Interest Rates
5.2 Inflationary Projections
5.3 Budgetary Demand
5.4 Budget Growth
5.5 Pensions
5.6 HRA - Other Operating Expenditure

6 Funding & Income Generation
6.1 Council Tax 
6.2 Business Rates Retention 

        6.3    Collection Fund
6.4 Income from Government Grants
6.5 Fees & Charges

7 Risks, Contingencies & Use of Reserves 
 
8 MTFP Revenue Position 

9.1 General Fund Revenue Position
9.2 HRA Revenue Position

9 Consultation

Annex A Proposed Capital Programme
Annex B Efficiency & Rationalisation Programme  
Annex C MTFP Principal Risks
Annex D Proposed Revenue Budget (General Fund & HRA)

Page 76



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is a key element of the Council’s 
budget and policy frameworks. It aims to ensure that resources are directed 
effectively and efficiently towards delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan. It 
describes the financial direction of the Council for planning purposes and 
outlines the financial pressures the Council is likely to experience over the next 
4 years.  

1.2. The medium-term financial planning process establishes how available 
resources will be allocated to services in line with the Council’s priorities which 
have been determined following consultation with residents, councillors and 
other stakeholders. The process facilitates the Council in planning the prudent 
management of its finances, in building resilience and in providing for the needs 
of residents over the long term.  

1.3. The MTFP is updated regularly to fit in with the budget cycle. This review of the 
MTFP builds on the existing plan and updates assumptions to reflect known 
changes to income, costs and funding. The plan incorporates revenue and 
capital financial projections over the four years 2020/21 to 2023/24.  It also 
includes an assessment of key risks and a presentation of longer-term financial 
issues which have the potential to impact on the Council. 

1.4. The Council will demonstrate economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 
application of its resources. Value for Money (VFM) is maximised when there is 
an optimum balance between economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

 Economy: the price the Council pays for providing its services 
 Efficiency: how much the Council gets out of what’s put in (productivity) 
 Effectiveness: value of the impact achieved (quantitative or qualitative) 

2. STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

2.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan is driven by local priorities. The Council’s 
spending strategy is set out in the Corporate Plan formally adopted by 
members of the Council.

2.2. Following the elections in May 2019 and new political administration, there has 
been a fundamental review of the Corporate Plan focussing on the period 2019-
2023 (up to the end of the current political administration).  The Corporate Plan 
was agreed by Council on 15th October 2019 with 2020/21 representing the first 
full year of the new Corporate Plan.

2.3. The Council’s 4-year Corporate Plan (2019-2023) establishes the Council’s 
vision, corporate objectives and key priorities for the medium term.  It in effect 
establishes the Council’s commitment in the delivery of service and community 
leadership to the residents of the High Peak. 

Page 77



2.4. The delivery of the Corporate Plan will be measured through the Performance 
Framework.  A set of local performance indicators and targets will be 
established in preparation for the start of the financial year 2020/21 by the 
Corporate Select Committee.

2.5. The Council’s Corporate Plan is a document that needs to be owned by the 
whole Council.  As a consequence the Council held a members priority setting 
day held in July 2019 – the views have been taken into account in the 
development of the new plan and will also be important in developing the 
supporting performance framework.

2.6. The Medium Term Financial Plan has been updated to reflect the contents of 
the plan and to ensure that resources are directed towards key priorities. 

2.7. The Council’s vision is expressed as:   

“Working together to protect and invest in the High Peak with the Council on 
your side”
This vision is articulated further by four aims:
 Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak
 A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward thinking council
 Protect and create jobs in the High Peak by supporting economic growth, 

development & regeneration
 Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate 

emergency

2.8 The first aim recognises that the Council has a broader role and has to work 
with partners to deliver more holistic outcomes. The second aim commits to the 
continuous improvement of services and reinforces the desire to provide value 
for money.

2.9 The third and fourth aims form the additional ambitions of the Council which 
continue to be focused around supporting the development of the local 
economy and protecting the environment.

2.10 These aims are supported by a number of objectives which also provide the 
framework for the delivery of service plans. The Council’s objectives are 
summarised below: 
Aim Objectives

1
Supporting our
communities to

create a healthier, 
safer, cleaner High 

Peak

 Effective relationship with strategic partners
 Effective provision of high-quality public amenities, clean streets and 

environmental health
 Fit for purpose housing that meets the need of tenants and residents
 Practical support of community safety arrangements
 Provision of high quality leisure facilities both in formal leisure 

centres and swimming pools and out in our communities
 Work with our partners and the community to address health 

inequality, food and fuel poverty, mental health and loneliness

Page 78



Aim Objectives

2
A responsive, smart, 
financially resilient 

and forward thinking 
Council

 Ensure our future financial resilience can be financially sustainable 
whilst offering value for money

 Ensure our services are readily available to all our residents in the 
appropriate channels and provided “right first time”

 Invest in our staff to ensure we have the internal expertise to deliver 
our plans by supporting our high performing and well motivated 
workforce

 More effective use of Council assets to benefit our communities
 Effective procurement with a focus on local businesses
 Use innovation, technology and partnership with others to help 

improve the efficiency of services, improve customer satisfaction and 
reduce our impact on the environment

3
Protect and create 

jobs in the High 
Peak by supporting 

economic
growth, development 

& regeneration

 Encourage business start-ups and enterprises
 Work to create flourishing town centres and thriving high streets that 

support the local economy
 Promote tourism to maximise local benefit
 High quality development and building control with an “open for 

business approach”
 Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, 

businesses and visitors
 Working to support existing local businesses, both large and small 

across the High Peak as they respond to future challenges
 Supporting the development of innovative green jobs and 

businesses across the High Peak

4
Protect and Improve 

the Environment 
including responding 

to the climate 
emergency

 Effective recycling and waste management
 Effective provision of quality parks and open spaces
 Meeting the challenge of climate change and working with residents 

and business across the High Peak to implement the climate change 
action plan

2.11. The Council is committed to playing the lead role in championing the local area. 
In so doing the Council recognises its community leadership role. Fulfilling this 
role effectively means influencing partners in a number of key areas in order to 
ensure that services are shaped and delivered around the needs and 
aspirations of citizens. The Council’s influencing role will be focused in the 
following priority areas: 

 Work with Derbyshire County Council and other partners to enable high 
speed internet across the borough

 Support the development of more cycle routes whilst working with 
Derbyshire County Council and residents to ensure harmony amongst 
road users

 Working with regional partners such as Derbyshire County Council, 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority and the Sheffield City Region to 
improve public transport links across the borough and extend the GM rail 
ticketing boundary

 Encouraging local organisations and businesses to reduce their carbon 
footprint

 Ensure the best use of public assets across the borough by working via 
the One Public Estate project

Page 79



2.12 The Council will also continue to seek to influence our partners in the following
long term projects:

 Work with the private sector on regeneration schemes including The 
Crescent and Torr Vale Mill

 Pressing for more regular and faster rail links and public transport links 
and essential road infrastructure (i.e. A628 / A6 bypasses, Whaley Bridge 
2nd Bridge, Gamesley Station)

 Supporting the completion of the off road route for the Trans Pennine Trail 
and access to the Monsal and Tissington Trails

 Maintaining the provision of accessible health of social care and working 
with partners to ensure health and well being

 Support the police in dealing with anti social behaviour
 Work with partners to bring additional funding into the borough

2.12. The Plan identifies key priority outcomes, which will be the highest priority in the 
development of performance targets and key actions.  A significant proportion 
of the Council’s resources will be directed towards achieving them: 

Aim Priority Outcomes

Supporting our communities
to create a healthier, safer,

cleaner High Peak

 Improved housing repairs service
 Improved private sector housing 

conditions
 Increased supply of affordable housing
 Increased level of community support

A responsive, smart,
financially resilient and

forward thinking Council

 Increased use of local firms through 
procurement

 Provision of more apprenticeships
 Increased levels of customer 

satisfaction
 Better engagement with our local 

communities

Protect and create jobs in
the High Peak by supporting

economic growth,
development & regeneration

 Increased economic growth
 Higher paid employment
 New tourism opportunities
 Thriving and flourishing town centres 

and high streets

Protect and improve the
environment including

responding to the climate
emergency

 Reduction in carbon emissions
 Reduced levels of environmental crime
 Appropriate response to the climate 

emergency declaration through a 
deliverable plan

2.13. The Council maintains a Strategic Alliance with Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council, formed around the principle of shared services in the pursuit of 
efficiency and realisation of savings. The Strategic Alliance has enabled the 
implementation and transformation of a joint management structure and 
services, consequently realising significant efficiency savings. 

2.14. The Council intends to continue to drive savings and service improvements 
through collaboration with its Alliance partner.

Page 80



3. CURRENT SPENDING LEVELS

3.11. The starting point for the development of the MTFP is the current level of 
spending and the approved capital expenditure commitments.

General Fund Revenue Budget  

3.12. The Council’s current year (2019/20) General Fund budget can be summarised 
as follows:

Income and Expenditure 2019/20 
Budget

 £
Employees 11,344,470
Premises 4,522,920
Transport 641,740
Supplies & Services 8,546,630
Benefits            82,460
Borrowing 1,794,630
Parish Grant 51,320
Financing Costs 191,000

Total Expenditure 27,175,170
 
Fees and Charges / Other Income      (8,177,710)
Interest Receipts         (225,260)
Capital Recharges (231,240)
HRA Recharges (7,775,610)
 
Net Expenditure 10,765,350

 

3.13. The net expenditure is financed as follows: 

Financing 2019/20 
Budget

 £
Council Tax (5,863,060)
Government Funding -
New Homes Bonus (560,050)
Business Rates Retention (3,638,050)
Collection Fund Deficit (186,880)
Contribution to / (from) Reserves & Balances (5,010)
Efficiency Requirement (512,300)
Total Financing (10,765,350)

 
 

5.12

Page 81



Housing Revenue Account Budget  

3.14. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a ‘ring-fenced’ account that ensures 
the management and maintenance of the Council’s housing stock is funded 
from the income generated by rents and other related sources. 

3.15. The Council’s current year (2019/20) Housing Revenue Account budget can be 
summarised as follows: 

Budget Heading 2019/20 
Budget

 £
Repairs & Maintenance 3,860,920
Supervision & Management 3,166,590
Rates, Rents, Taxes, Charges 105,260
Other Operating Expenditure 736,450
Depreciation & Impairment Charges 2,099,030
Interest & Debt Management Charges 2,783,310
HRA Contribution to Capital Programme 1,934,210
Total Expenditure 14,685,770
Dwellings Rents (14,325,340)
Non - Dwelling Rents & Other Income (622,090)
Total Income (14,947,430)
Original (Surplus) / Deficit for year (261,660)

3.15.1. Following approval to carry forward capital schemes of £150,000 from 
2018/19 and a further increase to the 2019/20 programme of £171,170 in 
order to accelerate the kitchen programme, the original in year surplus of 
£261,660 has been revised to the current in year deficit position of £59,510.

Page 82



General Fund Capital Budget

3.16. The medium-term projection for General Fund capital commitments approved 
by Council in February 2019 is detailed below:

Service Area 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Total 
 £ £ £ £ £ £
Fleet Management 1,007,410 2,704,970    691,500    201,250    126,500 4,731,630
New Housing Schemes    178,000    597,000    667,000    350,000    350,000   2,142,000 
Asset Management Plan 2,545,680 1,773,490 1,405,000 802,000 2,187,270 8,713,440
Housing Grants 383,370 685,560 421,000 421,000    421,000 2,331,930
ICT Strategy              -   255,800              -                -                -   255,800
Other Schemes 503,210 727,170 161,930 45,000 - 1,437,310
Total Programme 4,617,670 6,743,990 3,346,430 1,819,250 3,084,770 19,612,110
Financed by:      
External Contributions 383,370 765,360 421,000 421,000 421,000 2,411,730
Capital Receipts / Reserves 1,331,690 1,302,310 1,236,000 1,398,250 2,663,770 7,932,020
General Fund Reserve 387,710             -               -               -                -   387,710
S106 Planning Obligations - - - - - -
Borrowing 2,514,900 4,676,320 1,689,430             -                -   8,880,650
Total  Financing 4,617,670 6,743,990 3,346,430 1,819,250 3,084,770 19,612,110

Housing Revenue Account Capital Budget

3.17. The medium-term projection for Housing Revenue Account capital 
commitments approved by Council in February 2019 was as follows:

 
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Total

 £ £ £ £ £
Asset Management works 3,469,000 3,456,740 2,469,240 3,236,970 3,941,600 16,573,550
Repairs Team Capital works 295,000 295,000 295,000 295,000 295,000 1,475,000
Asset Purchases 208,480 242,500 - - 420,000 870,980
Commissioning Costs 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000
Total Programme 4,072,480 4,094,240 2,864,240 3,631,970 4,756,600 19,419,530

     
Major Repairs Reserve 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 10,495,150
HRA Contribution 1,566,090 1,934,210 765,210 1,532,940 2,657,570 8,456,020
Capital Receipts 307,360 61,000 - - - 368,360
Major Voids Reserve 100,000 - - - - 100,000
Total Financing 4,072,480 4,094,240 2,864,240 3,631,970 4,756,600 19,419,530
      

Page 83



4. TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME

4.1.   Introduction

4.1.1. The Council’s ‘transformation programme’ incorporates all major projects 
which meet the strategic priorities of the Authority and have significant 
financial implications, including:
 The Capital Programme
 Housing Revenue Account 
 The Efficiency and Rationalisation strategy
 Member Priority Projects
 Alliance Environment Services (AES)

4.1.2. The delivery of transformation programme projects is monitored by a 
Transformation Board made up of Directors, along with key Heads of Service 
and officers. A Director is allocated as ‘project executive’ and a full business 
case appraisal is completed for each project.

4.1.3. The progress and current financial projections of the transformation 
programme is explored below along with any potential revenue 
consequences.  Any further work required to identify the financial implications 
of the programme are discussed and will feed into future MTFP updates.

4.2. Capital Strategy 

4.2.1. In accordance with the requirements of the 2017 edition of the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities, a Capital Strategy was produced and 
approved alongside the MTFP in February 2019.

4.2.2. The Strategy, which will be updated and presented to members along side the 
MTFP report in February 2020, explains how capital expenditure and 
investment decisions are taken in line with the Council’s Corporate Plan and 
service objectives, taking account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, 
risk management, sustainability and affordability.

4.3. Capital Programme 

General Fund Capital Programme

4.3.1. The General Fund Capital Programme approved by members in February 
2019 has been reviewed, re-profiled and updated to reflect the latest position 
in terms of capital projections to 31st March 2024. 

4.3.2. The latest capital projections, specifically identifying the major schemes, are 
summarised in the table below. Full detail is attached in Annex A. 

Page 84



Service Area 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total

 £ £ £ £ £ £
Housing 27,000 667,000 374,000 504,000 504,000 2,076,000
Asset Management 2,384,300 2,135,360 1,926,550 486,050 1,467,640 8,399,900
Housing Grants 556,840 489,110 489,110 489,110 489,110 2,513,280
ICT Strategy 135,000 87,050 50,000 50,000 50,000 372,050
Fleet Management 2,467,010 1,119,780 322,500 147,000 311,140 4,367,430
Other Schemes 580,780 119,380 45,000 0              -   745,160
Total Programme 6,150,930 4,617,680 3,207,160 1,676,160 2,821,890 18,473,820
Financed by:-       
External Contributions 646,640 489,110 489,110 489,110 489,110 2,603,080
Planning Obligations 33,000             -               -               -                -         33,000 
Capital Receipts 1,047,090 1,875,000 2,172,480 683,050 1,774,470 7,552,090
Capital Receipts( one for one) 27,000 667,000 374,000 504,000 504,000 2,076,000
Capital Reserves 500,000             -               -               -                -   500,000
Earmarked Reserves 64,450             -               -               -                -   64,450
Borrowing 3,832,750 1,586,570 171,570             -   54,310 5,645,200

Total  Financing 6,150,930 4,617,680 3,207,160 1,676,160
  

2,821,890 18,473,820

4.3.3. The capital projections above include the carry forward of £1,159,850 capital 
budgets from 2018/19; an increase to the 2019/20 programme of £90,000 
(Upgrade of play facilities Whitfield Recreation Ground) as approved by a 
Delegated Executive decision in September 2019 

Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme

4.3.4. The Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme approved by members in 
February 2019 has been reviewed, re-profiled and updated to reflect the latest 
position in terms of capital projections to 31st March 2024.

 
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total

 £ £ £ £ £ £
Asset Management works 2,536,910 4,669,540 3,712,660 4,341,600 2,457,460 17,718,170
Repairs Team Capital works 295,000 295,000 295,000 295,000 295,000 1,475,000
Asset Purchases 0 242,500 0 420,000 0 662,500
Commissioning Costs 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000
Total Programme 2,931,910 5,307,040 4,107,660 5,156,600 2,852,460 20,355,670

Major Repairs Reserve 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 10,495,150
HRA Contribution 771,880 3,208,010 2,008,630 3,057,570 753,430 9,799,520
Capital Receipts 61,000 0 0 0 0 61,000
Total Financing 2,931,910 5,307,040 4,107,660 5,156,600 2,852,460 20,355,670
      

4.3.5. The capital projections above include the carry forward of £150,000 from 
2018/19 and an increase to the 2019/20 programme of £171,170 (to 
accelerate the kitchen replacement scheme) as approved by The Executive in 
August 2019.

Page 85



  Asset Management Plan (AMP) – General Fund  

4.3.6. It is essential that the Council maintains an asset base, which delivers the 
ambitions of the Corporate Plan – however, this needs to be affordable.  The 
Capital Strategy (presented alongside the MTFP in February 2019) sets out 
the outcomes and actions emerging from a report presented to the Executive 
in July  2016 – which was based on the result of asset condition surveys 
completed on the Council’s property portfolio

4.3.7. This included the potential capital and revenue financial implications of 
maintaining the Council’s current property assets over a 30 year period, as 
summarised below:-

HPBC - Capital Investment Required (as 
at July 2016)

2016-17 - 
2019-20 
(MTFP)

2020-21 - 
2045-46 (26 

Years)
TOTAL

Public Buildings 8,450,983 6,188,951 14,639,934
Car Parks 120,000 3,754,462 3,874,462
Public Conveniences 123,400 949,300 1,072,700
Waterways & Infrastructure Assets 671,360 1,230,000 1,901,360
Leisure Centres 45,000 6,825,129 6,870,129
Depots and Parks Buildings 144,700 1,301,785 1,446,485
TOTAL 9,555,443 20,249,627 29,805,070

Revenue Consequences 295,619 592,838 888,457

4.3.8. This position has been reviewed and updated in February 2017, 2018 and 
2019 to take account of any changes and updates to stock information since 
July 2016, and has subsequently been reviewed again for the purposes of this 
report

4.3.9. The table below reflects the updated capital investment requirements as at 
November 2019, adjusted for 2018/19 actual outturn and any in-year re-
profiling that has taken place in 2019/20 and changes to spending plans.  This 
reduces the overall forecast capital spend by £250,293 over the 30 years from 
the original position; as reported in July 2016.

HPBC AMP Capital 
Investment 

MTFP

 
2016-17 

(Actuals)
 

2017-18 
(Actuals)

 

2018-19 
(Actuals)

 
   2019-20 
to 2022-23     2023-24    

   2024-25 
to 2046-47
(22 Years) 

TOTAL
 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Public Buildings 339,450 2,124,080 2,362,860 2,861,500 1,332,640 5,484,078 14,504,608

Car Parks                -   87,080 39,530 1,653,530                    -   2,062,349 3,842,489

Public Conveniences                -   4,970                -   410,710                    -   633,600 1,049,280

Waterways Infrastructure 51,280 170,680 35,260 962,960 100,000 905,000 2,225,180

Leisure Centres 540 72,850 26,510 856,990                    -   5,521,775 6,478,665

Depots Parks Cemeteries                -   5,400                -   186,570 35,000 1,227,585 1,454,555

Total 391,270 2,465,060 2,464,160 6,932,260 1,467,640 15,834,387 29,554,777

Revenue Consequences 18,740 75,050 291,210 9,720 425,390 820,110
*The current MTFP capital programme costs of the AMP include approved carry forwards from 2018/19, projected spend in 
2019/20,revised estimates for 2020/21-2022/23 & additional estimated costs of maintaining the asset portfolio in 2023/24

Page 86



4.3.10. The Council will be developing an Asset Management Strategy to ensure the 
future delivery of efficient asset management.  This work will be progressed 
once the condition surveys have been undertaken and the estimated 30 year 
costs to maintain the general fund asset stock are known. 

4.3.11. Any positive revenue implications of the asset management strategy, for 
example, reduced annual maintenance and utility costs due to fewer and/or 
more efficient buildings and income receipts from shared accommodation with 
partners will be taken towards the efficiency programme.  

Asset Management Plan (AMP) - Housing

4.3.12. The Executive agreed to complete a full condition survey on the Council’s 
portfolio of housing properties by March 2019.  The Capital Strategy and HRA 
Business Plan (presented alongside the MTFP in February 2019) set out the 
outcomes and actions emerging from this.

4.3.13. The actual stock condition survey results suggested that a lower level of 
capital spend is required in the earlier years of the 30 year Business Plan.  
However, some re-profiling of expenditure has taken place to increase the 
capital spend in the early years, with an early focus on ensuring decent homes 
standards are maintained:-  

 
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

 £ £ £ £ £
Original Programme 4,094,240 2,864,240 3,631,970 4,756,600 2,852,460
Re-Profiling:
Windows & Doors (821,000) 821,000 - - -
Roofing Works (420,000) 500,000 - - -
Disabled Adaptations 50,000 - - - -
Vehicle Purchases - 242,500 - - -

Decent Home Works
Kitchens 171,170 759,300 475,690 400,000 -
Boiler Replacements 100,000 120,000 - - -
Re-Profiled Programme 2,931,910 5,307,040 4,107,660 5,156,600 2,852,460
     

4.3.14. From the work undertaken at this point, the stock condition results remain 
affordable with the 30-year HRA business plan.  

Buxton Crescent  

4.3.15. The Buxton Crescent Hotel and Thermal Spa construction stage is 
progressing.  The smaller contract to refurbish the Pump Room reached 
practical completion in June 2018. 

Page 87



4.3.16. The Buxton Crescent Heritage Trust already occupies the Pump Room under 
a licence agreement from the developers prior to being granted a full tenancy 
upon completion of the capital project. This early occupation has allowed the 
trust to run events in the building and as a result has raised an additional 
£265,000 to assist in fitting out the hub for the proposed visitor centre. The 
Tourist Information Centre (TIC) was relocated from the Pavilion Gardens in 
March 2019.

4.3.17. The main contract to convert the Crescent and the Natural Baths into the hotel 
and spa is progressing well with a programmed completion in December 
2019.

4.3.18. A report was presented to The Executive on 11th October 2018 which outlined 
additional capital costs of the project – the Council has agreed a contribution 
of £25,000 plus due to the completion delay, additional project management 
costs of £66,560 will be incurred. 

4.3.19. In addition, full Council has approved the provision of a £250,000 loan as part 
of the Crescent development (12th December 2018) subject to the terms set 
out in the Individual Executive Decision Report released on 24th October 2018 
(confidential exempt information by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 5 of Part 1 of 
schedule 12A to the Local Government act 1972) 

4.3.20. Funding arrangements are in place for the project, however, it remains 
necessary to identify the potential financial risks to the Council if the project 
failed to complete. The corresponding financial risks relate to mothballing 
costs and ongoing maintenance requirements of the building over a 5-year 
period (the estimated time to end the current project, procure a new partner, 
design and develop to the point of starting on site). Estimated costs are shown 
below:

Costs HPBC Liability
Cost over 5 years

£
Mothballing costs (security, insurance, utilities) 257,500
Maintenance Costs 1,600,000
TOTAL 1,857,500

4.3.21. The above costs are not included in the MTFP, but flagged as a risk. 

  Housing Grants  

4.3.22. The Borough Council is the duty holder under the Housing Grants, 
Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 for the mandatory Disabled Facilities 
Grant and this status remains despite changes to funding arrangements. All 
eligible applicants are entitled to receive mandatory funding for certain major 
adaptations to their properties. The funding for these adaptations has 
previously been given directly to the Council but from 2015/16, the funding 
was incorporated into the Better Care Fund (BCF) and paid to the County 
Council. 

5.17

Page 88



4.3.23. The Better Care Fund is a single pooled fund for all health and social care 
provision and covers the whole range of services including public health, 
social care services and clinical commissioning groups. 

4.3.24. The mechanism for the payment of funds from the fund holder to the Borough 
Council year on year is now governed through the BCF Commissioning 
Group, which makes the award based on the newly developed Assurance 
Plans submitted annually by each Council.  The Plans outline how the 
allocated budget will be spent; including any discretionary or innovative 
schemes agreed between the Councils and the County Council and identifies 
the monitoring programme. The Plan requires a quarterly progress update 
submission to the Commissioning Group, and these updates will inform the 
discussion around the subsequent year’s allocation. 

4.3.25. Currently, demand for mandatory funding at High Peak exceeds the value of 
the funding awarded, so provided spend is in line with commitment through 
the year, it is unlikely that the funding will be reduced. At the current rate of 
approval, it is anticipated that the 2019/20 allocation, £489,109 will be fully 
allocated in year. The estimated level of reserves at March 2020 is £376,929; 
indications are that this will be required. 

ICT Strategy 

4.3.26. The framework for the existing ICT Strategy was established in 2014/15.  The 
key drivers of which were to support delivery of the Efficiency and 
Rationalisation Plan, provide the infrastructure to support joint working, new 
ways of working and improve access to services for our customers.

4.3.27. Following on from this, a refreshed, updated IT Strategy is currently being 
developed.  The aim of which is to drive a change in culture and deliver the 
systems, processes and skills required in an environment where information is 
shared seamlessly though connected systems.  This will potentially reduce 
costs of services through optimisation, improving online services and enabling 
customers to self-serve.  This will also reduce manual administrative tasks, 
removing paper processes and allowing Officers to focus on high-value tasks.

4.3.28. Consequently, additional estimated requirements have been included within 
the MTFP of £116,250 which primarily relate to the implementation of a 
system to aid waste collection processes and the migration of the cash 
receipting system. Migration to Office 365 is assumed to be completed in 
2019/20.  There are other projects currently at initial business case or 
procurement stage, relating to the housing system review, asset management 
system, migration of the current licensing system and review of the customer 
portal and integration into back office systems.  Therefore, at this stage and 
additional £50,000 per annum has also been added to the capital programme 
to reflect this.   More accurate costings will be developed as business cases 
progress.

Page 89



Fleet Management

4.3.29. Fleet management arrangements have been subject to review.  Responsibility 
for maintaining the Council’s fleet has now transferred to Alliance Environment 
Service (AES), however, the responsibility for funding fleet remains with the 
Council.  The fleet review aims to deliver savings to be realised against the 
efficiency programme by ensuring the most cost effective funding options are 
selected for the various types of vehicles.

4.3.30. The existing contract hire agreements that were in place were terminated on 
30th June 2018, and the majority of vehicles under the agreement were 
directly purchased.  An options appraisal undertaken on the funding of refuse 
freighters highlighted direct purchase (via the capital programme funded by 
borrowing or capital reserves/capital receipts) as the most cost effective 
method of funding. 

4.3.31. A Fleet Strategy is currently being drafted which will set out the fleet renewal 
programme and process, incorporating financial, procurement and operational 
considerations.

4.3.32. For the purposes of this report, it has been assumed that all replacement 
vehicle requirements over the next four years will be funded via direct capital 
purchase – but this will be subject to further funding options appraisals prior to 
purchase.  Therefore, at this stage, the capital programme includes an 
allocation of £4,367,430 in order to replace vehicles as they reach the end of 
their useful lives.

  New/Other Capital Commitments  

4.3.33. Details and estimated costs of any new capital schemes which the Council is 
aiming to progress during the 4 year MTFP period will be included in the 
Budget and MTFP presented in February 2020.  The following additional 
commitments are currently being assessed:

- Glossop Halls Project – Market Hall Municipal Buildings Roof

Phase 1 of Glossop Halls Project; Town Hall roof renewal is due for 
completion on 8th November 2019. Phase 2 involves the Market Hall and 
Municipal Buildings reroofing and provision of new electrical and fire 
protection systems.  The costings are currently being assessed to establish if 
the remaining budget is sufficient.
 

- Victoria Hall 
  

The future use of the building is under review, members have committed to 
consider potential further capital investment into the fabric of the building. The 
cost of any proposals will form part of the refreshed Asset Management Plan 

Page 90



- Pay & Display Machines

Options are being considered around replacing and upgrading the pay and 
display machines across the Council’s income producing car parks.  A 
separate report outlining the details of the proposals and cost implications will 
be presented to Members for approval.

- Delivery Programme / Land Disposal Strategy see Capital Strategy 
(Appendix B) 

It is likely that there will be costs incurred associated in delivering the 
Council’s accelerated housing programme and land disposal strategy going 
forward.  However, these are to be assessed based on each scheme (and 
may be revenue costs rather than capital costs) therefore no provision is 
included in the capital programme at this stage.

  Funding the Capital Programme  

4.3.34. The capital programme can be funded from a number of options which include 
external grants and contributions from third parties, comprising of Government 
and lottery funding streams; capital receipts from asset sales as part of the 
asset management plan and sale of council dwellings; earmarked revenue 
reserves and a planned annual contribution from the Housing Revenue 
Account to finance construction of and improvements to council dwellings.

4.3.35. Borrowing is undertaken to fund the shortfall after the other capital resources 
have been used. The current programme includes estimates of external 
funding of £2.6m towards General Fund projects; reserves of £0.56m; capital 
receipts of £9.62m (£7.55m General Fund + £2.07m 1-for-1 RTB), plus 
£0.61m HRA capital receipts; Housing Revenue Reserves of £2.871m are 
forecast to be applied in 2019/20 and a further £17.424 million of Housing 
Revenue Reserves over the following four years 

4.3.36. Borrowing is the main funding option in the first two years of the General Fund 
programme at £5.42m. The Treasury Management Strategy then considers 
whether this is funded externally or internally - both options have a 
consequence on revenue either through reduced investment income or 
increased external interest liability as highlighted in the table below. The 
forecast of capital receipts to be received against capital spending results in a 
reduced nil borrowing requirement in 2022/23.

4.3.37. The capital receipts applied to the General Fund include the one-for-one right-
to-buy element used to fund capital expenditure on new housing properties.  
Under Government guidelines, these receipts can only represent 30% of 
overall expenditure, with a further 70% being required to be allocated.  The 
current strategy is to fund this via a third party where possible, i.e. a social 
housing landlord or developer, with the third party organisation providing the 
additional 70% expenditure.

Page 91



4.3.38. The HRA can also apply capital receipts which are not subject to the same 
restrictions as the one for one receipts to the overall capital programme.  
Therefore these un-ring-fenced receipts have been applied to the overall HRA 
capital programme as a source of funding.  There remains a balance held on 
un-ring-fenced capital receipts which can be applied to future spending. 

4.3.39. It is proposed to utilise reserves allocated for capital spend (where possible) 
where an options appraisal on the acquisition of vehicles, plant and equipment 
has been carried out and suggests that the most financially viable option is to 
outright purchase.  Similarly, an increase in the contribution to capital is 
proposed where it is best value to do so for the HRA.

  Revenue Consequences of the Capital Programme

4.3.40. The capital investment proposals above will result in estimated revenue 
consequences as follows:

Revenue Consequences 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £
Borrowing Costs 126,220 258,070 84,370 46,270
Other (Income)/Expenditure (9,130) (20,770) (44,460) (27,000)
General Fund 117,090 237,300 39,910 19,270

HRA contribution to Capital 1,273,800 (1,199,380) 1,048,940 (2,304,140)
Borrowing Costs - - - -
Housing Revenue Account 1,273,800 (1,199,380) 1,048,940 (2,304,140)

4.4. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) review  

4.4.1. In 2015, Government announced legislative and financial changes for the 
social housing sector - which had significant negative financial implications for 
the Council’s HRA

4.4.2. Consequently, a fundamental review of the HRA business Plan was 
undertaken via a sub-committee working group established by the Corporate 
Select Committee.  Through the establishment of a Financial Improvement 
Plan, focus was directed to areas where reductions in financial provisions in 
the HRA could be made or additional income could be generated in order to 
ensure that the longer term financial position can be sustained.  

4.4.3. Alongside this, a full stock condition survey was commissioned to provide an 
understanding of the capital requirements of maintaining the housing stock 
over the 30 year business plan period.

4.4.4. The work commenced in June 2016 and resulted in an updated sustainable 30 
year business plan – as presented alongside the MTFP in February 2019.  
Based on the savings achieved as part of the Financial Improvement Plan and 
the updated stock condition information, the updated HRA business plan 
forecast healthy surpluses over the 30 year period, with a reduction in debt 
(with no additional borrowing assumed):-

Page 92



2018/19 (Year 1 
forecast)

2047/48 (Year 
30 forecast)

Variance

Capital Financing 
Requirement (Debt Level) £54.9m £25.9m Reduction in debt 

of £29m
HRA Working Balance 
(general reserves) £11.2m £53.0m Increase in 

balances of £41.8m

4.4.5. This report summarises the latest financial forecasts and provides a detailed 
summary of the financial position from 2020/21 to 2023/24.  The updated 
position now shows an estimated surplus of £2,139,840 by the end of 
2023/24.

4.4.6. The HRA Business Plan highlighted a number of key issues and challenges 
going forward, for example: impact of the welfare reform, completion of the 
Financial Improvement Plan savings, understanding tenant priorities, 
considering the outcomes of estate regeneration reviews, prioritising decent 
homes standard failures and development of new stock.  

4.4.7. An action plan was developed in order to respond to these issues, progression 
against this will be monitored and any financial impact will be adjusted for 
within the MTFP and HRA Business Plan going forward. 

4.5. Efficiency & Rationalisation Programme 

General Fund Efficiency Programme

4.5.1. The current Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy was approved by 
Members in February 2017, which identified a programme of £2.1 million 
(including £431,200 in unachieved efficiencies from the previous efficiency 
programme) in savings to be made over the period 2017/18 – 2020/21.  

4.5.2. The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy has the effect of both reducing 
expenditure and increasing income. The need to grow income is now more of 
a priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing i.e. not 
reliant on direct government funding such as revenue support grant. 

4.5.3. The strategy has been developed with the underlying principles of protecting 
frontline service delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable 
the Council to ensure that its service spending is determined by the 
established priorities set out in the Corporate Plan.

4.5.4. It is intended that there will be five areas of focus:-
 Major Procurements - There is the opportunity to focus attention on a 

number of large service functions which are currently provided by an 
external contractor / supplier. A number of significant contracts are coming 
to an end. This will also allow a fundamental review of these services with 
proper consideration of the current financial constraints.  The contract 
commitments have sometimes restricted the opportunity to align services 
across the alliance with Staffordshire Moorlands.  The individual projects 
will focus on Waste Collection & Environment Services, Leisure 
Management and Facilities Management

Page 93



 Asset Management Plan – continuation of the existing priority of 
rationalising the Council’s asset base with a focus around priorities in order 
to allow for the necessary capital investment

 Growth – development of a clear focus upon housing and economic 
growth based upon the established Local Plan. 

 Income Generation – focus on increasing the yield from existing sources 
on income and a drive towards identifying new sources of income

 Rationalisation – a commitment to reducing expenditure on non-priority 
areas of spend e.g. management arrangements, channel shift, non-
statutory services 

4.5.5. The below table summarises the financial savings requirements and profile for 
achievement (ANNEX B provides more detail of the savings plan):-

General Fund Efficiency 
Strategy  2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL

 £ £ £ £ £
Major Procurements 100,000 275,000 100,000 500,000 975,000
Asset Management - 30,000 200,000 - 230,000
Growth - 40,000 40,000 190,000 270,000
Income Generation 90,000 190,000 70,000 120,000 470,000
Rationalisation 120,000 46,000 20,000 - 186,000
TOTAL 310,000 581,000 430,000 810,000 2,131,000

4.5.6. Subsequently, a review was undertaken in February 2019 to assess the timing 
and estimated value of future savings based on the current programme.  The 
table below shows the projected re-profiled Efficiency Programme:-

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL
£ £ £ £ £

Original Programme 310,000 581,000 430,000 810,000 2,131,000
Amended Programme 388,000 449,000 789,000 505,000 2,131,000
Variance 78,000 (132,000) 359,000 (305,000) -

4.5.7. The Efficiency Programme continues to progress well, with £900,000 in 
savings realised to date in 2019/20.  A review of the remaining year (2020/21) 
of the efficiency programme will be undertaken and any re-profiling will be 
presented in the February 2020 MTFP.

4.5.8. Continued progression against the efficiency programme is dependent on 
achieving significant savings as a result of the alternative delivery model for 
Waste, Streets and Parks via the transfer of services to trading company 
Alliance Environment Services, as well as a review of leisure provision.  There 
are also significant income generation targets focusing on housing and 
economic growth as a result of implementing the Local Plan.

  HRA Efficiency Programme 

4.5.9. A HRA Financial Improvement Plan was approved as part of the MTFP in 
February 2017 which identified potential savings from a number of sources to 
be achieved over the period 2017/18 – 2020/21.

Page 94



4.5.10. A HRA Review Progress report was presented to the HRA working group in 
April 2017 which further developed and provided more detail on the savings 
programme and likely profiling for the realisation of savings - this is detailed in 
Annex B.  A summary is provided below:-       

 

4.5.11. Progress against the HRA Financial Improvement Plan is positive, with one 
further year remaining.  The Financial Improvement Plan was re-profiled in 
February 2018 as shown below:
         

Budget Heading Savings
Potential
Annual 

Reduction
£

Capital Financing Reduction in voluntary repayment of debt (currently £1.2 
million per annum) – to be benchmarked – maximum 
annual reduction

500,000

Rent Income Introduction of new rent policy 150,000
Repairs and Maintenance Reduction in repairs and maintenance expenditure due 

to implementation of an alternative service delivery 
model and / or improvements in productivity

250,000

ICT Costs Reduction in costs of ICT systems 50,000
Rent Income / Repairs & 
Maintenance Expenditure

Savings from improvements in voids turn around times 100,000

Various headings Disposal of surplus stock after consideration of net 
present value assessment following completion of stock 
condition survey

150,000

Total Annual Saving 1,200,000

Potential
Annual Reduction

HRA Review Focus

ACHIEVED 
2017/18

ACHIEVED 
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Total Annual Saving 625,000 245,000 - 330,000

Page 95



4.6. Member Priority Projects  

4.6.1. During the development of the Corporate Plan a number of priority actions 
have been identified and prioritised by members. These are as follows: 

Financial Implications

Member Priority Projects (Y/N) Firm - in 
plans

Costs 
understood - 
not in plans

Costs not 
known

Leader  
Refresh and implement the Asset Management Plan, including a 
review of the public estate, and ensure adequate facilities 
management arrangements are in place

Y 

Develop an Access to Services Strategy to ensure that Council 
services are accessible to all

Y 

Refresh the Council’s Communications and Engagement 
Strategy in order to ensure there is a more effective dialogue and 
engagement with residents

N

Review the Council’s community support arrangements in order 
to maintain strong partnership working with community groups

N

Review the implementation of the Local Plan to ensure that the
requirements for affordable housing and developer contributions 
are being met

Y 

Conduct a review of the democratic processes and scrutiny
arrangements to make the Council as open and transparent as 
possible

N

Regeneration, Tourism and Leisure 
Support the development of the Glossop Halls Y 

Implement the accelerated housing delivery programme Y 

Implement the accelerated business growth and employment
programme

Y 

Develop a Cultural Strategy to support and celebrate the rich 
history and culture of the Borough

N

Review the Council’s Growth Strategy to ensure that it is 
focussed on the effective regeneration our towns and rural 
communities

Y 

Develop and implement an ongoing Leisure Facilities plan 
focussed on improving the heath and wellbeing of residents

Y 

Review the Sports & Physical Activity Strategy in order to 
integrate the communities and sports clubs into the delivery of its 
objectives

N

Develop a parks development plan to support the widest 
community use of parks and support community / friends groups

N

Page 96



Financial Implications

Member Priority Projects (Y/N) Firm - in 
plans

Costs 
understood - 
not in plans

Costs not 
known

Climate Change, Environment and Community Safety 
Establish a developer open space contributions plan N

Complete the review of the CCTV system and implement the 
agreed recommendations

Y 

Successfully deliver Phase 3 of the transfer of services to 
Alliance Environmental Services Limited in order to achieve 
improved performance and value for money outcomes

Y 

Develop a Climate Change Strategy and an action plan of 
response to a declared climate emergency

Y 

Review the Community Safety Strategy to ensure that the Council 
is supportive in fighting crime and anti-social behaviour

N

Review the Environmental Enforcement Policy in order to take 
steps to further reduce dog fouling and littering

N

Review the Council’s waste & recycling arrangements to increase
recycling and to respond to the emerging new national strategy

Y 

Corporate Services and Finance 
Implement the Council’s Efficiency and Rationalisation 
Programme

Y 

Provide advice and support for residents affected by the rollout of
Universal Credit

N

Continue to embed good information management practices 
through the ASSURED framework

N

Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative 
ways of generating income

Y 

Develop a new ICT Strategy to enhance and support the delivery 
of services

Y 

Review the Council’s Diversity Policies including working with 
faith and cultural groups to celebrate the traditions and diversity 
of our community

N

Develop a new Organisational Development Strategy to ensure 
that our workforce is developed effectively and that the Council 
makes effective use of apprenticeships

Y 

Develop a new Procurement Strategy with a focus upon spending
money locally

N

Housing and Licensing

Implement the Homelessness Strategy effectively to ensure that
voluntary groups and social enterprises that work to tackle the 
issue are supported effectively

Y 

Implement the agreed Housing Revenue Account Business Plan Y 

Review the delivery of services to older persons to ensure that 
they are effective

N

Develop a Private Sector Housing Strategy to improve conditions 
for private renters

N

Page 97



4.6.2. Any costs or revenue associated with these actions will need to be included in 
the MTFP. The impact of a number of them is already included in this iteration 
of the plan but additional work will need to be undertaken to develop a number 
of the actions further and at the same time identify any financial implications.  

4.7. Alliance Environment Service (AES)

4.7.1. Alliance Environmental Services (AES) is a company created with a vision to 
deliver waste, street cleansing and grounds maintenance services in the High 
Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands areas. The company has three 
shareholders: High Peak Borough Council, Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council and Ansa, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire East 
Council. 

4.7.2. Phase 1 of the transfer of services commenced on 7th August 2017 to deliver 
High Peak Borough Council Waste services. This followed the end of the 
previous contract with Veolia Environmental Services.

4.7.3. Phase 2 of the transfer of services commenced on 1st July 2018 with the 
transfer of all fleet management.  Phase 3 is currently estimated to commence 
in February 2020, which will involve the transfer of Street Scene and Grounds 
Maintenance. 

4.7.4. Savings of £500,000 are forecast in the Efficiency & Rationalisation 
Programme by the end of 2020/21 – which are split between AES and savings 
to be achieved from Council retained budgets.  

4.7.5. The contract fee for 2020/21 is currently being reviewed with discussions 
taking place between the Council and AES – draft forecasts have been 
included in this version of the MTFP.  The contract fee will be calculated 
based on the base 2019/20 contract fee plus 2020/21 inflation/growth items 
less forecast savings achieved.  The payment of any identified risk items 
(which the Council is currently paying an additional fee) primarily relating to 
the cost of short-term vehicle hire prior to procurement will continue if they 
materialise.  However, every effort will be made to remove these or offset 
them with other savings.

Page 98



5. FINANCIAL FORECASTS

5.1. Interest Rates

5.1.1. The Bank of England Base Rate has remained at 0.75% since the most recent 
change in August 2018. Link (the Council’s advisors) has produced an interest 
rate forecast for interest movements over the coming three year period. This 
includes an increase to 1.00% in the quarter ending March 2021 with no 
further increases until June 2022. Link continues to acknowledge that 
unfolding events could prompt movements in rates of 0.25% to 0.50%  in 
either direction at any time.

5.1.2. HM Treasury made an announcement on 9th October that with immediate 
effect the PWLB new loan rates would be increased by 1% making any new 
external borrowing through the PWLB more expensive than it had been.   
Although this makes future borrowing more expensive, the MTFP presented in 
February had included an assumption around interest rate increases, 
therefore, the financial impact at this stage is limited. 

5.1.3. Based on the current forecasts, and the refinancing assumptions, changes in 
investment income and borrowing costs are highlighted below:

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £
General Fund
Changes in Investment Income 61,870 (7,960) (76,780) (20,180)
Changes in Borrowing Costs 67,480 (172,480) (175,010) (28,650)

HRA
Changes in Investment Income 27,990 (41,520) (70) (42,020)
Changes in Borrowing Costs (99,570) 4,350 (8,350) (47,460)

5.2. Inflationary Projections 

5.2.1. The Retail Price Index (RPI) and Consumer Price Index (CPI) 12 month rate, 
as at September 2019, stood at 2.4% and 1.8% respectively.  Inflation 
forecasts are made reflecting the composition of the Council’s expenditure, 
resulting in an inflation rate specific to the Council.

5.2.2. The MTFP presented to members in February 2019 has been updated to 
reflect the latest forecasts on inflation and to roll forward a further 12 months 
to include the 2023/24 financial year. below:

     Inflationary Changes 2020/21 2021/22 2022//23 2023/24
      £ £ £ £

Employee Costs 242,040 221,950 226,500 224,180
Premises Costs 76,100 64,790 65,860 66,960
Transport 3,930 3,220 5,100 5,160
Supplies and Services 196,140 163,110 166,390 169,460
In-Year Inflation Pressure 518,210 453,070 463,850 465,760
 General Fund 369,500 298,130 304,710 306,790
Housing Revenue Account 148,710 154,940 159,140 158,970

Page 99



5.3.  Budgetary Demand

5.3.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan presented to Council in February 2019 
analysed and projected forward both income and expenditure.  This has been 
revised to reflect known changes in budgetary demand.

5.3.2. The current known changes in budgetary demand are highlighted below:- 

5.3.3. In the table above the following items merit further explanation:

 Vehicle Funding - contract hire adjustment – increased costs arising out 
of the replenishment of reserves used to fund SFS contract hire buy-out 
as per Executive report 26th April 2018

 Elections reserve – reduction in the level of annual contribution 
necessary to build up the reserve put in place to meet the costs of the 
next Borough Council election. 

 AES Bulky Collections – A Health & Safety (HSE) enforcement notice 
required operational change in the collection of bulky items. Growth 
includes labour and vehicle costs.

 AES Recyclate handling costs – A potential increase in haulage and gate 
fees compounded by reduced income on the basket of goods received 
for recyclate.

Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
 £ £ £ £
Pension past service deficit costs charged to HRA (24,400) (20,000) (21,000) (21,000)
Uniforms – Customer Services (cyclical) 2,500 (2,500) 2,500 (2,500)
DWP – HB administration grant reduction 20,000 10,000
Local Council Tax Support administration grant 4,500 2,500
War Memorial – Whaley Bridge (50,000)
Vacated Buildings – Residual cost (16,500)
Car park re-lining (10,700)
Vehicle Funding – Contract hire adjustment 76,680 92,190
Elections  reserve contribution (22,000)
Car Park Tickets – printing costs 6,900
Opera House - plasterwork 12,000 (12,000)
Buxton Town Hall – window repairs 50,000 (50,000)
AES – Bulky Collection  - HSE notice 27,300
AES – Recyclate handling costs 62,500
AES – Vehicle premium costs (26,400)
AES – Round growth 11,250
 Total – General Fund 134,330 9,490 (18,500) (23,500)

HRA – Estate Improvements 60,000

Total – Housing Revenue Account 60,000 0 0 0
 

5.24

Page 100



 AES Vehicle Premium costs – the management fee payable to AES 
initially included a vehicle premium to cover the additional cost of short 
term hire vehicles during the procurement of new waste vehicles. As the 
procurement draws to completion, the remaining premium is removed 
from the contract management fee.

5.3.4 In addition to the above, there may be a requirement to include upfront 
increased budget demand in relation to climate change related projects and 
the provision of Facilities Management.    The costs of which will be assessed 
and included within the February version of the MTFP.   

5.4. Budget Growth  

5.4.1. In previous years, few additions in respect of budget growth have been 
included in the MTFP. It was assumed in light of the financial pressures faced 
by the Council, that any local issues that necessitate budget growth will be 
financed by internal spending reductions elsewhere. Occasionally, however, it 
is necessary to include budget growth to meet spending commitments.

5.4.2. No items of budget growth have been included in this version of the Medium 
Term Financial Plan.

5.5. Pensions 

5.5.1. The last triennial actuarial valuation of the Derbyshire Pension Fund took 
place in 2016. At this valuation, the High Peak portion of the Fund was in 
deficit by £22.1 million and was 75% funded.

5.5.2. The 2016 valuation determined the level of contributions necessary for the 
following 3 year period (2017 – 2020). The Council was required to make a 
primary contribution equivalent to 12.4% of pensionable pay plus a payment of 
£1,779,000 per annum, in secondary contributions, to meet the Fund’s past 
service deficit.

5.5.3. A further valuation of the Fund is currently underway. This will set employer 
contribution rates payable between 2020/21 and 2022/23 (years 1-3 of this 
plan). The outcome of the valuation is expected in December.

5.5.4. This iteration of the MTFP includes contribution assumptions in line with 
section 5.5.2 above. Any adjustments arising out of the final valuation report 
will be incorporated in the February update.

5.6. Housing Revenue Account – Other Operating Expenditure 

5.6.1. There are a number of items that relate only to the HRA. They include some 
direct elements of income and expenditure as well as notional charges for 
asset depreciation and debt impairment.

Page 101



5.6.2. The HRA provides for a number of changes to operating expenditure over the 
next four year as set out in the table below:

   
Expenditure / (Income) 2020/21 2021/22 2022//23 2023/24

    
 £ £ £

Provision for Irrecoverable Debts 700 2,770 2,890 2,950
Past Service Pension Deficit Contribution 24,400 20,000 21,000 21,000
 
Increased / (Reduced) Other Operating 
Expenditure 25,100 22,770 23,890 23,950
   

6. FUNDING & INCOME GENERATION

6.1. Council Tax

6.1.1. The Council has the capacity to vary Council Tax levels, following the abolition 
of capping.  However the Council’s ability to increase Council Tax by more 
than a certain percentage is subject to referendum. Government consultation 
is currently on-going regarding the level of this percentage.

6.1.2. In line with the current consultation, this iteration of the MTFP assumes that a 
2.0% Council Tax increase will be implemented throughout the 4 year life of 
this plan.

6.1.3. Provision for tax base growth remains unchanged from the levels assumed in 
February. A provisional figure has been included for Year 4. Further work will 
be carried out in the course of the next few months to recalculate likely 
changes in the tax base. The figures included are shown in the table below: 

Increased Council Tax Income 2020/21 2021/22 2022//23 2023/24

£ £ £ £
Revenue from increased Council Tax (117,260) (120,920) (124,710) (128,750)
Revenue from Tax Base growth (65,660) (68,700) (77,230)  (65,000)

Total (182,920) (189,620) (201,940) (193,750)

6.2. Business Rates Retention  

6.2.1. Under the 50% Business Rates Retention system the Authority retains 40% of 
Business Rates less a tariff that is payable in to a pool of Derbyshire 
Authorities. This amount is then compared to a Funding Baseline (estimated 
at £2,381,430 for 2020/21) and any amount in excess of this Baseline is 
subject to levy, or conversely if the amount of retained Business Rates is 
below this Baseline, the loss is capped by a safety net payment. The MTFP 
does not anticipate the Council falling below the Baseline.

Page 102



6.2.2. As part of the Derbyshire Pool in the 50% retention scheme, the levy is made 
to the Pool instead of Central Government. If the Council was not in the 
Derbyshire Pool it would have to pay 50p in the £1 to the Government as a 
levy, effectively limiting the income the Council can gain from business rates 
growth. However, as part of the Pool, the Council is able to retain some of this 
levy. Under the Pool agreement, this amount will depend on the amount all 
members of the Pool pay in at the end of the year, and the proportional 
success of the Council against its own baseline.

6.2.3. The benefit to the Council of being part of the Pool arrangement is estimated 
to be approximately £300,000 in 2020/21 for this element of the retention 
arrangements.

6.2.4. In October 2015, the Government announced a forthcoming package of 
reforms to the Business Rates Retention System including a move to local 
government retaining 100% of the rates that they received (subsequently 
being revised to a 75% scheme) with an end to Revenue Support Grant.  The 
75% scheme will now not be introduced until 2021/22 at the earliest.

6.2.5. The MTFP anticipates that Business Rates retention will be above the 
baseline. Net Business Rate income is somewhat suppressed due to the 
award of reliefs including increased small business rate relief including the 
changes in thresholds, multiplier cap, extended rural relief, supporting small 
businesses relief, retail discount and local discretionary relief; and the 
increase in the provision for rateable value (RV) reductions on successful 
appeals, including ATM RV changes. 

6.2.6. To compensate for the loss of business rates income resulting from the reliefs, 
funding has to date been made available to Councils under Section 31 of the 
Local Government Act 2003. The MTFP assumes both the extension of reliefs 
and equivalent Section 31 grants will continue. 

6.2.7. Changes in the level of the Council’s business rates will be impacted by a 
range of factors, including business growth in the area. At this stage, predicted 
levels of business rates income are based on known and expected changes to 
the business rates listing. 

Business Rates Retention 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £
In year:
      Baseline Funding (2,381,430) (2,434,250) (2,488,240) (2,543,420)
      Achievement against Baseline 321,830 85,020 64,690 33,920
      Section 31 Grant (1,608,290) (1,418,750) (1,448,730) (1,484,380)

(3,667,890) (3,767,980) (3,872,280) (3,993,880)
Change between years:
      Business Rates retained (429,090) (289,630) (74,320) (85,950)
      Section 31 Grant 399,250 189,540 (29,980) (35,650)

(29,840) (100,090) (104,300) (121,600)

Page 103



6.3. Collection Fund

6.3.1. The Council maintains a Collection Fund to record the receipt of Council Tax 
and Business Rates and their distribution to precepting authorities. Any 
surplus or deficit generated is distributed or recovered from the preceptors in 
subsequent years.

6.3.2. It is expected that the High Peak’s share of a surplus, in respect of Council 
Tax, will be £69,240 in 2020/21.

6.3.3. It is assumed that a surplus, after providing for appeals, of £704,390 will be 
distributed in 2020/21 in respect of retained Business Rates generated in the 
current and previous years. High Peak’s share of this surplus will be 
£281,760. It is assumed the Business Rates element of the collection fund will 
break even in future years, leaving no surplus or deficit for distribution.

6.3.4. These and future year movements are set out in the table below:

Changes in Collection Fund Income 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £
Council Tax 9,970 22,760 (440) 10,530
Business Rates (174,090) 281,760 0 0

Total (164,120) 304,520 (440) 10,530

6.4. Income from Government Grants

  Revenue Support Grant  
 
6.4.1. In October 2015, Government announced the phasing out of Revenue 

Support Grant (RSG). 2018/19 was the final year of RSG grant; none will be 
received in throughout the life of the plan.

  New Homes Bonus

6.4.2. New Homes Bonus (NHB) is aimed at encouraging local authorities to grant 
planning permission for the building of new houses, in return for additional 
revenue.

6.4.3. The bonus is paid on the increase in occupied homes in the Borough 
compared with the previous year. This payment is subject to certain 
conditions:
 The bonus is only paid on development in excess of a national 

‘deadweight’ threshold (currently 0.4% of the tax base). This threshold 
represents the percentage of housing that would have been built anyway. 

Page 104



For High Peak, the current threshold is the equivalent of 165 properties. 
The Government had indicated that it intended to raise the threshold in 
2019/20, but deferred this decision in the short term, leaving the 
deadweight threshold at 0.4%. The possibility remains of this threshold 
increasing in the future and should it happen; this would reduce the value 
of future New Homes Bonus receipts.

 Once awarded New Homes Bonus is currently paid for the following 4 
years.

6.4.4. The current financial year represents the final year of funding agreed through 
the 2015 Spending Review. Uncertainties remain as to the Government’s 
intention with regard to the future of New Homes Bonus. There is therefore a 
risk that the system may change fundamentally during the life of this Plan with 
the consequent impact on the Council’s funding. Any changes to the scheme 
will be subject to a Government consultation exercise.

6.4.5. Given the above; this iteration of the MTFP is based on the current 
arrangements and includes New Home Bonus receipts of £2.766 million over 
the next 4 years.  However; these amounts assume no detrimental increase in 
the Government’s (0.4%) ‘deadweight’ threshold.

6.4.6. Based on the latest tax base growth figures, additional New Homes Bonus of 
£243,610 has been estimated for 2020/21.

6.4.7. The Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme anticipates £120,000 in 
additional New Homes Bonus over the next 4 years, arising out of stimulated 
housing growth. Any future detrimental change to the deadweight’ threshold 
would make this target more difficult to achieve.

  Local Council Tax Support Scheme

6.4.8. The Council operates a scheme whereby funding received from central 
Government in respect of Local Council Tax Support is passed onto the 
parishes by means of an annual grant. The allocation of this grant is based on 
the eligibility of parish residents for council tax discounts. 

6.4.9. The level of resources made available for this grant has remained constant in 
spite of reductions in overall Government funding. The MTFP assumes that 
this approach will continue at a cost to the Council of £51,320 pa

6.4.10. Under the Borough’s Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy the basis of the 
model underlying this scheme is currently being reviewed.  The result of this 
review, including any budgetary consequences, will be built into future 
iterations of the MTFP. 

Page 105



  Summary of Income from Government Grants 

6.4.11. The table below summarises the assumed level of and movement in 
Government funding: 

Government Grant
(gain) / loss of 

funding
2016/17 

(baseline)
2017-2019 

(actual)
PYs

2019/20 
(forecast)

2020/21 
(forecast)

2021/22 
(forecast)

2022/23 
(forecast)

2023/24 
(forecast)

 £ £ £ £ £ £
Revenue Support 
Grant

(1,124,580) 1,124,580 - - - - -

New Homes Bonus (773,320) 241,510 (28,240) (80,610) (44,860) (78,510) 88,410

Change in Govt 
Funding 

(1,897,900) 1,366,090 (28,240) (80,610) (44,860) (78,510) 88,410

6.4.12. The changes shown in the table above mean that the Government grant 
funding received by the Council will have reduced to £675,620 by 2023/24 
compared to the £1,897,900 received in 2016/17.

6.5. Fees and Charges

  General Fees and Charges

6.5.1. Charging for local services makes a significant contribution to the Council’s 
finances. The Council also uses charging to influence individual choices and 
behaviour, and to bring other benefits to local communities.  The Council’s 
Charging Policy sets out the following principles for establishing the level of 
fees and charges:  
 The cost of providing services should be fully met by income
 There is a standard approach to concessions for those on low incomes
 Where a subsidy is agreed, this should be used to support the 

development of Council services in accordance with priorities
 Subsidies should be reconfirmed annually

6.5.2. The annual revision of the Council’s fees and charges will take place over the 
next few months.  The outcome of which will be reported in February.

6.5.3. The Medium Term Financial Plan currently projects that the Council will 
increase fees and charges (and other income) broadly in line with inflation.  
However, it is also recognised that certain income streams (such as car 
parking, planning receipts) may not increase each year and that other income 
streams (such as grants and rental income) are fixed or subject to periodic 
review.

Page 106



6.5.4. The underlying annual total expected from inflationary increases to fees and 
charges was set at £25,000 in the MTFP approved in February 2018. This 
assumption is maintained in this iteration of the Plan, recognising the potential 
overlap with income generation themes included in the Efficiency Programme.

6.5.5. The projected revenue from increased fees and charges (and other income) is 
summarised in the table below:

Increased Fees and Changes 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£ £ £ £

Revenue from increased Fees and Charges (55,000) (55,000) (55,000) (55,000)
Increase in statutory planning fees - - - -
Increase in planning income (activity led) (10,000) - - -
Total (65,000) (55,000) (55,000) (55,000)

  Housing Revenue Account – Rent Charges 

6.5.6. The Government announced in July 2015 far reaching legislative and financial 
changes for the social housing sector, the most significant financially being the 
announcement to reduce rents by 1% per annum from April 2016 for 4 years.  

6.5.7. The Government subsequently announced in October 2017 that after the four 
year 1% rent reduction ends in 2019/20, Authorities will then be able to 
increase rents from 2020/21 by CPI +1%.

6.5.8. Therefore, the current HRA Plan projects a 2.7% increase from 2020/21.  It 
also assumes that ‘Other Charges’, including garages and service charges, 
will increase in 2020/21 – 2023/24.  

Rental Income 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£ £ £ £

Revenue from Rental Income and Other Charges (77,000) (276,920) (289,500) (294,800)

6.5.9. As part of the HRA review, a revised rent policy was presented to the HRA 
working group during 2017/18, which aimed to increase income targets (and 
partially offset the HRA Financial Improvement Plan savings targets).   

6.5.10. This included a review of current service charges to ascertain the cost to the 
Council in providing services.  The review revealed that the cost in providing 
services was higher than the service charge paid by tenants.  It was proposed 
therefore, to increase current service charges paid by current tenants by a 
maximum of 5% per annum – to limit the financial impact (this would be the 
equivalent of a maximum of £1.18p per week) up to the point the actual 
service charge matches the actual cost.      

6.5.11. It was also proposed that for new tenants, ‘formula’ rent is charged – which in 
most cases is slightly higher than current rent.  In addition, if any services are 
provided as part of the tenancy, the service charge will be based on the actual 
cost in providing the services.  The rent and service charge is fully advertised 
prior to a new tenant taking a tenancy. 

5.32

Page 107



6.5.12. In September 2018, the Department of Works and Pensions rolled out its ‘full’ 
service in High Peak – meaning that all new claims from single people and 
families (of working age) of the six legacy benefits (including Housing Benefit) 
will be replaced by Universal Credit (UC).  

6.5.13. Due to the many changes (UC is paid direct to the tenant rather than the 
Landlord, there have been some issues with waiting times on receiving 
payment etc) this may have a potential negative impact on rent collection.  No 
reduction in rental income due to this has been included in this MTFP, but it is 
flagged as a risk at this stage and is included in the HRA Business Plan action 
plan.

7. RISKS, CONTINGENCIES & USE OF RESERVES

7.1. Risks and Contingencies

7.1.1. The early identification and management of risks is critical to the Medium 
Term Financial Planning process. Risks to the MTFP are assessed, mitigated 
and actively managed to ensure that the Council delivers its services 
effectively within the funding at its disposal. The principal risks to the Medium 
Term Financial Plan are summarised in ANNEX C.

7.1.2. The table below highlights specific financial risks that are embedded within 
this Medium Term Financial Plan: 

Revenue Risks Capital Risks
 Inflationary assumptions
 Interest rates
 Housing benefits
 Fees and charges
 Universal Credit
 Business Rates 
 Council Tax collection
 Housing Rent levels (HRA 

affordability)
 Government grants
 Financial benefits from partnerships 

/ shared services
 Pension costs
 Contract Management 

 Interest rates 
 External funding
 Capital receipts
 Capacity to deliver capital 

programme
 Project overspend
 Project overrun
 External factors (e.g. planning 

objections, judicial reviews etc. 
leading to project delay)

 Housing finance 
 Weather 

Britain’s Exit from the European Union 

7.1.3. At this stage it is impossible to predict the impact of the Brexit process on the 
Authority’s finances and financial planning – now further complicated by the 
General Election taking place on 12th December 2019.   

Page 108



7.1.4. It has the potential to influence a number of local and national economic 
drivers such as inflation, interest rates, the valuation of assets and liabilities 
and the demand for and funding of services.  

7.1.5. Currently the timing and direction of Brexit’s influence on these areas is a 
matter of debate.  To give an idea of the potential financial consequences the 
table below quantifies the impact on the Authority’s current 2020/21 budget 
had there been a 1% change in its key economic drivers.
Risk item Impact on 2020/21
1 % change in inflation 290,000
1 % change in interest rates 120,150

Contingencies

7.1.6. The Medium Term Financial Plan is underpinned by a number of assumptions. 
These assumptions have been made in the light of currently available 
information. New information, when it emerges, may require the Council to 
alter its assumptions with a consequential effect on the financial position.

7.1.7. Key risk areas will be closely monitored and reviewed on an ongoing basis 
and remedial action taken.  Members will receive quarterly updates on 
performance against the budget. The Council will carry adequate reserves as 
a contingency against risks that cannot be fully mitigated.

5.1.1. The Council carries reserves as a contingency for situations where risks 
cannot be fully mitigated. Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 
requires the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) to report on the robustness of the 
estimates included in the budget and the adequacy of the reserves that the 
budget provides.  The Council is currently required to hold a general 
(contingency) reserve of £1,203,000 to meet unforeseen expenditure. 

7.2.  Use of Reserves and Balances  

  General Fund Reserves and Balances

7.2.1. The February 2019 Medium Term Financial Plan included a £6,550 
contribution from General Fund Reserves in 2019/20 in respect of Section 106 
(Commuted Sum). The assumed level of Section 106 reserve usage reduces 
to £1,640 throughout the remaining life of this plan.

7.2.2. The February 2019 MTFP also anticipated contributions into the General Fund 
contingency over the lifetime of the plan. This continues to be the case.

7.2.3. The Quarter Two report forecasts that there will be a surplus against budget of 
approximately £252,870. During 2019/20 the Council anticipates using 
£14,450 of contingency reserves to support capital expenditure. The level of 
contingency reserve will also however have a significant boost as £800,000 of 
previously earmarked funds are released for general activities. The result of 
these movements is that it is now forecast that there will be a net contribution 
into General Fund contingency reserves of £1,039,960 in 2019/20.  

Page 109



7.2.4. Financial assumptions have been updated as part of this plan, but at this 
stage, no movement to or from contingency reserves have been included so 
the plan remains unbalanced – this will be updated in February.  However, 
based on the deficit/surplus position in  ANNEX D (and excluding the 
£800,000 re-designation referred to above) the anticipated contribution to 
reserves would be some £362,540 more than reported in February 2019:

Reserve / Balance 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 TOTAL
 £ £ £ £ £ £
General Fund (use)/contribution to 
reserves – February 2019 1,540 123,600 100,620 253,390 0 479,150

       General Fund (use)/contribution to 
reserves – November 2019 239,960 263,530 (72,600) 196,560 214,240 841,690

       Change in use of reserves 238,420 139,930 173,220 56,830 214,240 362,540
       

  HRA Reserves and Balances

7.2.5. The HRA balance is made up of surpluses that have accumulated over a 
number of years.  The Council retains a minimum of £1 million (approximately 
£250 per property) in order to cover unexpected events that could - if realised 
– trigger financial pressures.

7.2.6. Due to the strict ring-fencing rules that apply to the HRA, any funds set aside 
form part of HRA reserves. The table below summarises the projected HRA 
reserves position for the duration of this MTFP.
 HRA Working Balance – this reserve is the excess of income after 

expenditure in any given year and is set aside to provide for both capital 
and revenue expenditure demands in the future.

 Housing Contingency Reserve – this reserve is set aside to provide a 
contingency against any unforeseen costs.

 Stock Condition Reserve – this reserve is set aside to provide for major 
void works and any unforeseen costs.

 Capital Investment Fund – this reserve is set aside to smooth peaks and 
troughs of capital expenditure following adoption of the results of the 
stock condition survey and also to smooth the cost of borrowing required 
to fund any capital expenditure within the HRA. 

 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
 £ £ £ £ £
HRA Reserves Brought Forward 12,606,682 13,759,148 13,759,148 14,327,538 14,327,538
Surplus/(Loss) for the year* 1,407,594 (767,370) 568,390 (365,660) 2,139,840
Transfers to / from reserves (255,128) 767,370 0 365,660 0
HRA Working Balance 13,759,148 13,759,148 14,327,538 14,327,538 16,467,378
Housing Contingency Reserve 457,560 457,560 457,560 457,560 457,560
Stock Condition Reserve 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000
Total Working Balance carried forward 14,316,708 14,316,708 14,885,098 14,885,098 17,024,938
Capital Investment Fund carried forward 1,500,000 732,630 732,630 366,970 366,970
Total HRA Reserves carried forward 15,816,708 15,049,338 15,617,728 15,252,068 17,391,908

*as forecast in the Q2 report and this version of the MTFP

Page 110



7.2.7. It can be seen from the table above that the HRA balance is projected to 
significantly exceed its £1 million contingency minimum over the next four 
years. 

8. MTFP REVENUE POSITION  

8.1. General Fund Revenue Position

8.1.1. The medium term General Fund revenue position is as set out in the table 
below:

     
Summary Revenue Position 2020/21 2021/22 2022//23 2023/24

     
 £ £ £ £

Revenue Consequences of Capital Spend (section 4.3) 117,090 237,300 39,910 19,270

Interest Rate Changes (section 5.1) 61,870 (7,960) (76,780) (20,180)

Borrowing Costs (section 5.1) 67,480 (172,480) (175,010) (28,650)

Inflation Pressures (section 5.2) 369,500 298,130 304,710 306,790

Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand (section 5.3) 134,330 9,490 (18,500) (23,500)

Budget Growth (section 5.4) - - - -

Increased Council Tax Income (section 6.1) (182,920) (189,620) (201,940) (193,750)

Business Rates Retention (section 6.2) (29,840) (100,090) (104,300) (121,600)

Changes in Collection Fund (section 6.3) (164,120) 304,520 (440) 10,530

Reduction in Government Grant (section 6.4) (80,610) (44,860) (78,510) 88,410

Additional Fees and Charges (section  6.5) (65,000) (55,000) (55,000) (55,000)

Contribution to Reserves & Balances (section 7) 3,370 - - -

 
In Year Change in Position 231,150 279,430 (365,860) (17,680)

Efficiency & Rationalisation Plan (section 4.4) (504,680) - - -
Growth efficiencies realised 10,000 56,700 96,700 -
 
Budget (Surplus) / Deficit (263,530) 336,130 (269,160) (17,680)
Cumulative (Surplus) / Deficit (263,530) 72,600 (196,560) (214,240)

8.1.2. Annex D shows the projected General Fund revenue position in detail.

Page 111



8.2. Housing Revenue Account Revenue Position

8.2.1. The medium term Housing Revenue Account revenue position is as set out in 
the table below.

Summary Revenue Position 2020/21 2021/22 2022//23 2023/24
 £ £ £ £

Budget (surplus) / deficit  brought forward (261,660) 767,370 (568,390) 365,660

Revenue consequence of Capital spend (section 4.3) 1,273,800 (1,199,380) 1,048,940 (2,304,140)

Interest Rate Changes (section 5.1) 27,990 (41,520) (70) (42,020)

Borrowing Costs (section 5.1) (99,570) 4,350 (8,350) (47,460)

Inflation Pressures (Section 5.2) 148,710 154,940 159,140 158,970

Increased / reduced budget demand  (section 5.3) 60,000 0 0 0

Increased / reduced budget growth  (section 5.4) 0 0 0 0

Increase in Other Operating Expenditure (section 5.6)** 25,100 22,770 23,890 23,950

Reduction in Rent and Other Charges  (section 6.5) (77,000) (276,920) (289,500) (294,800)
 
In Year Change in Position 1,097,370 (568,390) 365,660 (2,139,840)

HRA Rationalisation Plan (section 4.4)** (330,000) 0 0 0
Budget (Surplus) / Deficit 767,370 (568,390) 365,660 (2,139,840)

8.2.2. Annex D shows the projected Housing Revenue Account revenue position in 
detail.

9. CONSULTATION

9.1. The Council is committed to consulting with residents and other stakeholders 
to help inform the budget setting process and spending priorities/non-
priorities. A variety of techniques have been used and the approaches have 
been iterative, building year on year on what has gone before. The Council 
already holds comprehensive information gathered about residents’ spending 
priorities. Much of this information was gathered in times of rising expenditure. 
The financial challenges for the Council are now very different. 

9.2. The consultation process for the 2020/21 Budget is currently being planned in 
conjunction with the revised Corporate Plan.  It is likely that this will be 
undertaken via an online communication available on the Council’s website, 
which summarises the financial challenges and invites comment on the plan.   

Page 112



9.3. It will be particularly important that the Council, as it makes difficult budgetary 
decisions, is able to evidence that it has considered the impact of its decisions 
on groups with protected characteristics.

Page 113



ANNEX A  
Proposed Capital Programme – General Fund

Capital Schemes 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total

 £ £ £ £ £ £

Asset Management       
Public Buildings  1,514,580     630,920     716,000              -    1,332,640   4,194,140 
Car Parks     489,530  1,080,000              -         84,000              -     1,653,530 
Public Conveniences              -       100,000     122,610     188,100              -        410,710 
Waterways Infrastructure     366,640              -       382,370     213,950     100,000   1,062,960 
Leisure Centres         8,550     314,440     534,000              -                -        856,990 
Depots & Park Buildings         5,000       10,000     171,570              -         35,000      221,570 

 2,384,300 2,135,360 1,926,550 486,050 1,467,640 8,399,900
       
       

Housing(RTB 1 for 1)       27,000 
     

667,000 
     

374,000 
     

504,000 
     

504,000   2,076,000 
       

Housing Grants 556,840 489,110 489,110 489,110
     

489,110 2,513,280
       

ICT
     

135,000 87,050       50,000       50,000       50,000 372,050
       

Fleet Management 
  

2,467,010 1,119,780
     

322,500 
     

147,000 
     

311,140 4,367,430
       
Other Schemes       
Play Facilities     193,000       34,450              -                -                -        227,450 
Country Parks              -                -                -                -                -                -   
Cemeteries              -                -                -                -                -                -   
Conservation/Heritage              -   45,000       45,000              -                -         90,000 
Market Town Regeneration 337,780       39,930              -                -                -        377,710 
Leisure Centres              -                -                -                -                -                -   
CCTV       50,000              -                -                -                -         50,000 

 580,780 119,380 45000              -                -   745,160
       

Total Programme 6,150,930 4,617,680 3,207,160 1,676,160 2,821,890 18,473,820

Funding of Programme       
External Contributions 646,640     489,110     489,110     489,110     489,110 2,603,080
Planning Obligations 33,000              -                -                -                -         33,000 
Capital receipts 1,047,090 1,875,000 2,172,480 683,050 1,774,470 7,552,090
Capital receipts (One for One) 27,000 667,000 374,000 504,000 504,000 2,076,000
Capital reserves 500,000              -                -                -                -        500,000 
Earmarked Reserves 64,450              -                -                -                -   64,450
Borrowing 3,832,750 1,586,570 171,570              -   54,310 5,645,200

 6,150,930 4,617,680 3,207,160 1,676,160 2,821,890 18,473,820

Page 114



ANNEX A 

Proposed Capital Projections (2019/20 to 2023/24) – Council Dwellings (HRA)  

Scheme
 Budget 
2019/20 

 Budget 
2020/21 

 Budget 
2021/22 

 Budget 
2022/23 

Budget 
2023/24 Total

 £  £  £  £  £  £  £  £ 
ASSET MANAGEMENT WORKS:      
Roofing Works 75,000 561,760 187,560 332,040 96,720 1,253,080
Kitchens 554,170 954,170 954,180 614,010 112,920 3,189,450
Bathrooms 266,000 337,840 536,590 248,570 109,950 1,498,950
Central Heating 276,500 224,630 134,590 399,030 171,870 1,206,620
Electrical Works  424,000 409,430 549,250 799,020 647,350 2,829,050
Aids & Adaptations 391,740 295,000 295,000 295,000 295,000 1,571,740
Structural Works 191,500 0 0 0 0 191,500
Lift Replacements 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000
Commercial Boiler Renewal 94,000 120,000 0 0 0 214,000
Works to Communal Areas 104,000 141,270 12,640 222,140 55,870 535,920
Window Replacement Programme 60,000 847,930 611,670 512,000 462,910 2,494,510
Door Replacement Programme 0 347,430 7,090 430,510 106,190 891,220
Environmental & Other Works 0 145,080 139,090 204,280 113,680 602,130
Non Traditional Works 0 185,000 185,000 185,000 185,000 740,000

 2,536,910 4,669,540 3,712,660 4,341,600 2,457,460 17,718,170
REPAIRS TEAM CAPITAL WORKS:
Void Rewires  70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 350,000
Void Kitchens  155,000 155,000 155,000 155,000 155,000 775,000
Void Bathrooms  70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 350,000
 295,000 295,000 295,000 295,000 295,000 1,475,000
STAFFING:
Staffing Recharges/ Commissioning 
Costs 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000
 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000
ASSET PURCHASES:
Vehicle Purchasing 0 242,500 0 420,000 0 662,500

0 242,500 0 420,000 0 662,500
 
TOTAL SPEND 2,931,910 5,307,040 4,107,660 5,156,600 2,852,460 20,355,670

Page 115



 ANNEX B

Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (2017/18 – 2020/21)

Efficiency 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Major Procurements      
Waste Collection etc. 100 200 100 100 500
Leisure Centres - - - 400 400
Facilities Management - 75 - - 75
 100 275 100 500 975
Asset Management      
Asset Rationalisation - 30 200 - 230
 - 30 200 - 230
Growth      
Housing Growth - 40 40 40 120
Business Growth - - - 150 150
 - 40 40 190 270
Income Generation      
Fees & Charges - 120 - 120 240
Pavilion Gardens 40 60 70 - 170
Advertising / Sponsorship 50 10 - - 60
Enhanced Trading - - - - -
 90 190 70 120 470
Rationalisation      
Management Staffing 100 - - - 100
Channel Shift - - - - -
Parish Grants - 26 20 - 46
Service Rationalisation 20 20 - - 40
 120 46 20 - 186
      
TOTAL 310 581 430 810 2,131
      

The above programme has been reprofiled to take account of any changes to the 
expected timing of savings:- 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL
£ £ £ £ £

Original Programme 310,000 581,000 430,000 810,000 2,131,000
Amended Programme 388,000 449,000 789,000 505,000 2,131,000
Variance - (132,000) 359,000 (305,000) -

Page 116



HRA Financial Improvement Plan (2017/18 – 2021/22)

Potential
Annual Reduction

HRA Review Focus Savings Description

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Initial reduction in voluntary repayment of debt 
(currently £1.25 million per annum) – to be 
benchmarked – maximum annual reduction

250,000
Capital Financing

*Further reduction dependent on stock 
condition survey information – i.e. if an increase 
in capital expenditure is required, reduction in 
MRP could offset

*potential 
further 

reduction

New tenancies – commence at higher of ‘social 
rent rate or ‘assumed rent rate’ (less 1% during 
rent reduction period) plus any service charges 
where calculated

30,000 30,000 30,000

Review of services charges – ensuring full cost 
is rechargeable by accurately recording costs 
associated with specific properties/reducing 
costs of services provided  
De-pooling basic rent and service charges

5,000 5,000

Review of leasehold management 
arrangements (service charges) – to ensure we 
reflect the cost of providing services in the 
charging process and/or to highlight where 
costs are high and the service provided 
requires review

10,000 10,000

Rental Income – 
introduction of new 
rent policy

Other, for example: 
- annual rent amendments carried out in-

house removing of consultant
- review of payment methods
- maximising garage rental income
- Repairs recharges – ensuring all 

rechargeable repairs are billed correctly

15,000 15000

Staffing structures – 
service review 
process

Post service review completion, removal of 
vacancies where responsibilities are now 
covered by joint service arrangements  

200,000

Productivity improvements (review of processes  
internally) increased on-contract expenditure, 
capturing back office savings post service 
review

85,000 50,000
Repairs and 
Maintenance – overall 
reduction in 
expenditure  

Implementation of an alternative service 
delivery model and / or further improvements in 
productivity and procurement savnigs

150,000

ICT Costs – reduction 
in costs 

Streamlining of systems, saving annual 
license/software fees, removing duplication and 
releasing Officer time.  Focus on using the 
remaining systems more effectively. 

25,000 25,000

Increased income from improvements in voids 
turn around times and review of tenancy 
commencements

20,000 20,000
Voids review

Reduction in expenditure from a review of voids 
maintenance works carried out 30,000 30,000

Tenancy 
Arrangements

Review of tenancy and neighbourhood 
management processes 15,000

Stock Condition 
surveys

Disposal of surplus stock after consideration of 
net present value assessment following 
completion of stock condition survey

150,000

Total Annual Saving 625,000 185,000 60,000 330,000

Page 117



ANNEX C

Medium Term Financial Plan – Principal Risks

Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls

Financial 
Implications

Robustness of financial 
assumptions within Efficiency 
and Rationalisation Strategy

Structured project management 
arrangements have been put in place with 
detailed business cases for each initiative – 
these will be strengthened in the service 
review process

Financial 
Implications

Additional financial pressures 
emerge – cost & income 

The strategy is kept under constant review 
and adjustments will be made where 
necessary

Service 
Continuity

Interruptions to key services or 
performance standards

Resource implications and impact are 
identified as part of the business case 
process. Service continuity and 
maintenance of standards of service are 
key requirements of any new proposals

Corporate 
Governance

Maintaining stakeholder 
confidence; lack of clarity on 
accountability

Ongoing review of standards of internal 
control (e.g. Financial Procedure Rules 
reviewed and updated). Internal Audit Plan 
will be reviewed to account for the new 
approach proposed in the efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy

Management of 
Change

Management of corporate and 
local, cultural change; 
behavioural risks; residual 
effects of aggregation; 
proposed changes to 
organisational structure, roles 
& responsibilities

Progress with achievement of aims will be 
monitored through an effective performance 
management structure. Investment has 
been made in a new approach to 
Organisational Development.

People Risks Impact of cultural changes;
assessment of skills; 
recruitment & retention;
capacity issues

Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme

Key Projects & 
Partnerships

Managing changes to shared 
service delivery arrangements

The project management methodology 
provides for an adequate transition where 
there are changes in service delivery
  

Page 118



Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls

Performance 
Management

Adequacy of framework to 
monitor transition

Risk management processes are 
embedded

Reputation and 
Relationship 
Risks

Maintaining existing partner 
confidence

Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme

Programme 
Delivery

Delays in implementation of 
efficiency savings

Effective governance arrangements in place 
to monitor plans. 

Executive Directors and Senior Managers 
own delivery of efficiencies. 

Executive Director (Transformation) 
appointed as programme director. 

Programme 
Delivery

A number of the efficiency / 
rationalisation initiatives are 
not achieved

Structured project management approach is 
in place for delivery including effective 
exception reporting

The strategy is kept under constant review

Identification of further efficiency / 
rationalisation opportunities through 
benchmarking / effective member working 
groups
  

Political Support Lack of Members support for 
Plan.

Regular reporting and member briefings 
including effective scrutiny arrangements

5.41

Page 119



ANNEX D

Proposed Revenue Projections (2020/21 to 2023/24) – General Fund  

Budget Heading
2020/21  

Projection
2021/22  

Projection
2022/23  

Projection
2023/24  

Projection
 £ £ £ £
Employees 10,518,160 10,740,110 10,966,610 11,190,790
Premises 4,257,730 4,322,520 4,388,380 4,455,340
Transport 404,900 408,120 413,220 418,380
Supplies & Services 9,205,780 9,385,880 9,554,770 9,721,730

Benefits
           

82,460          82,460          82,460         82,460
Borrowing 1,988,330 2,073,920 1,983,280 2,000,900
Parish Grant re Council Tax Support 51,320 51,320 51,320 51,320
Financing Costs 22,130 22,130 22,130 22,130
     
Total Expenditure 26,530,810 27,086,460 27,462,170 27,943,050
     

Fees and Charges / Other Income
     

(7,180,010)   (7,222,510)    (7,277,510)   (7,332,510)

Interest Receipts 
        

(172,520)      (201,250)       (322,490)      (369,670)

HRA Recharges
     

(8,008,720)   (8,183,660)    (8,363,800)   (8,543,770)

Capital Recharges
        

(231,240)      (231,240)       (231,240)      (231,240)
     
Net Expenditure 10,938,320 11,247,800 11,267,130 11,465,860
     

Council Tax
     

(6,045,980)   (6,235,600)    (6,437,540)   (6,631,290)

Business Rates Retention
     

(3,667,890)   (3,767,980)    (3,872,280)   (3,993,880)

New Homes Bonus
        

(640,660)      (685,520)       (764,030)      (675,620)

Contribution to / (use of) Reserves
           

(1,640)          (1,640)          (1,640)         (1,640)
Contribution to / (use of) Balances                    0                  0                  0                 0

Collection Fund
        

(351,000)        (46,480)        (46,920)       (36,390)
     

Total Financing
   

(10,707,170)
 

(10,737,220)  (11,122,410) (11,338,820)
     

Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus)
          

231,150        510,580         144,720        127,040
     

Efficiency Requirement (cumulative)
        

(504,680)      (504,680)       (504,680)      (504,680)

Growth Efficiency realised (cumulative)
           

10,000          66,700         163,400        163,400
     

Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus)
        

(263,530)          72,600       (196,560)      (214,240)
     

Page 120



ANNEX D

Proposed Revenue Projections (2020/21 to 2032/24) – Housing Revenue Account 

Budget Heading
2020/21  

Projection
2021/22

Projection
2022/23  

Projection
2023/24  

Projection
 £ £ £ £

Repairs & Maintenance 4,289,800 4,386,330 4,485,070 4,584,050
Supervision & Management 2,608,650 2,667,060 2,727,460 2,787,450
Rates, Rents, Taxes, Charges 113,030 113,030 113,030 113,030
Other Operating Expenditure 761,550 784,320 808,210 832,160
Depreciation & Impairment Charges 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030
Interest & Debt Management Charges 2,711,730 2,674,560 2,666,140 2,576,660
HRA Contribution to Capital Programme 3,208,010 2,008,630 3,057,570 753,430
 
Total Expenditure 15,791,800 14,732,960 15,956,510 13,745,810
 
Dwellings Rents (14,394,990) (14,671,910) (14,961,410) (15,256,210)
Non - Dwelling Rents & Other Income (629,440) (629,440) (629,440) (629,440)
 
Total Income (15,024,430) (15,301,350) (15,590,850) (15,885,650)
 
(Surplus) / Deficit for year 767,370 (568,390) 365,660 (2,139,840)

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

4 December 2019

TITLE: Car Parking: Pay and Display Machine 
Upgrades

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Damien Greenhalgh – Executive 
Councillor for Regeneration, Tourism and 
Leisure

CONTACT OFFICER: Katy Webster - Head of Assets

WARDS INVOLVED: Various 

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The purpose of the report is to consider the options around replacing and 
upgrading the pay and display machines across the Council’s income producing 
car parks. 

2. Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive approves:

 The plans to renew all 31 of the pay and display parking machines in the 
Council’s off street car parks in the next financial year 2020/21. 

 That pay and display machines will have both coin and card payment 
options and will remove the need for customers to input their car registration 
details. 

 A capital budget of circa £150,000-£170,000 for the project. 
 Authority to agree the contractual position with the procured supplier 

regarding the purchase, installation and ongoing maintenance of the 
machines is delegated to the Executive Director of Transformation and Chief 
Finance Officer.

 Authority to agree changes to additional connected contracts to facilitate the 
implementation of the machines is delegated to the Executive  Director of 
Transformation and Chief Finance Officer. 

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The Council’s off-street car parks are an important provision for residents and 
visitors and the experience of using the service can leave a lasting impression.

3.2 The Council operates 24 off-street car parks – 6 free and 18 chargeable - with a 

Page 123

Agenda Item 7



total of 1,952 parking bays in the borough. Annual income from the car parks 
(excluding Penalty Charge Notice income and a management contribution from 
Derbyshire County Council) was £1,158,000 in 2018/19 which then makes a 
contribution to support and other indirect costs after direct costs of £782,000 
have been applied.

3.3 The Council’s 31 coin only pay and display machines that serve the off-street 
car parks are now 15 years old. The technology used in these machines is 
some way behind the modern payment technology and user functionality now 
available on the market. The Council regularly deals with complaints from 
customers centred around the lack of cashless payment options and change is 
not given from the machines. Further feedback has suggested the removal of 
the need to input vehicle registrations into machines, thus allowing parking 
tickets to become transferable. 

3.4 The Council’s incumbent ticket machine supplier is Metric and they also supply 
the Council’s neighbouring boroughs in Derbyshire and Staffordshire. Officers 
have had informal discussions with Metric about the options and costs for 
updating the machines to accept cashless payments. Metric have given 
indicative costs depending on the type of machines and the nature of the roll 
out. 

3.5 Should the Council look to replace all 31 machines in the next financial year, 
indicative costs suggest a capital investment in the region of £150,000 - 
£170,000. This will depend on whether the Council can benefit from economies 
of scale in bulk ordering the machines will its strategic alliance partner, 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council who are considering a similar report.

3.6 Adoption of cashless technologies should not yet be at the detriment of 
accepting coins too. Methods of paying by way of smart phone are also an 
option that is being considered by the County Parking Board as it has wider 
implications for methods of civil enforcement. Adoption of these payment 
methods have an impact on the cost of operating the service.

3.7 Should this report be approved, the next step will be to undertake due diligence 
to ensure that the Council is receiving value for money through its procurement 
procedures. 

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 Included in aim three of the Corporate Plan is the objective of providing car 
parking to meet the needs of residents, visitors and businesses. Adoption of this 
report will start the process of improving the car parking facilities for motorists. 

5. Alternative Options

5.1 Option 1: Replace with new, all 31 ticket machines in the next financial year 
2020-2021. Recommended. This option would allow the Council to benefit from 
lower capital investment costs due to economies of scale. New machines would 

Page 124



lower the risk of machines breaking down resulting in reduced income and 
additional maintenance costs Additional functionality of cashless technology will 
improve the customer experience and use of the car parks. There is a potential 
for lost income from overpayments as customers are likely to use a card rather 
that overpay and also increased costs of processing car payments.  

5.2 Option 2: Not renew the exiting machines. Not Recommended.  New cashless 
technology could not be implemented. The exiting requirement to enter 
registrations could be removed at an approximate cost of £12,400. Maintenance 
costs are likely to continue to increase year on year and the resulting loss of 
income to the Council. The machines are unlikely to meet the needs of 
residents, customers and visitors and therefore not meet the corporate objective 
as set out in section 4 above. 

5.3 Option 3: Undertake a phased replacement over a three year period, targeting 
the busiest and highest grossing ticket machines first. Not recommended. The 
advantages are that a capital investment could be phased over three years, 
however additional costs would be encountered as the old machines would still 
require an upgrade and software configuration to remove the requirement for 
vehicle registration information. The Council would also not benefit from the 
economies of scale of bulk ordering machines with Staffordshire Moorlands 
District Council. The new machines have a different operating system, and 
although the instructions will be clearly highlighted on each machine, there may 
be confusion from the customers if they have to use different machines across 
the council car parks. 

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
As the current pay and display machines accept cash only, any theft has 
a significant impact on income. Card payments will have the additional 
benefit of increased security. 
New machines have added security benefits such as reinforced steel 
cashboxes and alarm systems that highlight when they have been a 
target for thieves.  

6.2 Workforce
New machines will cut down on the maintenance and failure issues. 
Cashless payment methods will cut down on the number of customer 
complaints, this having a positive impact on the efficiency of the 
workforce. 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
None

6.4 Financial Considerations
Capital investment in the region of £150,000-£170,000.(Based on costs 
from the incumbent supplier)  This will be included in the updated capital 
programme as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan

Page 125



In terms of the impact on revenue, the additional costs associated with a 
cash/card payment machine option are estimated at £32,000 (as set out 
in paragraph 10.7) The additional costs relate to the fee incurred for 
accepting card payments, and an assumption on loss of overpayments 
(where the Council benefits from cash payments at times when people do 
not have the correct change). These additional costs may be offset by 
customers increasing the length of their stay if they have the options to 
pay be card as they are not restricted by the amount of change they have.

New machines are less likely to breakdown and therefore we anticipate 
that income of approximately £25,000 this year will not be lost. (See table 
2).

 
6.5 Legal

This report seeks authority to enter into contracts for the purchase, 
installation and ongoing maintenance of car parking payment machines. 
The duty to procure public contracts in accordance with the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 
is recognised  at paragraph 3.7 of the report.      

6.6 Sustainability
Modern machines have negligible electricity use when on standby. Solar 
powered machines have been considered, however when the weather is 
poor and temperatures decrease in the winter, the machines use an 
internal heater to ensure that the tickets do not freeze.  Frozen tickets will 
cause malfunctions. The heaters only function adequately when they 
have a direct electricity supply. Solar power only options to not 
necessarily generate the power to operate the heaters. Additionally the 
solar panels are an easy target for vandals, which again would render the 
machine useless. 

6.7 Consultation
A number of Council services have been consulted and inputted into the 
report, including Parking, Finance and Transformation. There has been 
no public consultation on the types of machines to implement, but this 
could be considered before roll out. 
 

6.8 Risk Assessment
As machines are replaced across the car park, there will be minimal 
disruption to customers, who will not be able to pay for parking on the 
days when the machines are not functioning. The replacement 
programme will be phased to minimise this disruption. If machines are 
replaced by incumbent supplier, each replacement should take less than 
a day to complete. 

The user interface on any new machine will be different and habitual 
customers will need to get used to the changes. Information can be 
circulated in advance and the website updated. A communication strategy 
should be agreed in advance of changes. 

Cashless technology requires GRSM SIM cards to be able to handle the 

6.4

Page 126



data transactions that operate via mobile telephone networks. It is vital 
that there is suitable signal strength in the ticket machines to be able to 
handle the data required to process the transactions. Prior to installation 
all the locations will be tested for adequate signal strength. 

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) and Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Buxton Town Hall Katy Webster
Head of Assets
katy.webster@highpeak.gov.
uk

Page 127



7. Background and Introduction

7.1 The Council’s off-street car parks are an important provision for residents and 
visitors and the experience of using the service can leave a lasting impression. 
The car parks provide an important income stream for the Council. 

7.2 The Council operates 24 off-street car parks – 6 free and 18 chargeable - with a 
total of 1,952 parking bays in the borough of which 1,652 spaces are pay and 
display. Customers are required to display either a valid permit or ticket during 
the hours of operation on chargeable car parks.  Tickets can be purchased at 
the pay and display ticket machine that are located at each car park. 

7.3 There are currently 31 coin only ticket machines that serve customers using the 
off-street car parks. The Council also manages a number of “on-street” parking 
machines on behalf of Derbyshire County Council. These machines are out of 
the scope of this report. 

7.4 Table 1 below shows a summary of the last 4 years income, and costs and 
gross surplus on the car parks. (Surplus excludes any net income from civil 
enforcement across the car parks and is before any service support charges 
have been made).

Table 1: Car Park Income and Repair Costs (Off Street only)

2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16

Machine Repair 
Costs £3,297 £2,146 £3,503 £142
Net Costs 
(Enforcement & 
Recharges) £376,000 £280,000 £267,000 £299,000

Income P&D £1,158,000 £1,087,000 £1,115,000 £1,075,000
Surplus available 
to offset support 
costs £782,000 £807,000 £848,000 £776,000

7.4 Most of the pay and display machines are now 15 years old and, as a result, 
have become unreliable which is resulting in increased repair and maintenance 
contract costs. When machines are not working visitors are not able to pay for 
their parking and car parks can not be enforced on,  leading to a loss of income. 

7.5 All of the current machines are manufactured, supplied and maintained by 
Metric. The dated nature of the equipment makes the machines more prone to 
mechanical issues and faults. These faults naturally impact on users and we 
would expect the number of issues to increase in future years. The cost of 
repairing the machines has been steadily increasing since 2016/17 and we 
expect that the cost of maintenance will increase again this year as the 
machines increase in age.  The table below shows estimated figures of lost 
income per annum due to faults on the machines and the time it has taken to 

Page 128



repair them New machines should not incur as many faults and this lost income 
should be significantly reduced. 

Table 2: Number of faults and estimated loss of income

No of Faults Days to Repair Estimated income 
lost

2017/18 142 2.9 £38,900

2018/19 103 2 £20,660
2019/20 (estimated 
to date) 66 4.6 £25,690

7.6 Currently the pay and display machines allow cash only purchases and 
customers buy their ticket by depositing the correct value of coins into the 
machine (along with inputting the last 3 digits of the vehicle registration 
number first) which then dispenses the printed ticket for display. The machines 
do not provide change to the customer and the Council’s income stream 
benefits to an estimated amount of £30,000 per year in overpayments. 

7.7 Despite the operating instructions being displayed on the machines, the car 
registration keypads cause confusion and frustration for some customers and 
the Council has been asked to consider removing the keypads. The sole 
purpose of the system is to prevent tickets being transferred between vehicles.

7.8 Currently all the parking machines only accept coins as a method of payment. 
Officers continue to field complaints from customer regarding the limited and 
arguably outdated method of paying for car parking across the borough.  This 
is particularly felt in the car parks that have a high percentage of visitor usage 
such as Castleton. Officers have received three complaints for Castleton Car 
Park alone within the last six months. Visitors from outside of the borough are 
used to a wide variety of ways to pay for car parking and the reliance 
completely on coins has brought criticism. With new car parking technology 
now available, more local authorities are using cashless payment technology. 

8. Payment Options for Ticket Machines

8.1 Cashless technology is gaining pace across all areas of our lives, with various 
options being available to consumers. Over the last ten years we have seen 
major step changes in the provision of payment methods for parking. The 
traditional method of pay and display machines is still at the forefront due to 
user familiarity, however this has been supplemented by new methods of 
payments making the service more accessible, more cost effective and easier 
to use for customers and service providers. The new machines can now also 
carry a range of security and anti-fraud measures. 

8.2 Pay and display providers now provide machines with 3 methods of payment:

Page 129



 Cash:  This is probably still the most popular payment method but machines 
can be prone to blockages. There are potentially upgrade costs when new 
coin is introduced. Most pay and display machines are unable to give 
change for over-payment. This method obviously has no issues with 
communication signal issues. Cash must be physically collected from the 
machines, counted and banked. The Council currently has a contract with 
BHPSS to undertake this service. This contract expires on 31st March 2020. 
Currently this contract costs £11,500 pa.  

 Card - Chip and Pin / Dip: The Chip and Pin method requires the user to 
input their PIN number.  Chip and Dip is where the card is put into the card 
reader and then taken straight back out (e.g. used on M6 toll) and this 
method is much faster. Chip and Dip can only be used up-to a value of £100 
per transaction which may rule out season ticket purchases. The user only 
pays the advertised amount. 

 Card – Contactless: Users present their card to the reader without having to 
touch the machine, with maximum transactions of up-to £30 currently 
allowed by the banks. The user only pays the advertised amount. 

8.3 Transaction costs are involved in processing card payments. Based on the 
current fee structure set out in the banking contract, the cost of all car parking 
payments being processed by card would be £39,000. This is based on the 
average percentage transaction charge and admin charge of 4p per transaction. 
Additionally GRSM SIM cards are required in the machines that allow the data 
from the car payments to be sent via the mobile phone network. Adequate 
signal strength in the location is a critical factor for accepting the car payments. 

8.4 Pay by Phone can be a convenient option for customers that do not carry cash 
and a simple way to receive transaction receipts for parking.  Pay by Phone is 
easily accessible for disabled motorists, as payments are made remotely. 
Payments are recorded and well documented by Pay by Phone suppliers to 
gather hard data on usage levels to help inform decision-making regarding 
future tariff levels. It is also useful if the motorist uses the same car parks on a 
regular basis, as their last destination is usually stored in the system for 
convenience.

8.5 Pay by Phone reduces or eradicates queuing at machines at peak times. For 
users who do not have mobile data on their phone or mobile credit, this may be 
an issue. This system is reliant on the motorist having the correct App (such as 
Ringo and Pay-by-Phone) and having mobile data coverage on their phone 
from their provider.

8.6 The motorist is normally charged a convenience fee for paying by the App in 
addition to the parking charge, but this surcharge can be absorbed by the local 
authority on agreement with the Pay by Phone supplier. This is only a major 
issue when the tariffs are minimal; by example if a 50p tariff has a 20p 
surcharge for Pay by Phone. The main advantages are that cash collection is 
reduced and there is a reduced likelihood of vandalism or theft from the 
machines that hold less cash.

Page 130



8.7 Phone apps normally require the customer to provide their personal information, 
such as their name, address, card payment details, mobile phone number and 
vehicle registration. In the event of the provider being hacked all the data can 
be used for identity fraud. The provider must be able to demonstrate that they 
have robust security levels.

8.8 Pay by phone options are being discussed at the county wide parking board. 
There are operational issues around the interface with parking enforcement 
services which would need to be implemented before any app could be adopted 
as the enforcement officers would need access to real time data. This option will 
be kept under review and subject to a further report back when discussions 
move forward. 

8.9 Most pay and display machine manufacturers allow for the purchaser to 
configure the payment options to best suit the need of the customer. Therefore 
the Council has some control and options as to which methods of payment it 
provides. 

8.10 Coin Only: The current machines are a coin only service. This option is not 
recommended as it does not solve the issue around customer’s expectations of 
more modern technologies. However staying with coin only has the major 
advantage that the Council would not have to invest in the SIM and Software 
issues that are required to process card payments.

8.11 Card Only: Although some customers are happy to embrace cashless solutions, 
there are still large amounts of customers that would still require the option of 
paying by cash. The card only option would see a cost saving in that the cash 
collection service would no longer be required, however, each card transaction 
comes at a cost to the Council.

8.12 Pay by Phone Only: This solution is predicated on the fact that all customers will 
carry a smart phone and have access to the app for payment. It is unlikely that 
this will be a suitable option for all the customers visiting the car park and is 
likely to generate complaints from customers who do not have access to the 
technology. 

8.13 Multifunctional machines allowing cash and card payment: This is the preferred 
option at the moment as customers will have the advantages of being able to 
choose their method of payment. Over time it is likely that more customers will 
utilise a cashless method of payment and we may be able to reduce the costs 
for the cash collection service, but the cost of processing card payments will 
increase. This can be reviewed on a regular basis as the back office software 
will provide this information. 

9. Upgrading the Ticket Machines

9.1 The options of upgrading the existing machines to include cashless technology 
have been investigated with our existing provider Metric. Unfortunately the type 
and age of the Council’s existing machines will not allow a retrospective refit. 

Page 131



Therefore the Council will need to purchase new machines if it wants to utilise 
cashless technology. 

9.2 The procurement options for the replacement of the machines have been 
reviewed. The ESPO 509 framework has a number of providers and covers a 
wide variety of machines. Following a first stage review three manufacturers 
have been identified as the best value for money. Metric, our current provider 
shows best value for money.

9.3 Metric has provided indicative prices based on replacement of 62 machines, 
which is the total requirement for all machines across the High Peak Borough 
Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council strategic alliance. If the 
alliance places a bulk order of over 50 machines there is economies of scale of 
approximately £124 per machine. 

9.4 Replacing all the machines at once would have a significant capital cost. 
Therefore the costs for a phased programme has been investigated. There are 
some additional difficulties with a phased programme targeting the main, 
highest value car parks in the first instance.

 Customer confusion as the machines would not be exactly the same across 
the car parks. Increase in service requests and complaints.

 Potential to run two back office systems – inefficient use of officer time. 
 Cost to remove the keypads and reconfigure the machines to do away with 

the vehicle registration – approximately £400 per machine. 

9.5 Option A: Purchase all new machines in install in the next financial year 2020-
2021 following a procurement exercise to determine value for money. This 
would mean replacing all 31 HPBC machines at once. Indicative costs received 
from Metric place the total capital cost at £148,240

9.6 Option B: Adopt a phased programme, targeting machines of highest use in car 
parks that generate the highest levels of income first. This would include a 
review of the machines that are in the most urgent need of repair. It is 
suggested that approximately 11 machines would be replaced in phase 1, 
followed by a further 10 in 2021/22 and the remainder in 2022/23. The total 
capital cost over three years is £160,040. The increased cost is due to the costs 
of removing the key pads from the older machines and reconfiguring the 
software to remove the need to enter in licence registrations, as well as not 
benefitting from the economies of scale of bulk ordering a minimum of 50 
machines. 

9.7 Metric offer two types of machines that offer the functionality to accept both 
cash and card payments. The main differences between the two machines are 
the amount of tickets each machine will hold. The Elite has twin printers and 
can hold up to 8,000 ticket capacity. The Sprite version is a smaller narrow 
machine which only holds 4,000 tickets. Sprite is a cheaper option. The 
installation costs are the same for each type of machine. See Table 3 below. 

Page 132



Table 3: Capital Investment Cost

Metric Elite LS (with 
twin printer capacity) Metric Sprite

Purchase cost per machine 
(inc 12 month warranty)

£4,312 £3,748

Installation costs per 
machine

£470 £470

Total capital cost per 
machine

£4,782 £4,218

Total capital cost £148,242 £130,758

10. Back Office – Software, Payments and Connectivity

10.1 Each machine connects to the back office software system by way of a SIM 
card, which runs off the mobile network.  This allows officers to connect to each 
machine live to understand the status of that machine. Additionally the back 
office software “Aslan” gives live information about the tickets generated at from 
each machine. As the current machines operate coins only, the SIM cards to 
don’t have to process digital payment data.

10.2 Machines that take card payments have to have upgraded GPRS SIM cards as 
more data is sent across the mobile network to process the payments. The 
Council currently uses the EE Network, although testing will be required to 
ensure that this is sufficient signal strength in all locations to carry the data. If 
signal strength is an issue, then there is the potential to use “roaming SIMS” 
which will pick up the strongest mobile signal in that location. As some of the 
machines are in rural locations where signal strength is an issue, this testing will 
be a critical part of any replacement project. 

10.3 In order for the Council to receive the income from any card or contactless 
payments, the machines must have PCI (Payment Card Industry) compliant 
software. Additional work will be required to ensure that the Council can accept 
card payments through its current software. Currently the Council pays a 
percentage cost to the card payment provider for each transaction. This is a 
percentage costs as well as a minimum 4p per transaction. These additional 
costs in proving the service are set out in Table 4 below.  

10.4 Currently Metric supply the software package that allows the car parks officers 
to contact the machines. This is called WebAslan. As part of a machine 
upgrade, the software package will also be upgraded to MyOffice, hoisted by 
Metric. The upgrade would come at no cost to the Council, however there would 
be an annual charge per machine.

10.5 The ESPO framework will also allow the Council to procure a new ongoing 
maintenance package for the machines. There are various options available 
depending on the council’s requirements however we have adopted the silver 
package to show an indicative value. This is £326 per year and would be for a 

Page 133



fixed term of contract. This would not be needed in the first year as all the 
machines are sold with a 12 month warranty. 

10.6 Other ongoing costs associated with the machines are the supply of paper 
tickets required for printing. The contract with the Council’s current supplier 
expires in November 2019 and steps have been taken to extend this contract 
with the suppler in the short term until new machines can be adopted. At this 
point the Council will procure new ticket supplier. Current costs are 
approximately £6,000 per annum.

10.7 The cash from the machines is currently collected, sorted and banked by the 
Council’s security contractor. The annual cost of this service is approximately 
£11,500. It is anticipated that as more transactions will be undertaken with 
cashless technology the need for cash collection will reduce over time. 

Table 4: Ongoing Revenue Costs if card payments are adopted

Annual Cost based on 31 
machines Current Cost 

(Cash only)

Estimated 
Cost (100 % 

Card 
Payments)

Estimated 
Costs (Half 
Card Half 

Cash)

SIM costs £4,460 £1,860 £1,860

Fee for Card Payments £0 £39,000 £19,500

Software Hosting £ 3,310 £2,980 £2,980

Maintenance cost (based on silver 
maintenance agreement) 

£9,520 £10,110 £10,110

Supply of paper tickets (NAGELS) £6,000 £6,000 £6,000

Loss of Overpayments Income £0 £30,000 £15,000

Cash Collection BHPSS £11,500 £0 £11,500

TOTAL £34,790 £89,950 £66,950

Increase in costs £55,160 £32,160

Page 134



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

4 December 2019

TITLE: Leisure Centre Options

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Damien Greenhalgh - Deputy 
Leader & Executive Councillor for 
Regeneration, Tourism and Leisure

CONTACT OFFICER: Robert Wilks - Principal Officer (Leisure and 
Recreation)

WARDS INVOLVED: Non specific

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The purpose of the report is to consider the work required to establish clear 
plans for future investment and management options for the Council’s leisure 
centres in line with the Physical Activity and Sport Strategy.

2. Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive:

 Appove plans to recruit external consultancy support in order to assist the 
Council in progressing plans for future investment and management 
options for the Council’s leisure centres

3. Executive Summary

3.1 Asset condition surveys were completed during 2016, the outcomes from 
which were considered by the Executive in July 2016. The findings highlighted 
that significant capital investment is required in the Council’s leisure assets 
over the next 30 years in order that they remain fit for purpose.

3.2 In June 2017 the Executive adopted a new Strategy for Physical Activity and 
Sport. The strategy provides for opportunities for participation be developed 
and maintained for a widest possible range of the High Peak community and 
establishes priorities that will target particular groups of people and 
communities where inactivity and poor health is more prevalent.

3.3 At a similar time, the Council also commissioned FMG Consulting to review its 

Page 135

Agenda Item 8



leisure centre provision in the context of its sports facility needs focusing on 
sports halls, swimming pools and other indoor provision. The purpose of 
undertaking this review was to inform the Council on options for future 
provision of council leisure centres and other sports facility based services 
from 2018 and beyond.

3.4 The outcome of this review, in effect sets out a position statement on the 
suggested facility hierarchy and approach, along with recommendations for 
phasing of future facility developments and rationalisation. The aim is to 
ensure that the Council can develop a more sustainable solution in relation to 
meeting customer needs, affordability and partner aspirations, whilst 
supporting the overall vision of the Council’s Physical Activity & Sport strategy.

3.5 The conclusion of the review was that the Council should consider the 
following investment requirements:

 Replacement of Glossop LC and Glossop Pool – single wet & dry 
community facility;

 Refurbishment and essential works at New Mills;
 Ongoing maintenance at Buxton;
 3G pitch development at Chapel – change sand-dressed pitch to 3G, plus 

an additional 3G pitch to achieve the total of 3x 3G pitches advocated in 
the Local Football Facilities Plan (LFFP) and Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS).

3.6 In December 2018 the Executive approved the award of a new contract to 
Parkwood Leisure Ltd operating as Lex Leisure to manage the Council leisure 
centres from 1st April 2019 to 31st March 2024.

3.7 Whilst approving the contract award, the Council committed to commence a 
process to consider longer term future management options for the leisure 
centres in further detail.

3.8 There are a number of different delivery options available for the Council to 
consider for the future management arrangements for leisure centres once the 
contract with Parkwood Leisure comes to an end in March 2024. 
Recommendations for further consideration, taken from the FMG report are as 
follows:

 A new outsourced single contract (i.e. an evolution of the current 
arrangements with Parkwood or other external provider); or 

 Set up a local delivery vehicle – either a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Council or a new trust.

3.9 It is recommended that the Council now seeks further consultancy support in 
order to assist the development of plans for continued service transformation, 
in line with the Physical Activity and Sport Strategy, which should include;

 A refresh of the current position highlighted in the 2017 FMG report, taking 
into account changes to participation trends, leisure centre performance 
data and improvements to community facilities, which build on the 
aspirations in the physical activity and sport strategy; 

Page 136



 Development of a clear and affordable capital investment plan and 
proposed delivery schedule for each investment option;

 Detailed work to establish the preferred management options and the 
financial impact of these to the Council; and

 Engagement with partners to establish meaningful joint investment plans 
if/where there is opportunity to do so.

3.10 Initial scoping meetings have taken place with Sport England in order to begin 
to develop a robust specification for the work, including the use of the Sport 
England, Strategic Outcome Planning Guidance (SOPG). SOPG guidance has 
a clear, strategic and sustainable approach to making effective investment into 
sport and physical activity provision – both facilities and services.

3.11 It is recognised that wider aspirations for the Council involving regeneration, 
housing and health should feed into this work so as to ensure a holistic 
approach is taken to addressing physical inactivity and health inequalities in 
the broadest sense.

3.12 Work by the Council’s Regeneration Service is being undertaken to establish 
wider facility planning issues in the High Peak, especially in Glossop relating 
to the One Public Estate (OPE) project. Any proposals to improve leisure 
centre provision will be integrated into these plans where possible, in order to 
maximise resources and opportunities to engage more residents in physical 
activity.

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The provision of high quality leisure facilities both in formal leisure centres and 
swimming pools and out in the communities is an objective of the Council as 
set out in the new Corporate Plan.

5 Options and Analysis

5.1 A number of options will be considered as part of the work undertaken

6 Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2 Workforce
None

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and 
Diversity policies.

6.4 Financial Considerations

6.4

Page 137



The cost of this work will be met from existing resources 

An outcome from this next piece of work will be a clear and affordable 
capital investment plan and proposed delivery schedule for each investment 
option
 

6.5 Legal
None

16.6 Sustainability
None

6.7 External Consultation
Extensive stakehold consultation will be necessary before investment 
options are finanised  

6.8  Risk Assessment
Not apllcable at this stage 

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

21.7.16 - Development of the Asset 
Management Plan - Asset Condition 
Surveys (Non-Housing Stock)
15.6.17 – Strategy for physical 
activity and sport
6.12.18 – Leisure centre operating 
contract award
Sport England – Strategic outcomes 
planning guidance:
Location: Fowlchurch Depot

Robert Wilks
Principal Officer (Leisure and 
Recreation)
robert.wilks@highpeak.gov.uk

Page 138

https://democracy.highpeak.gov.uk/documents/s2999/6.%20HP%20PAS%20Strategy%20Report%20June%207th%20final%20doc.pdf
https://democracy.highpeak.gov.uk/documents/s2999/6.%20HP%20PAS%20Strategy%20Report%20June%207th%20final%20doc.pdf
https://www.sportengland.org/media/13711/strategic-facilities-fund-prospectus.pdf
https://www.sportengland.org/media/13711/strategic-facilities-fund-prospectus.pdf


7. Background and Introduction

7.1 In order to provide the foundations for the development of a strategy for new 
investment options and operating arrangements for the leisure centres, the 
Council appointed FMG Consulting Ltd in 2017 to review the leisure centre 
provision and sports facility needs, focusing on sports halls, swimming pools 
and other indoor provision.

7.2 The purpose of undertaking the review was to inform the Council on options 
for future provision of leisure centres and other sports facility based services 
from 2019 and beyond. The review and assessments also provide data and 
information to inform the development of the Local Plan, emerging planning 
policy and infrastructure planning.

7.3 The four core objectives of the review were to:

 Audit and report on the wider supply and demand for sports facilities in the 
High Peak area and identify a mixed model of provision 
(public/private/voluntary) capable of meeting future demand for sport and 
physical activity.

 Review the existing and provide options for the future provision of Council 
leisure centres across the High Peak.

 Identify opportunities for allocating resources into existing local facilities 
(council owned or third party) to achieve better outcomes for people in 
relation to health, social and economic inclusion, crime reduction etc.

 Provide a headline procurement and management model options 
appraisal, for future council owned sports and leisure facilities. The model 
should try and provide an optimal balance between meeting (sport and 
physical activity) market demands, providing sufficient capacity, being 
financially self sufficient and addressing local sport and physical activity 
development needs.

7.4 The final report in effect sets out a position statement on the suggested facility 
hierarchy and approach, along with recommendations for phasing of future 
facility developments and rationalisation. The aim is to ensure that the Council 
can develop a more sustainable solution in relation to meeting customer 
needs, affordability and partner aspirations, whilst supporting the overall vision 
of the Council’s Physical Activity & Sport Strategy.

7.5 The report stresses the importance of a multi-agency approach to delivery of 
the service in the High Peak if the Council’s strategic priorities are to be 
achieved. The services are reliant on a network of well maintained, accessible 
facilities throughout the district in order to facilitate the delivery of such 
intervention programmes, alongside supporting positive habits amongst the 
general population.

7.6 If the Council is to be effective in raising activity levels in the High Peak, a 
clear approach to facility provision is required. It will be necessary to maximise 
the use of assets and coordinate provision from a number of sources. The 
Council along with schools, colleges and clubs all have pivotal roles to play.

Page 139



7.7 Future facility provision needs to be considered from four aspects:

 Facilities required to enable physical activity for health benefits on a mass 
and localised basis (particularly linked to the Physical Activity & Sport 
Strategy);

 Facilities required to meet educational need, particularly school swimming;
 Facilities required for sport, particularly sports development and sports 

clubs;
 Facilities required for disability sport, including sports development and 

education links.

7.8 For the services provided to be effective ensuring an appropriate location of 
the facilities is vital. The figure below identifies an initial framework of provision 
in the district going forward – this can form the basis for refinement and 
prioritising investment in future years. Importantly, the tiers are not exclusive 
and many facilities will cater for a range of users.

7.9 Within the context of this framework of provision, particularly in relation to 
district-wide and ‘locality’ or town-based provision, the Council invests 
significant resources in delivering a number of sporting facilities which provide 
a range of essential services such as learn to swim programmes, exercise 
referral services and support for local schools. In addition, the centres are 
bases for numerous clubs and groups, enabling many clubs to deliver and 
develop their sports in a safe and suitable environment.

7.10 At the time of the report, the Councils current leisure stock delivered c.800,000 
visits per year and c.£3.0m of income across 3 sites, but it is recognised that 
the stock is very old and requires approx. £7.25m of essential maintenance 
works to extend the life cycle of the current buildings. Secondary spend (food, 
retail) is low in all of the Councils leisure centres, indicating that comfort and 
quality may also need to be addressed. 

Page 140



7.11 The report summarises that the leisure centres are broadly in the right areas of 
the High Peak, for maximising access. Key messages that informed the 
preferred way forward are therefore:

 The need to address quality issues across all sites;
 Recognition that there is no need for additional swimming pool or sports 

hall provision and that residential growth is not a driver of future facility 
need;

 Future facilities and programmes need to be cognisant of the needs of 
focus groups and ageing of the resident population;

 Refurbishment and re-provision are the main drivers to achieve a ‘fit for 
purpose’ estate, but with limited opportunities for rationalisation given the 
geographically unique catchments;

 Glossop is the area of highest demand, with potential to rationalise 
provision onto a single site and expand pool size. However, Glossopdale 
Community College offers significant dry-side provision in the area, which 
needs to be considered in relation to community use;

 To ensure, where possible, that all school sports halls are accessible to 
the local community for as much time as is feasibly possible. This should 
be written into community use agreements with schools where possible; 

 To ensure that the programming of all sports halls is complementary and 
works to achieve maximum benefit for the local community and catchment 
which it serves;

 In parallel, there is also a need to ensure that the cost of accessing 
facilities is appropriate for different client groups.

7.12 The identified way forward focuses on core sustainable provision (leisure    
focused, sustainable model), including:

 Possible replacement of Glossop LC and Glossop Pool – to a single wet & 
dry community facility or alternative options if the pool is retained;

 Refurbishment and essential works at New Mills;
 Ongoing maintenance at Buxton;
 3G pitch development at Chapel – change sand-dressed pitch to 3G, plus 

an additional 3G pitch to achieve the total of 3x 3G pitches advocated in 
the Playing Pitch Strategy;

 Increased access to school sites for sports hall provision / club use.

7.13 The investment required to achieve this has been costed at £16.75m, with an 
associated annual revenue saving of close to £300,000 pa in the medium 
term. 

8. Consultancy Support and Consultation with Key Partners

8.1 It is recommended that the Council now seeks further consultancy support in 
order to develop its plans for continued service transformation, in line with the 
Physical Activity and Sport Strategy, which should include;

 A refresh of the current position highlighted in the 2017 FMG report, taking 

Page 141



into account changes to participation trends, leisure centre performance 
data and improvements to community facilities, which build on the 
aspirations in the physical activity and sport strategy; 

 Development of a clear and affordable capital investment plan and 
proposed delivery schedule for each investment option;

 Detailed work to establish the preferred management options and the 
financial impact of these to the Council; and

 Engagement with partners to establish meaningful joint investment plans 
if/where there is opportunity to do so.

8.2 Sport England is a national organisation responsible for grass roots sport in 
England. They have a wide focus which encompasses many aspects, 
including providing specialist support and guidance to local authorities 
regarding the development of new leisure facilities and operating models. 

8.3 It is important that the Council works closely with Sport England throughout 
the next steps to ensure the it maximises the support, guidance and external 
funding opportunities available to it. 

8.4 Initial scoping meetings have taken place with Sport England in order to begin 
to develop a robust specification for this work, this will include the use of their 
Strategic Outcome Planning Guidance (SOPG). The SOPG guidance (a 
summary of which is shown below) has a clear, strategic and sustainable 
approach to making effective investment into sport and physical activity 
provision – both facilities and services.

8.5 For each for the four sections of the SOGP is a checklist which can be utilised 
to ensure that the key areas for consideration have been met and any 
potential gaps have been addressed. 

Page 142



8.6 The proposed timetable for delivery of this next stage of consultancy work is 
summarised in the table below:

Stage Date
Member approval for consultancy 
support

December 2019

Tender for consultancy support 
advertised

Winter 2019/20

Appointment of consultant Spring 2020/21
Consultancy work undertaken Spring-Summer 2020/21
Recommendations reported back to 
Members

Winter 2020/21

8.7 It is recognised that wider aspirations for the Council involving regeneration, 
housing and health should feed into this work so as to ensure a holistic 
approach is taken to addressing physical inactivity and health inequalities in 
the broadest sense

8.8 Work by the Council’s Regeneration Service is being undertaken to establish 
wider facility planning issues in the High Peak, especially in Glossop relating 
to the One Public Estate (OPE) project. Any proposals to improve leisure 
centre provision should be integrated into these plans where possible, in order 
to maximise resources and opportunities to engage more residents in physical 
activity. The consultancy support will continue to feed into this project and will 
explore the feasibility of this option in greater detail.

9. Future Operating Model - Options

9.1   There are a number of different delivery options available for the Council to 
consider for the future management arrangements when the contract with 
Parkwood comes to an end in March 2024. These options are as follows:

 In-house delivery;
 Outsourcing to an existing trust or private contractor;
 Establishing an alternative delivery vehicle, for example a new trust / 

mutual or other form of social enterprise or a wholly-owned subsidiary;
 Asset transfer:
 Establishing a Joint Venture.

9.2 It is proposed that the consultancy support to be procured will undertake an 
assessment of the various options available to the Council in order that a 
recommendation for future delivery can be identified. 

9.3 As the leisure operating contracts in the High Peak and Staffordshire 
Moorlands have now been aligned in regards to the contract end date, any 
future provision can now be considered across both council areas. Especially 
as provision across the Alliance may generate additional benefits or issues not 
previously identified.

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

4 December 2019

TITLE: Food Enforcement Plan

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Todd - Executive Councillor for 
Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety

CONTACT OFFICER: Alicia Patterson – Head of Environmental 
Health

WARDS INVOLVED: Non Specific

Appendix A – Food Safety Enforcement Plan 2019/2020

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 It is a recommendation of the Food Standards Agency that each local authority 
draws up, documents and implements a food safety service plan which is 
approved by members. 

1.2 This report sets out (in appendix A) the food safety service plan for 2019/2020, 
to be reviewed on a yearly basis. 

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Executive approves the food safety service plan at Appendix A.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The Food Standards Agency (FSA) has overall responsibility for the official 
control of food law enforcement in England.  This involves co-ordinating, 
monitoring, setting standards and auditing local authority food law 
enforcement activities.  The FSA recommends that all local authorities 
produce a food safety service plan which has been agreed by their elected 
members.   The proposed plan attached at Appendix A has been drafted 
having regard to the format prescribed by the FSA.

3.2 It should be noted that local authorities are expected not just to merely 
undertake “routine hygiene inspections” but to operate a risk based 
enforcement system that values educational initiatives, together with formal 
legal enforcement tools, and ‘non inspection interventions’ (for example 
targeted sampling, imported food controls). 

Page 145

Agenda Item 9



3.3 In carrying out this work officers may carry out enforcement of the legal 
provisions in order to ensure the public are not put at risk and there is 
compliance with the law.  This action can range from the provision of advice to 
organisations through to formal enforcement notices and prosecutions. 

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority of 
Supporting our Communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak. 
The provision and availability of safe food is essential for human health.  The 
delivery of this service aims to ensure that both residents and visitors to this 
Borough can trust that the food they buy is safe to eat.  The interventions 
taken by the team aid to reduce the incidence of food borne illness that has a 
significant impact on our economy. 

5. Alternative Options

5.1 There are no alternative options as mandatory guidance issued by the Food 
Standards Agency recommends and requires that Local Authorities adopt a 
food safety service plan which meets the format prescribed by the Food 
Standards Agency. 

6. Implications 

6.1 Community Safety – Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

None arise directly from this report. 

6.2 Workforce 

The Food Safety team is adequately staffed. 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Councils Diversity and 
Equality Policies. 

6.4 Financial Considerations 

No Financial Considerations. 

6.5 Legal 

As considered in the report.

6.6 Sustainability 

The Appendix A sets out the support of the Food Safety team for the Healthy 
Derbyshire initiative which promotes elements of sustainability.  The team are 

Page 146



considering further assessment criteria within their inspection regime to 
encourage sustainability, including the use of sustainable packaging.

6.7 Consultation 

None arise directly from this report. 

6.8 Risk Assessment 

The main risks related to this proposal are: 

 The public is at risk if the Council does not provide an adequately 
resourced food hygiene function. 

 As with any enforcement activity there is a risk of incurring costs, some of 
which may not be fully recovered. 

 Our work with local business, especially small and medium sized 
enterprises helps the local economy and business growth, thereby 
mitigating associated risks. 

Mark Trillo 
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Alicia Patterson
Head of Environmental Health
alicia.patterson@highpeak.gov.uk

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e

SERVICE AND ENFORCEMENT PLAN

FOOD SAFETY

2019-2020

“MAKING EVERY INSPECTION COUNT”

Page 149



2 | P a g e

Summary 

This Service Plan: 

 Sets out the key activities the service area delivers;

 Reflects on the key service activity and achievements for 2018-2019

 Sets out the key targets for the service area and the resources allocated to 

achieve these targets;

 Identifies the main risks and performance measures associated with the 

delivery of the service;

 Provides a high-level action plan for the service.

Contents 

1. Introduction

2. Description of Service

3. Links to the Joint Strategic Plan

4. Resources

5. Service Delivery

6. Enforcement 

7. Performance and Review

8. Challenges to service delivery & Risk Management

9. Service Action Plan 

Page 150



3 | P a g e

1. Introduction 

The Food and Safety Service Plan is an expression of the Council’s continuing 

commitment to the provision of the Food Safety, Health and Safety and ancillary 

Services.  It covers the key areas of Food Safety and Health and Safety 

enforcement and the relevant management arrangements and objectives against 

which High Peak Borough Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

will monitor service delivery. 

It has been compiled in accordance with the guidance issued by the Food 

Standards Agency (FSA), including information required by the Framework 

Agreement on Local Authority Food Law Enforcement and guidance issued by the 

Health and Safety Executive (HSE) under the Health and Safety Executive 

National Local Authority Enforcement Code. 

Section 18 (4) of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 specifically places a 

duty on Local Authorities to make ‘adequate arrangements for the enforcement’ of 

health and safety and the Code sets out what is meant by ‘adequate 

arrangements for enforcement’. 

This service plan makes clear what both Councils will put in place to ensure that 

there are adequate arrangements for food safety and health and safety 

enforcement and how they will take account of local needs whilst contributing to 

current FSA and HSE priorities. 

The plan also identifies other work undertaken by the Food and Safety team and 

objectives relating to that work. 

Page 151



4 | P a g e

2. Description of Service 

Specific functions undertaken by this service area: 

The Food and Safety team provides a range of regulatory services to the business 

community and the general public as follows: 

 Food Safety. Sustaining and improving the standards of safety and quality 

of food manufactured, prepared and supplied in High Peak and the 

Staffordshire Moorlands. 

 Health and Safety. Ensuring that risks in the workplace for both workers 

and the public are properly and proportionally managed. 

 Infectious Diseases.  Investigating incidents of infectious diseases to 

control spread and identify causes. 

 Private Water Supplies.  Assessing risk and sampling water to ensure that 

supplies do not pose a threat to health. 

 Health Promotion and Education.  Providing training for food handlers, 

running campaigns on food safety and hygiene, supporting County Council 

Initiatives such as Heart of Derbyshire. 

 Animal Welfare licensing.  Maintaining the standards of animal welfare in 

appropriate premises, Riding Establishments and advising Petting Zoos. 

 Our business customers rely on the food and safety service to maintain a 

level regulatory playing field in the markets in which they operate so that 

non-compliant businesses do not gain a competitive advantage.  They 

expect us to be consistent and fair, providing advice and guidance when it 

is needed, using enforcement tools when appropriate. 

 The public expect us to ensure that they are protected and, increasingly, 

that they have access to information that allows them to make educated 

choices about the businesses they engage with. 

Page 152



5 | P a g e

The service area operates in the following way:

The Food and Safety team is predominately made up of qualified Food and Safety 

Officers who are required to meet and maintain high standards of training and 

competency.  

The members of the team at the time this service plan was written are as follows: 

 Head of Environmental Health & Food Lead Officer (Alicia Patterson)

 Environmental Health Officers (D Green, B Hadnum, P Forrester, J Cooper, 

P Benson, H Wilkinson) 

The service operates through a combination of programs, interventions and 

projects endeavoring to ensure that people are encouraged to make healthy 

choices, have safe food, water and workplaces and that all businesses are 

supported in creating an environment where this is possible.  It supports the 

stated values of the two Councils, notably, in the following ways. 

 Our People

 Ensuring that team members are given opportunities to maintain and 

develop professional competency, have a voice in the wider organisation 

and are supported in the often challenging work that they do. 

 Our Customers
Providing active support to businesses so that they can be compliant whilst 

ensuring consumers and the wider public are protected.

 Being Open and Honest
Providing businesses with clear information and that anyone who uses our 

services or comes into contact with them has an understanding of the basis 

of our decision and our actions.  Responding to requests for information 

with speed and accuracy. 

 Taking Ownership
Members of the team make frequent decisions that have a direct impact on 

businesses and the public in general and are fully prepared to provide 

Page 153



6 | P a g e

justification of those decisions.

 Being Ambitious
The overarching purpose of the service is to ensure that High Peak and 

Staffordshire Moorlands are places where businesses can operate safely, 

and the public can be confident that they are protected from non-compliant 

activity.  Our ambition is to be part of an integrated business and public 

protection network coordinated across Derbyshire and Staffordshire. 

The team works closely with other organisations, in particular Trading Standards and 

the Public Health teams, the County Councils, the Food Standards Agency and the 

Health and Safety Executive. 

The key outcomes delivered by the service are year on year improvements in the 

standards of food businesses and the control of locally identified workplace health 

and safety risk.

Page 154



7 | P a g e

3. Links to the Corporate Plans

The Food and Safety service supports the broad visions of High Peak and the 

Staffordshire Moorlands relating to business growth and increased productivity 

and will continue to contribute to creating an environment in which we support 

businesses and their growth ambitions, helping them to become more sustainable.

High Peak Borough Council Aims

 Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak.

 A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward thinking Council.

 Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth, development and 

regeneration.

 Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate 

emergency.

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Aims 

 To help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to 

live and work.

 To use resources effectively and provide value for money.

 To help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of 

towns and villages.

 To protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate 

emergency.

Food Businesses are central to the economy of the two authorities and food safety 

is important to the wellbeing of residents, visitors and other consumers of food 

produced in the area.  Consequently, one of the fundamental purposes of the 

Food and Safety service is to sustain and improve standards of safety and quality 

of food manufactured, prepared and supplied in High Peak and the Staffordshire 

Moorlands.  To achieve this, the service works to support individual food 

Page 155



8 | P a g e

businesses and provides a level regulatory playing field for them through advice, 

risk-based audits, complaint investigation, training and program of sampling as 

well as through the use of formal enforcement when this proves necessary. 

The continued use of the publicised national food hygiene rating system (FHRS) 

will give well run food businesses the opportunity to demonstrate how good they 

are in relation to others and this continues to help raise standards generally as it 

becomes increasingly referred to by consumers and valued by businesses.  The 

FHRS helps those consumers make more educated choices over the food they 

buy and where they eat.  The Heart of Derbyshire awards, offered in partnership 

with Derbyshire County Council, include businesses that pledge to offer healthier 

food or use healthier ingredients under the following headings: fat, salt, fruit, 

vegetables and wholegrain, sugar, portion sizes, allergens, alcoholic drinks and 

breastfeeding.  This criteria is assessed by officers of the Food and Safety team 

and provides an additional mechanism by which catering businesses can 

differentiate their offer to consumers whilst contributing to a significant public 

health objectives. 

The purpose of the service, with regards to health and safety, is to work in 

partnership with businesses, the Health and Safety Executive, and other local 

authorities within Derbyshire and Staffordshire to protect people’s occupational 

health, safety and welfare.  To achieve this, the service will endeavor to ensure 

that risks in the workplace are properly and proportionally managed through: 

targeted and risk-based interventions; investigation of complaints; investigation of 

accidents and dangerous occurrences and; through business support so that 

businesses are helped to sustainability and resilience through proving safe places 

to work. 

Page 156



9 | P a g e

4. Resources 

Financial 
The service is split 50/50 between both Councils as there are very similar levels of 

service demand and numbers of relevant business premises in both authorities. 

Staffing Allocation 
For 2019/2020 the Food and Safety service establishment across the alliance is: 

 1 x Lead food officer (combined role as Head of Service). 

 5 x Environmental Health Officers.   

All members of the service team carry out food safety related work.

The Councils are designated as Food Authorities as defined in the Food Safety 

Act 1990 and are required to prepare and publish an annual service plan.  This 

plan has been prepared in accordance with “The Framework Agreement on Local 

Authority Food Law Enforcement” published by the Food Standards Agency. 

Page 157



10 | P a g e

5. Service Delivery  

Food Safety – Inspection of Food businesses 
The Councils are committed to carrying out inspections at a frequency that is not 

less than that determined by the Food Safety Act Code of Practice.  The Service 

has approximately 978 routine food safety interventions scheduled for the period 

of 1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020. 

As in previous years, the concentration of activity for qualified officers will be in 

carrying out all high risk and approved premises inspections due as part of the 

inspection program. 

Usually, inspections of food businesses do not need a follow up until the next 

scheduled date which will be in accordance with the assessed inherent risks but 

revisits will be made where:  significant breaches of food safety legislation are 

found at the time of an initial inspection; where there are a large number of minor 

offences; where there is a history of non-compliance; where there is little or no 

confidence in the management of the premises; and where businesses have 

requested and paid for an FHRS rescore visit.  Revisits are made if an FHRS is 

Zero, 1 or 2 as these are considered non-compliant to the extent that it is not 

appropriate to leave them until the next scheduled date.  Businesses, however, 

may stay on a low rating even where improvements have been made. 

In line with the Food Law Code of Practice, interventions other than inspections 

have been adopted in respect of certain, particularly low risk, premises.  For the 

lowest risk businesses, a telephone call is made to the business in order to 

assess where there have been any changes since the last intervention.  A low risk 

questionnaire will be completed by the officer or sent to the business, and the 

extent of the business and the level of food safety control will be assessed.  Many 

low risk premises may still need to be visited by an office to gather information 

regarding food safety.  It is possible to use an officer not qualified in accordance 

with the Code of Practice to do the initial work, thereby maximizing the use of 

Page 158



11 | P a g e

resources.  The information gathered is assessed and a decision made as to what 

further action is required.  This could range from no further action to a full 

inspection.  A visit is likely to be triggered if other contact cannot be made or if the 

activity of the business has changed. 

The breakdown of food safety inspections due in 2019/2020 is as follows 

Risk 

Rating

Inspection

Interval

Total 

Number of 

Premises 

HPBC

Total 

Number of 

Premises 

SMDC

Number of 

Planned 

Interventions 

HPBC

Number of 

Planned 

Interventions 

SMDC 

A 6 monthly 2 1 2 1

B 12 monthly 15 36 15 36

C 18 monthly 158 195 89 127

D 24 monthly 377 297 187 165

E 36 monthly 530 484 190 166

Totals 1082 1013 483 495

There are 2095 food premises recorded on the Staffordshire Moorlands and High 

Peak database at April 2019, of which 10 are approved under EC Regulation 

853/2004. 

In addition to food businesses that are based in the two Councils, there are a variety 

of events and occurrences that involve visiting food businesses where the food and 

safety team need to spend some time ensuring food safety.  These include regular 

markets, fairs, shows and carnivals.   

The risk rating of food businesses determining the frequency of inspection includes 

three factors: hygiene, structure and confidence in management.  These factors are 

used to calculate the Food Hygiene Rating when that applies, plus the type of food 

involved and the method of handling it, the method of processing and the type and 

number of consumers at risk.  The nature of the food business therefore determines 

these matters.  At one end of the spectrum there may be a corner shop only selling 

Page 159



12 | P a g e

packaged foodstuffs requiring no temperature control and at the other end a 

manufacturer using high risk ingredients for cook-chill meals and distributing 

internationally.  Using this procedure, a business may be very well managed, but will 

still be audited frequently (up to twice a year) due to the inherent risks. 

Food Complaints and complaints about food premises 

Both Councils investigate all complaints it receives relating to food where it is the 

enforcement authority responsible.  Additionally officers will liaise with Home, Primary 

and Originating Authorities as appropriate.  The Food Safety service aims to make a 

first response to this type of complaint within three working days. 

Advice to Businesses 

Officers are committed to building positive working relationships with food business 

operators (FBOs) and to work with them to help them comply with the law and to 

improve food safety standards.  Increasingly officers will point businesses at web-

based resources, particularly those produced by the FSA although, as with the 

change in relations relating to allergens, when appropriate, printed or email 

information is supplied.  Both new and existing businesses are encouraged to contact 

the service for advice and are obliged by law to tell us when significant changes are 

made. 

Training for Food Handlers 

The service offers a variety of food hygiene training courses fulfilling the needs of 

businesses and food-handlers as well as developing a constructive relationship with 

food businesses in the Councils’ areas, identifying the local authorities as a source of 

help and guidance. 

Page 160



13 | P a g e

Food Hygiene Rating System (FHRS) 

The FHRS is a system operated by all English local authorities and continues to 

create a positive environment where, due to the public nature of the ratings 

(published on the FSA website at: https;/www.food.gov.uk/business-

industry/hygieneratings), there is a desire on the part of businesses to achieve a good 

rating.  Businesses are able to request a rescore visit from High Peak Borough 

Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council at any time after a rating is given 

following an inspection and a fee is charged for this.  There is no limit to the number 

of rescores a business can request. 

Food Inspection and Sampling 

Food samples are taken either in response to complaints or as part of the Councils’ 

proactive surveillance, this ensures that food produced or sold in High Peak or the 

Staffordshire Moorlands is safe to eat.  The Councils also participate in a regional 

sampling programme, coordinated from the Derbyshire and Staffordshire Food 

Sampling Liaison groups.  The National sampling program comes from Public Health 

England.  Both programs provide intelligence that can help identify the focus of food 

safety visits. 

2019/2020 planned sampling will include proactive sampling from our approved 

premises.  The National surveys include businesses with no dishwashers (involving 

samples of crockery, chopping boards and dishcloths at takeaway premises).

Export Certificates 

Businesses exporting foodstuffs to non-EU countries have often needed the local 

authority environmental health service to certify that the food they are exporting is 

produced in a safe way.  HPBC and SMDC provide this certification as a chargeable 

service.  It is possible, depending on what happens over BREXIT, that this service will 

Page 161



14 | P a g e

be needed by businesses exporting to EU countries.  This may create more 

administrative work than the current team can manage, however, the cost recovery 

process should enable recourses to be added if necessary. 

Health & Safety 

Section 18 (4) of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 places a duty on Local 

Authorities to make ‘adequate arrangements for the enforcement’ of health and safety 

and the two councils have responsibility for the regulation of health and safety in the 

following types of businesses:

 Retail shops

 Wholesale shops, warehouses and fuel storage depots

 Offices

 Catering, restaurants and bars

 Hotels, camp sites and other short-stay accommodation

 Residential care homes

 Leisure and cultural services

 Consumer services

 Other premises (not classified above) 

There are recorded businesses in the Councils’ areas that fall into these categories 

but it is known that there are many more not recorded.  The work involved is 

described below. 

 Proactive Health and Safety interventions 

HSE guidance (LAC67/2) gives local authorities the following overarching 

principle regarding planning regulatory interventions: 

Local Authorities should use the full range of interventions available to 

influence behaviors and the management of risk. 

The National local authority Enforcement Code (the code) advises that local 

authorities should achieve targeted interventions on those activities that give rise to 

Page 162



15 | P a g e

the most serious risks or where the hazards are least well controlled and do this by: 

 Having risk-based intervention plans focused on tackling specific risk;

 Considering the risk that they need to address and using the whole range of 

interventions to target these specific risks;

 Reserving unannounced proactive inspection only for the activities and sectors 

published by HSE or where intelligence suggests risks are not being effectively 

managed; and 

 Using national and local intelligence to inform priorities. 

LAC 67/2 states that proactive inspection should only be used: 

a) For high risk premises/activities within the specific LA enforced sectors 

published by HSE; or 

b) Where intelligence shows that risks are not being effectively managed. 

There are 12 activities/issues identified by the HSE where proactive inspections are 

specifically allowed: 

1. Legionella  infection;

2. Explosion caused by leaking LPG;

3. E.coli/Cryptosporidium infection; 

4. Fatalities/Injuries resulting from being struck by vehicles; 

5. Fatalities/injuries resulting from falls from height/amputation and crushing; 

6. Industrial diseases (occupational deafness/cancer/respiratory diseases); 

7. Falls from height; 

8. Manual handling at high volume warehousing/distribution;

9. Unstable loads at high volume warehousing/distribution;

10.Crowd management & injuries/fatalities to the public at large scale public 

gatherings;

11.Carbon monoxide poisoning at commercial catering premises using solid fuel 

cooking equipment; 

12.Violence at work at premise with vulnerable working conditions. 

As is clear from the above, there are significant constraints as to the interventions 

Page 163



16 | P a g e

that Local Authorities are permitted to make and combined with resourcing pressures 

few proactive inspections are now made.  Nevertheless, the Health and Safety 

services at HPBC and SMDC has continued to operate proactively where there is a 

clearly identifiable need as well as providing an appropriate responsive service. 

In 2019/2020 HPBC and SMDC proactive campaigns are likely to focus on Infection 

Control within the Consumer Services premises such as tattooists, body piercing and 

micro blading, additionally event safety infection control where farm type animals are 

present for members of the public to interact with. 

Accident Investigation 

The law requires employers to report certain types of work related accidents, 

diseases or dangerous occurrences.  Food and Safety Officers will investigate the 

most serious of these incidents to establish if health and safety law has been broken 

and also with the aim at preventing similar accidents from occurring and taking any 

appropriate enforcement action.  Local authorities are required, in accordance with 

their duty under Section 18 of the health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974, to allocate 

sufficient time and resources to investigate accidents, dangerous occurrences and 

causes of occupational ill health. 

Complaints 

Complaints from the public and employees concerning unsafe practices, poor working 

environment, excessive working hours and poor facilities e.g. toilet provision, are 

investigated.  The Councils have a range of legal powers to ensure the necessary 

improvements are made although it is our stated aim to work, wherever possible, with 

all parties concerned to achieve these objectives without having to take formal action. 

Advice to Businesses 

Officers are committed to building positive working relationships with business 

Page 164



17 | P a g e

proprietors and work with them to help them comply with the law and to improve 

health and safety standards.  Increasingly officers will point businesses at web-based 

resources, particularly those produced by the HSE and information is both held on 

and signposted from the Councils’ websites.  Both new and existing businesses are 

encouraged to contact the service for advice. 

Safety Advisory Group 

The Safety Advisory Group (SAG) provides a forum where SMDC or HPBC, along 

with other agencies, may develop a coordinated approach to crowd and spectator 

safety.  The Food and Safety team along with the Licensing Team provide advice on 

event health and safety to the organisers and promotors of events through the SAG. 

Smoke Free 

The Food and Safety team enforce the smoke free legislation which since July 2007 

has made it illegal for workplaces and indoor public places to permit smoking.  Advice 

is given to businesses and complaints relating to this law are investigated. 

Registration of Skin Piercing 

Businesses that carry out skin piercing activities, including acupuncture, tattooing, 

cosmetic piercing, semi-permanent skin coloring or electrolysis, are required to 

register both people and premises with the local authority.  The Food and Safety 

service ensures that those operating registered businesses understand what they 

need to do to prevent the transmission of blood borne diseases. 

The Food and Safety service carries out that statutory responsibility of the two local 

authorities with regards to infectious diseases.  This includes, but is not solely in 

relation to, food borne illness so whilst the service will investigate outbreaks of 

salmonella or E.coli for example, it will also follow up incidents of legionella and 

Page 165



18 | P a g e

hepatitis.  The duties include working with Health Protection England (HPE) to identify 

sources of disease, reducing the risk of transmission, gathering data, liaising with 

people suffering from infectious disease and when necessary taking formal legal 

action to prevent the spread of disease. 

Investigation and control of major outbreaks is undertaken in conjunction with the 

Consultants in Communicable Disease Control at Public Health England.  

Investigation, the establishment of an Outbreak Control Team and control measures 

are all implemented in accordance with the agreed Joint Communicable Disease 

Incident/Outbreak Management Plan. 

Private Water Supplies 

The Water Industry Act requires a local authority to keep itself informed about the 

wholesomeness and sufficiency of every private water supply within its area.  This is 

achieved through statutory duties which include; risk assessments, investigations, 

authorisations and monitoring (sampling and analysis).  Regulations also make 

provisions for local authorities to charge fees to the relevant person(s) for conducting 

these duties. 

If through these duties the councils deem a private water supply to be unwholesome 

and/or insufficient then it has the power to serve notices on the supply in order to 

protect against these. 

Health Promotion and Education 

There are a variety of health promotion and health education activities undertaken by 

the Food and Safety service as follows: 

 Heart of Derbyshire Awards 

This scheme is currently running with the County Council and with the support of the 

Local Authority.   The scheme is web-based and encourages businesses to sign up to 

Page 166



19 | P a g e

reduce salt, sugar or fat or just serve smaller portion.

Members of the public can search for takeaways and restaurants close to them in a 

variety of different ways: by the types of pledges that a business has made – such as 

smaller portions or less salt; by the type of food they would like to eat; or by distance 

from your postcode.

For each premises it is possible to then see details of the food hygiene rating, 

opening hours, type of food available and details of the pledges the businesses have 

made to make healthier food available.

Members will have made pledges under the following headings: fat, salt, fruit, 

vegetables and wholegrain, sugar, portion sizes, allergens, alcoholic drinks and 

breastfeeding.

There are three levels of membership determined by the number of pledges made 

and the food hygiene rating of the member. For example, a food hygiene rating of 

four plus ten pledges equals 14 points.

•Gold Membership = 19 points

•Silver Membership = 15 points

•Bronze Membership = 12 points

Membership is only open to businesses that have gained a minimum score of three 

under the food hygiene rating scheme.

Page 167



20 | P a g e

6. Enforcement 

High Peak Borough Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council as the 

Competent Authorities ensure that enforcement action taken by their authorised 

officers is reasonable, proportionate, consistent, risk-based and in line with good 

practice.  

The Councils’ approach to regulating businesses ensures a commitment to carry out 

regulatory activities in a balanced and proportionate way that supports businesses to 

comply and grow.

Authorised officers must take account of the full range of enforcement options. This 

includes but is not limited to:

 educating food business operators;

 giving advice;

 informal action;

 sampling;

 detaining and seizing food;

 serving Hygiene Improvement Notices/Improvement Notices;

 Hygiene Prohibition Procedures/Prohibition Procedures; and

 Prosecution procedures.

Where a Primary Authority partnership exists, Competent Authorities should attempt 

to resolve non-compliance by liaising with the Primary Authority where appropriate.

Except where circumstances indicate a significant risk, officers should operate a 

graduated and educative approach (the hierarchy of enforcement) starting at the 

bottom of the pyramid i.e. advice/education and informal action and only move to 

more formal action where the informal action does not achieve the desired effect or 

there is an immediate concern for public safety. 

In considering whether to initiate enforcement action, the Councils as the Competent 

Page 168



21 | P a g e

Authorities will always take into account of the following:

 the Code for Crown Prosecutors;

When deciding whether to prosecute, the Councils will have regard to the 

provisions of The Code for Crown Prosecutors as issued by the Director of 

Public Prosecutions.

The Code for Crown Prosecutors is a public document that sets out the

general principles to follow when decisions are made in respect of

prosecuting cases. The Code sets out two tests that must be satisfied,

commonly referred to as the ‘Evidential Test’ and the ‘Public Interest Test’:

o  Evidential Test - is there enough evidence against the defendant?

When deciding whether there is enough evidence to prosecute,

the Councils will consider what evidence can be used in court and is 

reliable. We must be satisfied there is enough evidence to provide a 

"realistic prospect of conviction" against each alleged offender.

o Public Interest Test - is it in the public interest for the case to be

brought to court?

The Councils will balance factors for and against prosecution 

carefully and fairly, considering each case on its merits through the 

consistent use of the Public Interest Matrix.

 the Competent Authority’s Enforcement Policy; and

 the Regulators’ Compliance Code.

Home Authority and Primary Authority Principles 

The Food and Safety service of the two councils supports the Home Authority 

Principle and will provide advice to businesses where they act as the Home or 

Originating Authority.  Officers have regard to information that they receive from any 

Page 169



22 | P a g e

liaison with Home/Originating Authorities and where advice has been received the 

relevant Authority will be kept informed of the actions taken by both Councils. 

The Council acknowledges the primary authority system and appropriate adjustments 

are made to the way in which interventions are made when businesses have entered 

an arrangement with a local authority as a Primary Authority. 

The Food and Safety team will, when appropriate, endeavor to add value to the 

contact they have with businesses and work with our partners at:

 Staffordshire and Derbyshire Food Liaison Groups 

 Staffordshire and Derbyshire Health and Safety Liaison Groups 

 Food Standards Agency Food leads Regional Meetings

 Food Standards Agency Food Hygiene Rating System User Group

 Staffordshire and Derbyshire Event Safety Advisory Group

 Staffordshire and Derbyshire County Councils 

These groups offer the opportunity to share information, organise low cost training for 

our food and safety officers, help to ensure consistent enforcement and provide an 

opportunity to influence the development of activity across the County.  They also 

enable our processional officers to have access to regional and national food and 

health and safety information. 

All officers are jointly authorised and warranted to work across High Peak and 

Staffordshire Moorlands. 

Page 170



23 | P a g e

7. Performance and Review 
 

The Current performance of the Service is measured and monitored via the Councils’ 

performance management system. The service is also required to submit LAEMS 

returns to the Food Standards agency on a yearly basis detailing the number of 

Interventions carried out likewise returns are made to the Health and Safety 

Executive. 

Monitoring arrangements are in place to assist in the quality assessment of the work 

being carried out by the team as follows: 

 Annual peer review of inspections (shadowing)

 Structured review of a sample of post inspection records 

 Regular team meetings

 Individual Performance Review 

 Regular FHRS consistency training exercises with the FSA

2018/2019 in numbers 

 Food Safety interventions carried out 847 (399 SMDC) (HPBC 448)

 Number of Food Hygiene Notices Served 19

 Simple Cautions Administered  2

 Accidents 66

 Infectious diseases 48

 Number of Food Samples taken 40  

Page 171



24 | P a g e

Service Standards 

The Food and Safety service standards and performance against them for 2018/2019 

are: 

Food Hygiene 

 Provide an inspection report at the time of inspection clearly indicating required 

and recommended actions  - 100%

 Respond to requests for advice and information about food safety within 3 

days – 100%

 Respond to complaints of poor hygiene and unsatisfactory food within 3 days – 

100%

Health and Safety enforcement 

 Response to complaints of poor health and safety within 3 days – 100%

 Response to requests for advice and information about health and safety 

within 3 days – 100%

Infectious diseases – control 

 Respond to reports of any notifiable infection where the risk to public health is 

immediate and significant, including outbreaks, within the same working day – 

100% 

 Respond to reports of a less serious notifiable infections within 3 days – 100%

Page 172



25 | P a g e

8. Challenges to Service Delivery & Risk Management

Challenges to service delivery 

 Brexit.  The food law currently enforced by the local authorities is 

predominately based on European regulations and will require reproducing 

domestically. 

 The FSA Regulating Our Future (ROF) review includes some proposals that 

may change the focus of the way we currently regulate food businesses.  

These are quite complex and still under development and consultation. 

Risk Management/Business Continuity 

The Food and Safety service currently has no significant risks identified on the 

corporate risk register.  Identified service level risks relate to resourcing; having 

appropriate structural elements in place (service planning, enforcement policy and 

delegation of authority); and to maintaining the level of skill needed within the team 

(retention and recruitment). 

Page 173



26 | P a g e

9.  Team Health and Safety 

The Food and Safety team has developed a suite of Health and Safety Risk 

Assessments covering the following: 

 On site work, general and site specific hazards 

 Lone Working

 Manual handling 

 Driving for work using your own vehicle

 Violence at work

 Pregnant Staff 

10. Service Action Plan 2019/20 

 To undertake a food premises intervention programme in accordance with the 

requirement of the FSA code of practice to protect the public. 

 Continue to engage with the Food Standards Agency on promotion of food 

safety initiatives. 

 Continue to promote and publicise the FHRS.

 Participation in local and national sampling programs. 

 Continue to promote the Heart of Derbyshire awards. 

 Undertake an intervention program in accordance with the requirements of 

HSE guidance LAC67/2 and the National Local Authority Code to protect 

people in the workplace and the public.  

 Continue to engage with the HSE and other Derbyshire and Staffordshire local 

authorities on promotion of health and safety initiatives and interventions. 

 Continue to improve support for small and medium sized business in HPBC 

and SMDC in conjunction with other council services, and external regulatory 

services. 

 To further develop paper free reporting of food inspections to businesses. 

 To contribute to the Primary Authority scheme. 

Page 174



27 | P a g e

Document Control 

Food and Safety Service Plan 2019/2020 

Head of Environmental Health:  Alicia Patterson

Date: November 2019 

Approval by members (DATE) 

Next Review Date Scheduled April\May 2020 

Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

4 December 2019

TITLE: Declaration of an Air Quality Management Area on part of
the A57, Dinting Vale, Glossop

PORTFOLIO:    Councillor Todd -  Executive Councillor for Climate    
                                 Change, Environment and Community Safety

OFFICER: Alicia Patterson – Head of Environmental Health 

WARDS: Dinting Ward & Hadfield South Ward

Appendices Attached:

Appendix 1: Map of proposed Air Quality Management Area No.2 
Appendix 2: Proposed Air Quality Management Order No. 2
Appendix 3:  HPBC ASR 2019

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To make recommendations to ensure that the Authority meets its legal duty in 
relation to the declaration of Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) as 
required by the provisions of the Environment Act 1995.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That an Order is made under Section 83 of the Environment Act 1995 
declaring an Air Quality Management Area in the form attached at Appendix 
2.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The outcome of an assessment of the air quality along part of the A57 in 
Dinting Vale has concluded that it is necessary to declare an Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA), encompassing the properties between the A626 
Glossop Road / A57 Dinting Vale Junction and the A57 Dinting Vale/ Dinting 
Lane Junction.

3.2 The declaration of the AQMA is required because levels of Nitrogen Dioxide 
have been found to exceed the National Air Quality Standard.

Page 177

Agenda Item 10



Under these circumstances the Council is obliged by the provisions of the 
Environment Act 1995 to declare an Air Quality Management Area. A map 
showing the extent of the AQMA is provided in Appendix 1.

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1 This report supports the following Corporate Aims:

 Aim 1: Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, 
cleaner High Peak

 Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment including responding to 
the climate emergency

5. Options and Analysis

5.1 The Committee is asked to consider the report, and determine whether 
the evidence provided is sufficient to recommend that an Order under 
Section 83 of the Environment Act 1995 declaring an Air Quality 
Management Area be made.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

There are no Community Safety issues arising from this report.

6.2 Workforce

There are no workforce implications arising from this report.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

This report  has  been  prepared  in  accordance  with  the  Council's 
Diversity and Equality Policies.

There are no equality and diversity implications arising from this report.

6.4 Financial Considerations

There are no initial financial implications arising from this report. All 
assessments will be carried out as part of the Council’s routine work. 
However, the Council may need to seek support from external bodies 
should any further modelling be required for the preparation of the action 
plan. Typically the cost of this would be in the region of £5,000.

6.5 Legal

Page 178



The Council has a statutory duty to manage air quality in its area and 
where nationally set criteria are exceeded to declare an Air Quality 
Management Area. Having declared an AQMA, the Council is obliged to 
prepare, following due consultation with interested parties, an Air Quality 
Action Plan. The Plan must subsequently be implemented. Failure to do 
so may result in legal action being taken against the Council.

6.6 Sustainability

There are no sustainability implications arising from this report.

6.7 Internal and External Consultation

Public consultation cannot change the decision of whether or not to 
declare (this is mandatory). However, a public notification/informative 
exercise will be completed to inform those affected, including:

 Letters and information to all residents affected;
 A public drop in session at Dinting Vale;
 Notification in the local paper (Glossop Chronicle); and
 Web Promotion.

6.8 Risk Assessment

It is a statutory requirement that the Council assesses air quality and 
takes action where appropriate. In this case there is an obligation to 
declare an AQMA. The necessary process is underway and there are no 
risks to the Council at this stage of the process.

The European Commission has formally launched infraction proceedings 
against the UK for breach of nitrogen dioxide limit values under the EU 
Air Quality Directive. Part 2 of the Localism Act allows the Government 
to require responsible authorities to pay all or part of an infraction fine. 
By undertaking its statutory duties and carrying out all reasonable 
measures to address breaches of the nitrogen dioxide limits, it is 
anticipated that such fines will not be derogated to this Council.

7. Background and Detail

7.1 Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts. In 
common with the rest of the UK, the main sources of air pollution across 
the High Peak are emissions from road traffic, in particularly Nitrogen 
Dioxide and Particulate matter.

7.2 Typically, the highest road-side concentrations of these pollutants are 
found on roads with high traffic volumes and/or where traffic regularly 
queues. However, roadside pollution also tends to reduce as you move 
away from the traffic therefore, when measuring pollution, the 
government requires Councils to focus on areas considered to be 
“relevant exposure”.  In other words, it should be representative of the

Page 179



air people actually breathe.  This is usually means the concentrations at 
a person’s home (at the façade of the property) but it can also mean 
another location that people spend a lot of time, such as a town centre 
or school.

7.3 Legal Framework

Section 82 of the Environment Act 1995 requires a Local Authority to 
review and assess local air quality against national health based 
standards for seven key pollutants set out in the Air Quality 
Regulations 2000 (as amended). The regulatory framework previously 
set up a phased approach to this work, starting with an Update and 
Screening Assessment and moving to a detailed assessment where 
further work is required. In 2016 the regulatory system changed, and 
the phased approach has been replaced by an Annual Status Report 
(‘ASR’).

7.4 The government publishes Air Quality objectives for the individual 
pollutants, and the Council determines if we have got a pollution issue 
in an area by comparing our monitoring data with these objectives. 
Under Section 83(1) of the Environment Act 1995, where air quality 
objectives are not being met (or are predicted to not be met), the local 
authority must proceed and designate this area as an Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA).

7.5 Local Authorities are charged with a number of duties relative to the 
declaration of an AQMA:

7.5.1 Action Planning

Once an AQMA has been declared, the local authority has a 
year to publish an Action Plan setting out how the Authority 
intends to use the measures and powers available to work 
towards improving the air quality within the AQMA. In instances 
relating to traffic generated pollution, the powers are primarily 
available to other organisations, such as the relevant highways 
authority, rather than the Borough Council. Changes in the 
statutory policy guidance place a greater emphasis on highway 
authorities to take a leading role in developing actions plans, 
when the cause of air quality exceedances is predominantly from 
roads under their responsibility. As such, the action plan will be 
developed in conjunction with those bodies.

7.5.2 Review Action Plan Progress.

Progress on implementing the action plan will be reviewed 
annually.

7.6 Proposed Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), Dinting Vale

Page 180



The A57 is a major road connecting Greater Manchester and Glossop.    
High Peak Borough Council currently monitors air quality at various 
locations across the Borough, including several locations along the along 
the A57 in Dinting Vale, Glossop, which were installed in 2017 (HP21 & 
HP22) and 2018 (HP25)

The monitoring locations are shown in Figure 1 below:

Figure 1: Nitrogen Dioxide Monitoring Locations on the A57, Dinting Vale, 
Glossop

7.7 Recent monitoring presented in the 2019 Annual Air Quality Status Report 
(attached at Appendix 3 to this report) concluded that the annual mean 
levels of Nitrogen Dioxide exceed the air quality (AQ) objective of 
40µg/m3d at two locations along a section of the A57. The results for 
Nitrogen Dioxide in these monitoring locations, for the last two years, are 
shown below in Table 1.

Table 1: Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) Monitoring Results for A57

HP 
Ref:

Measured NO2 conc (µg/m3)
2017

Measured NO2 conc (µg/m3)
2018

HP21 44.4 41.3

HP22 37.2 33.6

HP25 -- 53.6

Page 181



7.8 As a consequence of the identified exceedance, a Detailed Assessment of 
air quality within the Dinting Vale area of Glossop was undertaken. This 
was undertaken using the ADMS-Roads dispersion model to determine 
whether an exceedance of an air quality objective is likely at properties not 
directly monitored and the geographical extent of that exceedance. 

7.9 The assessment identified that the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective 
is being exceeded at relevant locations along Dinting Vale, between 
Glossop Road and Dinting Lane.  It is recommended that an AQMA is 
declared to include, as a minimum, those residential properties that are 
predicted to be exceeding 40 µg/m3. These are shown in Figure 2 below: 
The full detailed assessment is included in the 2019 ARS.

Figure 2: Minimum extent of proposed AQMA in Dinting Vale

7.10 Under Section 83(1) of the Environment Act 1995, where air quality 
objectives are not being met (or are predicted to not be met), the local 
authority must proceed and designate this area as an Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA).

It is, therefore, recommended that an Air Quality Management Area 
(AQMA), encompassing the properties between the A626 Glossop Road / 
A57 Dinting Vale Junction and the A57 Dinting Vale/ Dinting Lane 

Page 182



Junction, is declared by the Council.  The form of Order to declare the 
AQMA is attached at Appendix 2.

A map showing the extent of the proposed AQMA is provided in 
Appendix 1.

7.11 Once the AQMA has been declared, the Council has a year to publish an 
Action Plan, setting out how we will use the measures and powers 
available to work towards improving the air quality within the AQMA. The 
Action Plan will take a practical approach and focus on what really matters 
– identifying the nature of the problem, and detailing measures that are or 
will be introduced to improve air quality local level.

7.12 The Council will not be preparing or implementing the action plan in 
isolation and will engage with relevant local (e.g. the public, Derbyshire 
County Council) and national stakeholders (e.g. Highways England, Public 
Health England and Central Government), to help deliver the required 
outcomes.

In instances relating to traffic generated pollution, the powers are primarily 
available to other organisations, such as the relevant highways authority 
or agency, rather than the Borough Council. Recent changes in the 
statutory policy guidance place a greater emphasis on highway authorities 
to take a leading role in developing actions plans, when, as in this 
instance, the cause of air quality exceedances is predominantly from 
roads under their responsibility. As the source of pollution along the A57 is 
traffic generated pollution, the Council will look to Derbyshire County 
Council (Highways Authority), who are responsible for the management of 
this road, for help in preparing and delivering the action plan.

Mark Trillo 
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Alicia Patterson
Head of Environmental Health
alicia.patterson@highpeak.gov.uk

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100018411.

High Peak Borough Council
Air Quality Management Area No2; Dinting Vale

Scale: 1:2500           

Text

AQMA No. 2          

P
age 185



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Air Quality Management Area Order

Environment Act 1995 Part IV Section 83(2)

High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council, in exercise of the powers conferred upon it by Section 

83(1) of the Environment Act 1995, hereby makes the following Order.

This Order may be cited/referred to as the High Peak Borough Council Air Quality 

Management Area No 2. and shall come into effect on XXXXXX

The area shown on the attached map in red is to be designated as an air quality 

management area (the designated area). “ The designated area incorporates the 

following section of the A57 Dinting Vale Road  between the A626 Glossop Road / 

A57 Dinting Vale Junction and the A57 Dinting Vale/ Dinting Lane Junction “.

This Area is designated in relation to a likely breach of the Nitrogen Dioxide annual 

mean standard as specified in the Air Quality Regulations 2000.

 This Order shall remain in force until it is varied or revoked by a subsequent order.

The Common Seal of High Peak Borough Council was hereto affixed on XXX and 

signed in the presence of  xxxxxx   on behalf of said Council

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

2018 and 2019 Air Quality Annual Status 
Report (ASR)

In fulfilment of Part IV of the
Environment Act 1995
Local Air Quality Management

September 2019

Page 189



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

Local Authority 
Officer Daniel McCrory

Department Regulatory Services

Address Town Hall, Buxton SK17 6DZ

Telephone 01538 395400 ext 4413

E-mail Daniel.McCrory@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Report Reference 
number J3518/1/D2

Date September 2019

Report prepared by

David Bailey and Dr Clare Beattie

Page 190



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

Annual Status Report (ASR) Air Quality - Derbyshire 
County Council; Endorsement from the Director of 
Public 

Air pollution has a significant effect on public health, and poor air quality is the largest 

environmental risk to public health in the UK.  Long-term exposure to air pollution has 

been shown to reduce life expectancy, due to its impact on cardiovascular and 

respiratory diseases and lung cancer.  Many everyday activities such as transport, 

industrial processes, farming, energy generation and domestic heating can have a 

detrimental effect on air quality.  

The annual status report is fundamental to ensuring the monitoring of trends and 

identification of areas of local air pollution exposure.  The cumulative effect of a 

range of interventions has the greatest potential to reduce local air pollution and 

improve population health, as such the annual status report and associated action 

plans provide an opportunity to engage a range of partners.  

Public health will continue work with partners to advocate for improvements in Air 

Quality and provide expertise and evidence to inform policy.

Dean Wallace, 

Director of Public Health, Derbyshire County Council 
May 2019 

Page 191



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 i

Executive Summary: Air Quality in Our Area
Air Quality in High Peak
Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts. It is recognised 

as a contributing factor in the onset of heart disease and cancer. Additionally, air 

pollution particularly affects the most vulnerable in society: children and older people, 

and those with heart and lung conditions. There is also often a strong correlation with 

equalities issues, because areas with poor air quality are also often the less affluent 

areas1,2.

The annual health cost to society of the impacts of particulate matter alone in the UK 

is estimated to be around £16 billion3. 

High Peak is one of nine district authorities within Derbyshire. It is located in the north 

west of the County and abuts the Greater Manchester conurbation to the west. To 

the east of High Peak are the metropolitan areas of Sheffield and Barnsley.  It is 

home to approximately 83,000 people who live primarily in the main market towns of 

Glossop, New Mills, Whaley Bridge, Chapel-en-le-Frith and Buxton.

The main sources of emissions are from traffic, although there are pockets of 

industry across the authority.  Only NO2 is monitored within the district.  High Peak is 

crossed by the A6, the A628 and the A57. The A628 traverses the north of the area, 

from Hollingworth and through Tintwistle. The A6 enters High Peak at New Mills, 

follows an easterly and then a southerly direction, through Chapel-en-le- Frith and 

Buxton, crossing the borough boundary east of Buxton. The A57 runs from Glossop 

eastwards to Ladybower Reservoir.

The 2017 High Peak ASR proposed for one AQMA to be declared in Tintwistle, which 

was declared in 11th October 2018. Monitoring data in 2017 and 2018 have shown 

continued exceedances of the nitrogen dioxide objective and therefore this AQMA 

should be retained. 

1 Environmental equity, air quality, socioeconomic status and respiratory health, 2010
2 Air quality and social deprivation in the UK: an environmental inequalities analysis, 2006
3 Defra. Abatement cost guidance for valuing changes in air quality, May 2013

Page 192



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 ii

Actions to Improve Air Quality
Air Quality is generally good in High Peak and there is only one AQMA declared in 

Tintwistle. The Air Quality Action Plan for this AQMA is under development.  There 

are however, a number of measures in place which will ensure that there is not any 

deterioration in air quality, and that air quality improves into the future.

The Local Plan for High Peak (High Peak Borough Council, 2016), adopted in 2016, 

recognises that Transport Assessments required to accompany relevant proposals 

under Policy CF6, on Accessibility and Transport should include consideration of the 

impact of proposals on air quality.

In addition, Policy EQ 10 on Pollution Control and Unstable Land states that:

“The Council will protect people and the environment from unsafe, unhealthy and 

polluted environments. This will be achieved by:

Ensuring developments avoid potential adverse effects and only permitting 

developments that are deemed (individually or cumulatively) to result in the following 

types of pollution [including air pollution (including odours or particulate emissions)].  

If there are any remaining potential adverse effects, they should be mitigated to an 

acceptable level by other environmental controls or measures included in the 

proposals.”

This policy is currently being implemented through the inclusion of planning 

conditions.  Regulatory Services are a statutory consultee on planning applications 

and routinely monitor all applications for potential contribution to air quality.

Transport Planning at Derbyshire County Council actively promotes a number of 

policies to encourage sustainable workplace travel planning, encouraging and 

facilitating home working, school travel plans, walking, cycling and car share.  

Although the impacts of these policies are impossible to quantify, all should reduce 

overall car usage within Derbyshire and hence improve air quality over the wider 

area.

High Peak Borough Council has been working with Derbyshire County Council and 

Nottingham City Council as part of a D2N2 known as the “Go Ultra Low Programme”, 

which has the aim to bring electric vehicle (EV) charge points to the area. 

Page 193



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 iii

Phase 1 of this project has been completed and determined four suitable HPBC car 

park locations for installation of rapid charge points for electric vehicles. 

The installation of Electric Vehicle charge points across the district is considered a 

key component all in these options.  It will help the public to more easily switch to 

less polluting vehicles by providing the infrastructure to do so. The use of Council car 

parks will demonstrate that High Peak Borough Council is leading by example and 

the publicity will increasing awareness of air quality issues across the local 

community.

Conclusions and Priorities
The key issue affecting the district is roadside NO2 concentrations in town centres, on 

through route locations and at busy junctions where traffic regularly queues close to 

locations with relevant exposure.    

Continued exceedances of the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective were 

measured in 2017 and 2018 within the Tintwistle AQMA. The development and 

implementation of an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) is a priority to improve air 

quality within the AQMA. 

Monitoring of NO2 in Glossop has established measured concentrations above the 

annual mean NO2 objective in locations with relevant exposure.  The monitoring data 

have been used to inform a Detailed Assessment of the area to discover if there are 

any sensitive receptors which are experiencing exceedances of the annual mean 

objective.  The Assessment has identified exceedances of the annual mean nitrogen 

dioxide objective in 2018 at a number of properties along Dinting Vale in Glossop. 

Declaration of an AQMA is therefore recommended, with further details found in 

Appendices D and E.

A Detailed Assessment will also be required  on the A6 in Furness Vale.  This 

assessment will need to include the section of road where HP32 is located, but will 

be further scoped in terms of the extent of investigation required.

Whilst local authorities have a key role to play in delivering air quality improvements, 

further support is needed with regards to national and international policies to affect 

the necessary behavioural change, and reduce vehicle emissions, for example 

through taking action to ensure the implementation of effective emission control 

Page 194



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 iv

systems, accelerated fleet renewal and the rebalancing of the UK vehicle fleet as a 

whole towards cleaner technologies.

Local Engagement and How to get Involved
HPBC publishes Air Pollution information via the council website and provides a 
portal for reporting air pollution concerns and suggestions on how to improve air 
quality ( https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/342/Air-quality). Due to the main source 
of air pollution within HPBC being transport sources, one of the easiest ways for the 
public to get involved in aiding air quality improvements, would be to look at 
alternatives modes of travel. 

Members of the public can help improve air quality in the borough by travelling using 

sustainable transport options, such as walking, cycling, car sharing and using public 

transport.  High Peak Borough Council encourages the promotion of sustainable 

transport choices and further information can be found at 

https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-

travel/sustainable-travel-and-smarter-choices.aspx.

HPBC is in a strategic alliance with Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and who 

helped contribute to the air aware website. The air aware website a great deal of 

information on air quality and including lots of suggested alternatives to private travel 

such as; 

Commute
 Leaving the car at home one day a week. 

 Using public transport whenever practicable which will reduce the 
number of private vehicles in operation thereby reducing pollutant 
concentrations through the number of vehicles and reducing congestion;

 Avoid vehicle idling and/or use of air conditioning running 
continuously. By switching your engine off you can save fuel, money 
and improve local air quality.

 Walk or cycle if your journey allows 

 Car/lift sharing

 Alternative fuel / more efficient vehicles 

Further information on the above, including downloadable resources is available via 

Page 195

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/342/Air-quality
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-travel/sustainable-travel-and-smarter-choices.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-travel/sustainable-travel-and-smarter-choices.aspx


High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 v

the Air aware website:

https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-

aware/Air-aware.aspx

There are also a number of ways you can improve air quality from activities within 
your home or business, these are;

Energy Efficiency
 Be energy efficient - make sure your house is well insulated and use 

energy efficient appliances https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-
energy-efficiency

Smoke Control
 You can check if you live in a smoke control zone here: 

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/355/Smoke-control-areas

In a Smoke Control Area you need to make sure that any appliance is 
exempt or is included in the list of authorised fuels. Defra keeps a list 
of approved appliances and authorised fuels that are permitted for use 
in smoke control areas at 
https://smokecontrol.defra.gov.uk/appliances.php?country=england. 

Due to the rise in popularity of wood burning stoves defra has recently 
published guidance  on the use of this type of appliance

https://ukair.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat09/1901291307_
Ready_to_Burn_Web.pdf

The key message is to ensure that all wood used in these appliances 
need to be clean and  less than 20% moisture.  Consequently HPBC 
would encourage the use of  Woodsure Certified Supplier 
(www.woodsure.co.uk), when purchasing fuel for these appliances. 

Other Sources of Information
Global Action Plan, a charity that is working for a green and thriving planet have 
for the first time provided a hub called the Clean Air Hub, that brings together 
public accessible information on air pollution all in one place. Whether you want to 
learn more about what air pollution is, how it affects your health, what you can do 
to protect yourself from it and the action you can take to tackle it, then the collection 
of information, resources and expert advice on the Clean Air Hub will help and 

Page 196

https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-energy-efficiency
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-energy-efficiency
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/355/Smoke-control-areas
https://smokecontrol.defra.gov.uk/appliances.php?country=england
https://ukair.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat09/1901291307_Ready_to_Burn_Web.pdf
https://ukair.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat09/1901291307_Ready_to_Burn_Web.pdf
http://www.woodsure.co.uk/


High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 vi

inspire you to get informed and involved. The Clean Air Hub can be accessed 
from the following web link; 
https://www.cleanairday.org.uk/pages/category/clean-air-hub

Page 197

https://www.cleanairday.org.uk/pages/category/clean-air-hub


High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 vii

Table of Contents
Executive Summary: Air Quality in Our Area ...........................................................i

Air Quality in High Peak ........................................................................................................ i

Actions to Improve Air Quality .............................................................................................. ii

Conclusions and Priorities ................................................................................................... iii

Local Engagement and How to get Involved.......................................................................iv
Commute ..................................................................................................................................... iv

Energy Efficiency ........................................................................................................................v

Smoke Control .............................................................................................................................v
Other Sources of Information.....................................................................................................v

1 Local Air Quality Management .........................................................................1
2 Actions to Improve Air Quality .........................................................................2

2.1 Air Quality Management Areas ................................................................................2

2.2 Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air QQuality in High Peak 

Borough Council ..................................................................................................................4
Transport Measures ....................................................................................................................4

Policy............................................................................................................................................5

Education, community and partnership measures..................................................................8

2.3 PM2.5 – Local Authority Approach to Reducing Emissions and/or 

Concentrations...................................................................................................................14

3 Air Quality Monitoring Data and Comparison with Air Quality 
Objectives and National Compliance .....................................................................16

3.1 Summary of Monitoring Undertaken.......................................................................16
3.1.1 Automatic Monitoring Sites...........................................................................................16

3.1.2 Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites...................................................................................16

3.2 Individual Pollutants ...............................................................................................16
3.2.1 Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2).................................................................................................16

Appendix A: Monitoring Results.............................................................................18
Appendix B: Full Monthly Diffusion Tube Results for 2017-2018........................25
Appendix C: Supporting Technical Information / Air Quality Monitoring 
Data QA/QC...............................................................................................................29

3.3 Supporting Technical Information...........................................................................29
3.3.1 Trans Pennine Upgrade, Glossop ................................................................................29

3.3.2 Buxton sidings extension: Transport and Works Act order ..........................................29

3.3.3 STORS site ..................................................................................................................29

3.3.4 Housing developments.................................................................................................30

Page 198



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 viii

3.3.5 Industrial Developments...............................................................................................31

3.4 Diffusion Tube Bias Adjustment Factors ................................................................32
3.4.1 QA/QC of Diffusion Tube Monitoring............................................................................32

3.4.2 Bias Adjustment Factor ................................................................................................32

3.4.3 Diffusion Tube Annualisation........................................................................................33

3.4.4 Distance from Road Calculation...................................................................................35

Appendix D: Detailed Dispersion Modelling Dinting Vale, Glossop....................38
Introduction ........................................................................................................................38

Background........................................................................................................................38

The Air Quality Objectives .................................................................................................39

Modelling............................................................................................................................40

Results ...............................................................................................................................41

Air Quality Improvements Required ...................................................................................42

Conclusions and Recommendations .................................................................................44

Appendix E: Dispersion Modelling Methodology..................................................46
Uncertainty in Road Traffic Modelling Predictions .............................................................46

Model Inputs ......................................................................................................................46

Background Concentrations...............................................................................................48

Model Verification ..............................................................................................................49

Model Post-processing ......................................................................................................51

Sensitivity Test ...................................................................................................................51

Appendix F: Maps of Monitoring Locations and AQMAs .....................................53
Appendix G: Summary of Air Quality Objectives in England ..............................57
Glossary of Terms....................................................................................................58
References ................................................................................................................59

List of Tables
Table A 1 – Details of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites..............................................18
Table A 2 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results ....................................................22
Table E.1: Summary of Traffic Data used in the Detailed Assessments (AADT Flows) 

a .................................................................................................................47
Table B 1 – NO2 Monthly Diffusion Tube Results – 2017...........................................25
Table B 2 – NO2 Monthly Diffusion Tube Results – 2018...........................................26
Table G 1 – Air Quality Objectives in England ...........................................................57

List of Figures
Figure C 1: Distance Correction Calculations 2017....................................................36
Figure C 2: Distance Correction Calculations 2018....................................................37

Page 199



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 ix

Figure F 1: Diffusion Tube Locations in Tintwistle......................................................53
Figure F 2: Diffusion Tube Locations New Town Lights .............................................54
Figure F 3: Diffusion Tube Locations Glossop ...........................................................54
Figure F 4: Diffusion Tube Locations in Hadfield........................................................55
Figure F 5: Diffusion Tube Locations Furness Vale ...................................................55
Figure F 6: Diffusion Tube Locations Dove Hole School............................................56
Figure F 7: Diffusion Tube Locations Buxton .............................................................56

High Peak Borough Council accepts the conclusions of this report.

Page 200



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 1

1 Local Air Quality Management
This report provides an overview of air quality in the High Peak Borough Council area 

for the years 2017 and 2018. It fulfils the requirements of Local Air Quality 

Management (LAQM) as set out in Part IV of the Environment Act (1995) and the 

relevant Policy and Technical Guidance documents.

The LAQM process places an obligation on all local authorities to regularly review 

and assess air quality in their areas, and to determine whether or not the air quality 

objectives are likely to be achieved. Where an exceedance is considered likely the 

local authority must declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and prepare 

an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) setting out the measures it intends to put in place 

in pursuit of the objectives. This Annual Status Report (ASR) is an annual 

requirement showing the strategies employed by High Peak Borough Council to 

improve air quality and any progress that has been made.

The statutory air quality objectives applicable to LAQM in England can be found in 

Table G 1 in Appendix H.

Page 201



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 2

2 Actions to Improve Air Quality
2.1 Air Quality Management Areas
Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) are declared when there is an exceedance 

or likely exceedance of an air quality objective. After declaration, the authority must 

prepare an Air Quality Action Plan within 12 months, setting out measures it intends 

to put in place in pursuit of compliance with the objectives.

A summary of AQMA declared by High Peak Borough Council can be found in Table 

2.1. Further information related to declared or revoked AQMAs, including maps of 

AQMA boundaries are available online at 

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/3883/Additional-Information-on-the-area. 

Alternatively, see Appendix F: Maps of Monitoring Locations and AQMAs, which 

provides for a map of air quality monitoring locations in relation to the AQMA.

Page 202

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/3883/Additional-Information-on-the-area


High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 3

Table 2.1 – Declared Air Quality Management Areas

Level of Exceedance 
(maximum 

monitored/modelled 
concentration at a location 

of relevant exposure)

Action Plan
AQMA 
Name

Date of 
Declaration

Pollutants 
and Air 
Quality 

Objectives

City / 
Town

One Line 
Description

Is air quality 
in the AQMA 
influenced by 

roads 
controlled by 

Highways 
England?

At 
Declaration Now Name Date of 

Publication Link

AQMA 
no.1:Tintwis

tle 
11/ 10/2018 NO2 Annual 

Mean Tintwistle

An area 
encompassing a 
small number of 
houses located 

between the 
A628 and Old 

Road. 

YES 49.9 µg/m3 45.6 µg/m3

AQAP 
under 

developm
ent

  

☒ High Peak Borough Council confirm the information on UK-Air regarding their AQMA(s) is up to date

P
age 203



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2019 4

2.2 Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air 
Quality in High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council declared an AQMA in Tintwistle on 11/10/2018, and the 

Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) is currently being finalised that include direct 

measures proposed for this area. However, High Peak Borough Council has adopted  

a number measures in pursuit of improving local air quality across the borough, 

which will also be included in the AQAP

Details of all measures completed, in progress or planned are set out in Table 2.2, 

and the commentary below. These can generally be categorised into; transport, 

policy, leading by example, and education, community and partnership measures 

Transport Measures

 EV Charging Points 

Currently no networks operate any charge points on public operated car parks in the 

High Peak. The NHS has installed some at their facilities and the others are on 

privately owned land. Therefore,  the public have very limited options for charging 

EVs when they are visiting or residing in High Peak other than charging their EVs at 

home. 

High Peak Borough Council has been working with Derbyshire County Council, 

Nottingham City Council and BP Chargemaster as part of a D2N2 known as the “Go 

Ultra Low Programme”, which has the aim to bring electric vehicle (EV) charge points 

to the area. 

The installation of Electric Vehicle charge points across the district is considered a 

key component all in these options.  It will help the public to more easily switch to 

less polluting vehicles by providing the infrastructure to do so. The use of Council car 

parks will demonstrate that High Peak Borough Council is leading by example and 

the publicity will increasing awareness of air quality issues across the local 

community.

Phase 1 of this project has been completed and determined four HPBC car park 

locations that are suitable for installation of rapid charge points for electric vehicles.  

Page 204



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2019 5

These are 

o Market Place Car Park, Buxton

o Municipal Buildings Car Park, Glossop

o Station Road Car Park, Hadfield

o Hope Valley Car Park, Hope

Installation of these rapid EV charging points will progress in 2019.

In addition, HPBC are in the process of submitted a second bid (Phase 2) with our 

stakeholder partners to secure funding to supply EV charging access in areas of high 

density housing, where residents may wish to invest in an EV but have limited scope 

to charge their car because of lack of a private garage or driveway.   Several 

potential suitable locations were identified and supported by resident’s surveys that 

have demonstrated a public appetite for the project.    These various sites have now 

been submitted to our partners for further evaluation to determine which have the 

appropriate infrastructure to support EV charge points.  The results of the study are 

due in March 2020. 

Policy 

Local policies contained within the Local Transport Plan for Derbyshire, the Peak 

District National Park Core Strategy and the Local Plan for High Peak all aim to 

reduce traffic across High Peak. These policies are currently being implemented 

through the inclusion of planning conditions.  Regulatory Services are a statutory 

consultee on planning applications and routinely monitor all applications for potential 

contribution to air quality to ensure that any potentially unacceptable increases in 

pollutants are identified and mitigated.

The High Peak Local Plan (2016-2031) was formerly adopted in April 2016 and 

provides a framework for delivering development for the period 2016 to 2031, by 

setting out the development strategy, strategic and development management 

policies and land designations for the Borough. Several of the previous policies have 

been updated, to reflect a needed to improve the environment including air quality: 

The key policies are:

Page 205



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2019 6

 Policy EQ1: Climate Change: The Council will strive to meet part of the 

Borough's future energy demand through renewable or low-carbon energy 

sources (which could be through a variety of technologies, in line with current 

evidence which identifies the feasibility of these forms of energy across the 

Borough).

 Policy EQ 10 on Pollution Control and Unstable Land states that: “The Council 

will protect people and the environment from unsafe, unhealthy and polluted 

environments. This will be achieved by: Ensuring developments avoid 

potential adverse effects and only permitting developments that are deemed 

(individually or cumulatively) to result in the following types of pollution 

[including air pollution (including odours or particulate emissions)].  If there are 

any remaining potential adverse effects, they should be mitigated to an 

acceptable level by other environmental controls or measures included in the 

proposals.” 

 Policy CF6 Accessibility and Transport; states that Assessments required to 

accompany relevant proposals under Policy CF6 should include consideration 

of the impact of proposals on air quality

Derbyshire County Council (DCC) is responsible for producing a statutory Local 

Transport Plan (LTP) which sets out the Council's strategy for transport. Strategy 

between 2011–2026.  The strategy was informed by a strategic environmental 

assessment (SEA) and puts forward several policies and measures under the County 

Council’s jurisdiction that will impact on air quality: 

 Policy TENV3 requires that consideration should be given to the 

appropriateness of providing infrastructure for alternative vehicle technology, 

for example, the installation and operation of charging points for electric/hybrid 

vehicles in new developments.

 Policy TENV4 Ensure transport elements of developments pay sufficient 

account to environmental issues Interventions to support the local economy in 

this and other settlements.

Page 206



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2019 7

To support mitigation measures by the above policies DCC have developed and 

Investment Protocol: Environmental Mitigation and Enhancement – to incorporate 

environmental mitigation and enhancement in all LTP programme areas

The Peak District National Park Core Strategy includes several  policies that will that 

will impact on air quality: 

 Policy T1 of the Peak District National Park Core Strategy aims to reduce the 

need to travel and encourages sustainable transport by making the National 

Park’s characteristics the primary criterion in planning and design decisions, 

by deterring cross-park traffic, and by encouraging sustainable transport (Peak 

District National Park Authority, 2011). 

 Policy LC21 of the Peak District Local Plan (Peak District National Park 

Authority, 2001) on pollution and disturbance has been retained. It is designed 

to prevent development that presents a risk of pollution.

Leading by example measures

In accordance with climate change policy,  DCC have developed a Transport Carbon 

Dioxide Reduction Strategy CO2 reduction project, to reduced CO2 emissions and 

other greenhouse gases (including NOx). These include: 

 Sustainable Travel Town Initiatives including a full package of measures to 

promote and encourage more sustainable transport. 

 Business Travel Planning to include encouraging lower carbon HGV 

technologies.

 Encouraging walking and cycling, creation of viable cycle networks which link 

to the wider Greenway network throughout Derbyshire, and promotion and 

marketing of networks, including production of maps.

  Provision of cycle training for adults if required. Smarter driving campaign, 

potential for provision of discounted smarter driving training. 

Vehicle type and fuel choice campaign – awareness raising campaign, 

including providing up-to-date information regarding outlets selling alternative 

fuels.

 Transport Choices’ education campaign to be investigated.

Page 207



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2019 8

In addition to policy the Council are looking to adopt the following lead by example 

initiatives/policies: 

 Replacing the Council vehicles (when required) with ones that are less 

polluting and more fuel efficient, 

 Adopting an anti idling policy / eco-driver training for some essential car 

users.

 Securing EV charging points at appropriate places of work

 Continuing to develop initiatives, such as flexible working, that reduces the 

need for employees to use their cars to get to work.

Education, community and partnership measures

HPBC is a member of the Derbyshire Pollution Group (DPG) and Derbyshire Air 
Quality Forum (DAQF), which has encouraged partnership working on local air 
quality management, which is important given the cross boundary nature of air 
pollution. The DAQF comprises of local authority air quality officers, Derby City 
Council, Derbyshire County Council, Public Health England and County Public 
Health staff and other relevant stakeholders as necessary. DAQF is also a member 
of the East Midlands Air Quality Network (EMAQN).  Over the past 12 months the 
Forum has been delivering a comprehensive Action Plan with multi-agency and 
private sector support. The Action Plan is based around six key themes:

 Strategic vision and cross organisational working; 

 Improve access and promote usage of sustainable travel;

 Increase awareness of air quality issues amongst the population and 
strategic leaders;

 Reduce exposure and harm for those with existing health conditions and 
vulnerable groups;

 Planning and Development Control;

 Monitoring.

Specific actions from partners within the forum have included;

 The development of a Draft Derbyshire Low Emissions Infrastructure 
Strategy;

Page 208



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2019 9

 The development of supplementary planning guidance for local planning 
authorities (in conjunction with the EMAQN) ;

 Mapping of ebike charging points across the County;

 Development and implementation of strategic plan for cycling to ensure 
continued investment in infrastructure;

 Support of the Healthy Homes project around fuel poverty and affordable 
warmth; 

 Development of Annual trends report to Derbyshire Health and Wellbeing 
Board

 Development of Heat Map

 Promotional activities around clean air day

 Awareness raising and training events

The progresses of these indicatives measures are reported annually to the DCC 

Health and Wellbeing Boar. A draft Air Quality Strategy is due to be submitted to the 

Health and Wellbeing Board, which will outline roles of Health and Wellbeing Board 

partners to reduce air pollution and mitigate the impacts from 2020-2030

Whilst the measures stated above and in Table 2.2 will help to contribute 
towards improvements in Air Quality HPBC anticipates that further additional 
measures not yet prescribed will be developed with the support of key stakeholders 
to address air quality issues across the borough. 

High Peak Borough Council’s priorities for the coming year are to continue with the 

indicatives described above,  finalise the Air Quality Action Plan for Tintwistle.

Additionally, a Detailed Assessment of air quality in Glossop is underway with 

additional diffusion tube monitors having been deployed in 2017.  Next years ASR 

will include a Detailed Assessment at the A6 Buxton Road in Furness Vale.

Page 209



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2019 10

Table 2.2 – Progress on Measures to Improve Air Quality

Meas
ure 
No.

Measure EU 
Category EU Classification

Organisatio
ns involved 

and 
Funding 
Source

Planning 
Phase

Implementa
tion Phase

Key 
Performance 

Indicator

Reduction in 
Pollutant / 

Emission from 
Measure

Progress to Date
Estimated / 

Actual 
Completion 

Date

Comments / 
Barriers to 

implementation

1

Installation of 
public rapid EV 
Charging points 
across borough

Promoting 
Low 

Emission 
Transport

Promote Low 
Emission Vehicles

HPBC  / 
DCC/NCC

2018/ 
2019 2019 Unknown Reduced Vehicle 

emissions Ongoing Ongoing

https://www.transp
ortnottingham.com
/driving/ultra-low-

emission-vehicles/

2

Installation of 
off street EV 

Charging points 
across borough

Promoting 
Low 

Emission 
Transport

Promote Low 
Emission Vehicles

HPBC  / 
DCC/NCC 2019 Provisionally 

2020 Unknown Reduced Vehicle 
emissions Ongoing Ongoing

https://www.transp
ortnottingham.com
/driving/ultra-low-

emission-vehicles/

3

Develop 
Electric Vehicle 

Charging 
Strategy for 

borough

Promoting 
Low 

Emission 
Transport

Developing 
infrastructure to 

promote Low 
Emission 

Vehicles, EV 
recharging, Gas 
fuel recharging

HPBC  / 
DCC/NCC Ongoing Ongoing Unknown Reduced Vehicle 

emissions Ongoing Ongoing

https://www.transp
ortnottingham.com
/driving/ultra-low-

emission-vehicles/

4
HPBC Core 

Strategy 
PolicyEQ10

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developmen

t Control

Other policy HPBC 2014 2015 TBC
Reduced vehicle 

and building 
emissions

Implementation 
on-going Operational None

5
Peak District 

Core Strategy 
Policy T1

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developmen

t Control

Other policy

Peak District 
National 

Park 
Authority

2013 2014 TBC
Reduced vehicle 

and building 
emissions

Implementation 
on-going Operational None

6
Peak District 
Local Plan 

Policy LC21

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developmen

t Control

Other policy

Peak District 
National 

Park 
Authority

2000 2001 TBC
Reduced vehicle 

and building 
emissions

Implementation 
on-going Operational None

7 Local Transport 
Plan (LTP3)

Transport 
Planning 

and 
Infrastruct

ure

Other Policy DCC 2011 Ongoing TBC
Reduced 
Vehicle 

emissions

Implementation 
ongoing 2026

https://www.derbys
hire.gov.uk/transpo
rt-roads/transport-
plans/ltp3/local-
transport-plan-

three.aspx

P
age 210



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2019 11

8 Workplace 
Travel Planning

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp
ort_plans/sustaina
ble_travel/default.

asp

9 Workplace 
Travel Planning

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions
Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp
ort_plans/sustaina
ble_travel/default.

asp

10
Encourage / 

facilitate home-
working

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/worki
ng_for_us/smarter
_travel/default.asp

11 School Travel 
Plans

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions
Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp
ort_plans/sustaina
ble_travel/travel_s
mart/default.asp & 
https://modeshiftst

ars.org/

12 Promotion of 
cycling

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/cycling/default.

asp

13 Promotion of 
walking

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

educed 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/walking/default.

asp

14 Car Share 
Derbyshire

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions
Ongoing

https://liftshare.co
m/uk/community/d

erbyshire

15
Promote use of 

rail – Community 
rail partnerships

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions
Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/public_
transport/communi
ty_rail_partnership

s/default.asp

P
age 211



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2019 12

16 Public cycle hire 
schemes

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions

Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/cycling/cycle_hi

re/default.asp

17 Improving Cycle 
network

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/cycling/default.

asp

18
Strategic 

Environmental 
Assessments

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective
Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions

Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp
ort_plans/ltp3/env
_assessments/def

ault.asp

19
Planning 

Guidance for 
developers

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective
Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions

Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp

ort_plans

20

East Midlands 
Air Quality 
Network

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developm

ent 
Control

Regional 
Groups Co- 
coordinating 
Area wide 

Strategies to 
reduce 

emissions and 
improve air 

quality

PHE /East 
Midlands 
Councils

Ongoing Ongoing N/A Reduction in a 
range of 

pollutants

Work Plans / 
Action 
Plans 

Developed

N/A

Air Quality 
Working 
Group 

involves key 
players at 

senior level in 
Public sector 
and voluntary 

sectors

21

East Midlands 
Air Quality 
Network 

Guidance for 
Developers

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developmen

t Control

Air Quality 
Planning and 

Policy Guidance

PHE /East 
Midlands 
Councils

2018 Ongoing N/A
Reduction in a 

range of 
pollutants

Establishes a 
range of 

measures 
expected by 
developers 

Reduction in 
a range of 
pollutants 

from 
development

N/A

To be adapted 
locally taken to the 

Planning and 
Health Group on 

completion for 
discussion and 

local adoption and 
implementation

22

Derbyshire Air 
Quality 

Working 
Group

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Develop

ment 

Derbyshire 
Groups Co- 
coordinating 
Area wide 

Strategies to 
reduce 

Derby City 
Council/ 

DCC/ District 
Councils

2016
onwards ongoing n/a

Reduction in a 
range of 

pollutants

Work Plans / 
Action Plans 
Developed

Ongoing

Annual report from 
group taken to 

Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 
Annual work plan 
created and a ten 

P
age 212



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2019 13

Control emissions and 
improve air 

quality

year Derbyshire 
Air Quality 
Strategy in 
production

23

Raise 
awareness of 

impacts of coal 
and wood 
burning

Public 
Informatio

n

Regional Groups 
Co-ordinating 

programmes to 
develop Area-wide 

Strategies to 
reduce emissions 
and improve air 

quality

HPBC/
Defra Ongoing Ongoing Unknown Unknown Ongoing Ongoing

DEFRA Leaflet 
now on Council 
websites (City 
and County).
In addition, 

DCC Healthy 
Homes 

Programme 
continues to 
offer grant 
funding to 

convert coal 
fires to gas 

central heating 
systems.

24

Inspect under 
the 

Environmental 
Permit regime 
and enforce 
legislation to 

reduce 
combustion 
processes

Environment
al Permits

Introduction/ 
increase of 

environment 
charges through 
permit systems 
and economic 
instruments

HPBC

Completed On-going

Installations 
adhering to 
permits and 

enforcement/p
enalties for 
breaches

By restricting 
emissions from 

industrial 
processes

on-going Continual

This is standard 
HPBC work in 
Environmental 

Protection

25 Air quality 
monitoring

Public 
Information Other

HPBC On-going On-going

# monitoring 
locations and 

On-time 
submittal of 

ASRs

Through 
EHO/public 
awareness

On-going annually Annual

Possibly liaise with 
Defra regarding 

need for additional 
monitoring and/or 

AURN funding.
Consider 

continuous 
monitoring and AQ 
grant application

P
age 213



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 14

2.3 PM2.5 – Local Authority Approach to Reducing 
Emissions and/or Concentrations

As detailed in Policy Guidance LAQM.PG16 Chapter 7 (Defra, 2016a), local 

authorities are expected to work towards reducing emissions and/or 

concentrations of PM2.5 (particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm 

or less). There is clear evidence that PM2.5 has a significant impact on human 

health, including premature mortality, allergic reactions, and cardiovascular 

diseases.

High Peak Borough Council is taking the measures as detailed in Table 2.2 above, 

most of which will contribute to addressing the PM2.5 issues and is working with 

Public Health colleagues to prioritise action on air quality in its local area to help 

reduce the health burden from air pollution.  The Public Health Outcomes 

Framework (PHOF) is a Department of Health data tool for England, intended to 

focus public health action on increasing healthy life expectancy and reducing 

differences in life expectancy between communities. The PHOF includes an 

indicator, based on the effect of particulate matter (PM2.5) on mortality.  The 

approach used, in partnership with Transport and Public Health colleagues, 

includes the encouragement of active travel, which will also have wider public 

health benefits captured in other indicators such as increased physical activity 

(indicator 2.13) and reducing excess weight at various ages (indicators 2.6 & 

2.12).

The Local Transport Plan for Derbyshire (Derbyshire County Council, 2011) sets 

out a transport delivery plan for the county for the period up to 2026.  The five 

transport goals include tackling climate change, and improving quality of life and 

promoting a healthy natural environment.  In relation to PM2.5 improving transport 

within the borough is therefore of key importance.  The Local Transport Plan 

proposes a number of strategies to improve transport, with some impacting on 

High Peak, including the Greenways Strategy, and accessibility and community 

rail partnerships.

The Greenway network includes traffic-free pathways that connect Derbyshire’s 

towns and villages to both dramatic and gentle countryside and are suitable for 

Page 214



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 15

walking, cycling and horse riding. All routes are surfaced and many are built on flat 

routes for easy access. They are suitable for all the family, prams and mobility 

scooters. Greenways provide sustainable and healthy travel routes to schools, 

workplaces, shops and local amenities, whilst offering tranquil green routes out of 

town to the local countryside.

Planning is also a particularly important policy area for minimising PM2.5 

concentrations and High Peak Borough Council is focussed through its planning 

policy on preventing particulate matter concentrations being inadvertently 

increased.  Policy EQ10 on Pollution Control and Unstable Land within the Local 

Plan specifically refers to particulate matter, and planning applications are 

routinely monitored by Regulatory Services to ensure that any potentially 

unacceptable increases in pollutants are identified and mitigated. 

Page 215



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 16

3 Air Quality Monitoring Data and Comparison 
with Air Quality Objectives and National 
Compliance

3.1 Summary of Monitoring Undertaken
3.1.1 Automatic Monitoring Sites

High Peak Borough Council did not undertake any automatic (continuous) 

monitoring in 2017 or 2018.

3.1.2 Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites

High Peak Borough Council undertook non- automatic (passive) monitoring of NO2 

at 22 sites during 2017. Two of these sites were decommissioned in 2018, 

however a further seventeen sites were added. Table A 1 in Appendix A shows the 

details of the sites.

Maps showing the location of the monitoring sites are provided in Appendix G.  

Further details on Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC) for the diffusion 

tubes, including bias adjustments and any other adjustments applied (e.g. 

“annualisation” and/or distance correction), are included in Appendix C.

3.2 Individual Pollutants
The air quality monitoring results presented in this section are, where relevant, 

adjusted for bias, “annualisation” and distance correction. Further details on 

adjustments are provided in Appendix C.

3.2.1 Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2)

Table A 2 in Appendix A compares the adjusted monitored NO2 annual mean 

concentrations for 2017 and 2018 with the air quality objective of 40µg/m3.

For diffusion tubes, the full datasets for both years of monthly mean values is 

provided in Appendix B.

In 2017, exceedances of the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective were 

recorded at HP2, HP5 and HP8 in Tintwistle.  HP2 is not representative of relevant 

exposure (the site has since been discontinued), HP5 is within the declared 

Page 216



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 17

AQMA, and the concentration recorded at HP8 reduced in 2018 and is now below 

the objective.  The only other exceedance in 2017 was recorded at HP21, at 

Dinting School on the A57 in Glossop.  This location was identified as a location 

that required further investigation in a Detailed Assessment (with further tubes in 

the area implemented in 2018).

In 2018, there were ongoing exceedances recorded at HP5 (in the Tintwistle 

AQMA).  There is a clear trend of decreasing concentrations from 2014 to 2018 

within the Tintwistle AQMA.  In Dinting, HP21 continued to exceed the objective 

(but recorded lower concentrations than in 2017).  A new tube in Dinting Vale 

(HP25) also exceeded the objective (even when distance corrected). This location 

has recently been investigated in a Detailed Assessment, which has concluded 

that consideration should be given to declaration of an AQMA (further details 

provided in Appendices D and E). Two of the new tubes in 2018 both located in 

Buxton (HP32 and HP33) also exceeded the annual mean nitrogen dioxide 

objective.  HP32, when corrected to relevant exposure was below the objective, 

but HP33 (Fairfield Road, Buxton) exceeds the nitrogen dioxide objective.  This 

location will require further investigation, including modelling of emissions from the 

adjacent road. Consequently,  further tubes  were installed along Fairfield at the 

start of 2019

Measured annual mean concentrations at all diffusion tube monitoring sites were 

below 60 µg/m3, indicating that an exceedance of the 1-hour mean objective is 

unlikely.

Page 217



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 18

Appendix A: Monitoring Results
Table A 1 – Details of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites

Site ID Site Name Site 
Type

X OS Grid 
Ref

Y OS Grid 
Ref

Pollutants 
Monitored

In 
AQMA?

Distance to 
Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) (1)

Distance 
to kerb of 
nearest 

road (m) (2)

Tube 
collocated 

with a 
Continuous 
Analyser?

Height 
(m)

HP1
Rear of Howard 

Town House, 
Glossop

Roadside 403596 394055 NO2 NO 0.15 5.5 NO 2.7

HP1
Rear of Howard 

Town House, 
Glossop

Roadside 403591 394050 NO2 NO 0.15 5.5 NO 2.7

HP2A Pegasus Crossing 1 Roadside 402585 397407 NO2 NO 56.3 1.7 NO 2.4

HP2B Pegasus Crossing 2 Roadside 402585 397407 NO2 NO 56.3 1.7 NO 2.4

HP2C Pegasus Crossing 3 Roadside 402585 397407 NO2 NO 56.3 1.7 NO 2.4

HP3 95 Woodhead Road, 
Tintwistle Roadside 402891 397536 NO2 NO 0.07 4.5 NO 2.1

HP4 60 Woodhead Road, 
Tintwistle Roadside 402824 397491 NO2 NO 0.1 2 NO 2

HP5 81 Woodhead Road, 
Tintwistle Roadside 402686 397437 NO2 YES 0.16 4.8 NO 2

HP6 75 Woodhead Road, 
Tintwistle Roadside 402539 397353 NO2 NO 0.05 4.1 NO 2.5

HP7 112 Old Road, 
Tintwistle Roadside 402539 397393 NO2 NO 0.14 0.55 NO 2.4

P
age 218



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 19

HP8 34 Church Street, 
Tintwistle Roadside 402240.2 397265 NO2 NO 0.15 2.1 NO 2.4

HP9 8 The Stocks, 
Tintwistle Roadside 402192.4 397274.5 NO2 NO 0.15 9.1 NO 2

HP10 Furness Vale School Roadside 400837 383466 NO2 NO 0.15 4.1 NO 2.3

HP11 Dove Holes School Roadside 407668 378239 NO2 NO 0.15 3.6 NO 2.8

HP12
Fairfield Rd / 
Lightwood Rd 

junction, Buxton
Roadside 406391 373730 NO2 NO 3.2 1.5 NO 2.7

HP13 8 Granby Rd, Buxton Roadside 406581 373419 NO2 NO 0.15 11.2 NO 2

HP14 Brookfield, Hadfield Roadside 401111 395390 NO2 NO 6.1 1.5 NO 2.5

HP15 131 Woolley Bridge 
Hadfield Roadside 401296 396112 NO2 NO 4.6 1.7 NO 2.7

HP16 10  Woolley Bridge 
Hadfield HP12B Roadside 401221 395993 NO2 NO 1.5 1.4 NO 2.8

HP17 Newtown traffic 
lights (A6) New Mills Roadside 399411 384561 NO2 NO 4.1 1.1 NO 2.7

HP18 Barmoor Clough, 
Dove Holes Roadside 407629 379482 NO2 NO 103.3 2.6 NO 2.5

HP19 Railway Station, 
Buxton Roadside 405884 373715 NO2 NO 13.3 1.7 NO 2.8

HP20
Manchester Rd / 
New Rd junction, 

Tintwistle
Kerbside 401956.7 397279.7 NO2 NO 0.89 0.88 NO 2.6

HP21 Dinting School (A57) Roadside 402060 394343 NO2 NO 0.15 1.6 NO 2.5

P
age 219



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 20

HP22 236 High Street 
West, Glossop (A57) Roadside 402418 394220 NO2 NO 0.15 3.1 NO 2.6

HP24 64  High Street East, 
Glossop (A57) Roadside 403794 394089 NO2 NO 2.29 1.42 NO 2.4

HP25
A57 / Dinting Vale / 

Glossop Road (West 
Bound)

Roadside 401797 394508 NO2 NO 2.74 0.62 NO 2.5

HP26
Lampost near 70-72 

Woolley  Bridge  
(East Bound)

Roadside 401025 395670 NO2 NO 0.26 2.27 NO 2.5

HP27

North of 41 Wooley 
Bridge Road – Tom 

Howley (North 
Bound)

Roadside 401014 395872 NO2 NO 9.48 2.87 NO 2.6

HP28
Near 411 Hadfield 
Road (lamppost) 

(south Bound)
Roadside 401272 395970 NO2 NO 2.84 2 NO 2.6

HP29
10 Manchester Rd 

(row of Houses)  
(West Bound)

Roadside 401215 396967 NO2 NO 0.16 2.39 NO 2.4

HP30 25 Manchester Road 
(East Bound) Roadside 401641 397240 NO2 NO 3.05 2.33 NO 2.5

HP31 58 Manchester Road 
(West Bound) Roadside 401876 397261 NO2 NO 0.35 1.52 NO 2.6

HP32 37 Buxton Road, 
Bridgemont Roadside 401227 382556 NO2 NO 2.07 1.43 NO 2.5

HP33 135 Fairfield Road 
(lamp post) Roadside 406594 373949 NO2 NO 0.2 2.9 NO 2.5

P
age 220



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 21

HP34
25 Buxton Road, 

Dove Holes (A6) S-
Bound

Roadside 407541 377764 NO2 NO 0.81 1.92 NO 2.5

HP35 85 Hallsteads, Dove 
Holes (A6) N- Bound Roadside 407677 378326 NO2 NO 0.35 2.77 NO 2.5

HP36
144 Buxton 

Road,Furness Vale 
(A6) N- bound

Roadside 400737 383534 NO2 NO 9.43 1.87 NO 2.6

HP37
81 Buxton Road, 

Furness Vale (A6) S-
bound

Roadside 400682 383623 NO2 NO 2.47 2.27 NO 2.6

HP38
86 Buxton Road, 

New Town, (A6) N - 
Bound

Roadside 399676 384579 NO2 NO 2.26 1.58 NO 2.6

HP39
79 Buxton Road, 

New Town, (A6) S - 
Bound

Roadside 399716 384578 NO2 NO 3.5 1.95 NO 2.6

HP40
33 Buxton Road, 

New Mills, (A6) S - 
Bound

Roadside 399622 384581 NO2 NO 2.75 2.9 NO 2.5

Notes:
(1) 0m if the monitoring site is at a location of exposure (e.g. installed on/adjacent to the façade of a residential property).
(2) N/A if not applicable.

P
age 221



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 22

Table A 2 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m3) (3)

Site ID Site Type Monitoring 
Type

Valid Data 
Capture for 
Monitoring 
Period (%) 

(1)

Valid 
Data 

Capture 
2017 (%) 

(2)

Valid 
Data 

Capture 
2018 (%) 

(2)
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

HP1 Roadside Diffusion Tube 95.8 100.0 91.7 14.8 15.1 17.8 22.5 22.9
HP2(4) Roadside Diffusion Tube 41.7 75.0 8.3 60.8 65.0 60.2 59.5 -
HP3 Roadside Diffusion Tube 37.5 66.7 8.3 30.5 34.5 32.3 31.9 28.7
HP4 Roadside Diffusion Tube 37.5 66.7 8.3 32.0 34.3 32.0 34.1 27.7
HP5 Roadside Diffusion Tube 41.7 75.0 8.3 50.2 51.8 49.9 50.9 47
HP6 Roadside Diffusion Tube 87.5 91.7 83.3 34.9 35.4 32.1 33 32.8
HP7 Kerbside Diffusion Tube 83.3 91.7 75.0 18.5 19.0 20.9 17.1 -
HP8 Roadside Diffusion Tube 95.8 100.0 91.7 39.3 38.6 36.2 46.4 39.3
HP9 Roadside Diffusion Tube 95.8 100.0 91.7 22.7 23.7 23.0 25.6 22.7

HP10 Roadside Diffusion Tube 50.0 91.7 8.3 26.2 25.4 26.6 27.1 27.5
HP11 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0 100.0 100.0 22.2 21.2 22.7 19.9 21.6
HP12 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0 100.0 100.0 24.7 27.0 26.4 28.8 31.5
HP13 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0 100.0 100.0 - 12.1 15.8 12.5 13.8
HP14 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0 100.0 100.0 22.2 21.8 20.4 25.8 24.1
HP15 Roadside Diffusion Tube 95.8 91.7 100.0 - - 21.1 26.7 23.7
HP16 Roadside Diffusion Tube 95.8 91.7 100.0 - - 23.6 27 25.8
HP17 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0 100.0 100.0 21.8 20.6 19.1 32.8 32.6
HP18 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0 100.0 100.0 28.7 36.4 33.7 37.7 38.1
HP19 Roadside Diffusion Tube 95.8 100.0 91.7 21.6 21.5 22.1 31.1 27.8
HP20 Kerbside Diffusion Tube 100.0 100.0 100.0 30.5 32.0 30.8 38.5 28.4
HP21 Roadside Diffusion Tube 91.7 91.7 91.7 - - - 44.4 41.3

P
age 222



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 23

HP22 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0 100.0 100.0 - - - 37.2 33.6
HP24 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83.3 66.7 100.0 - - - - 29.8
HP25 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0 100.0 100.0 - - - - 53.6
HP26 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0 100.0 100.0 - - - - 34.5
HP27 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0 100.0 100.0 - - - - 32.7
HP28 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0 100.0 100.0 - - - - 23
HP29 Roadside Diffusion Tube 29.2 50.0 8.3 - - - - 30.7
HP30 Roadside Diffusion Tube 45.8 0 91.7 - - - - 28.3
HP31 Roadside Diffusion Tube 41.7 0 83.3 - - - - 37.8
HP32 Roadside Diffusion Tube 45.8 0 91.7 - - - - 40.3
HP33 Roadside Diffusion Tube 41.7 0 83.3 - - - - 48.2
HP34 Roadside Diffusion Tube 33.3 0 66.7 - - - - 23.6
HP35 Roadside Diffusion Tube 29.2 0 58.3 - - - - 29.0
HP36 Roadside Diffusion Tube 45.8 0 91.7 - - - - 32.3
HP37 Roadside Diffusion Tube 45.8 0 91.7 - - - - 25.3
HP38 Roadside Diffusion Tube 37.5 0 75.0 - - - - 27.4
HP39 Roadside Diffusion Tube 45.8 0 91.7 - - - - 23.0
HP40 Roadside Diffusion Tube 45.8 0 91.7 - - - - 26.3

☒ Diffusion tube data has been bias corrected
☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% (none required) 
☒ If applicable, all data has been distance corrected for relevant exposure

Notes:
Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold.
NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and underlined.
(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year.

P
age 223



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 24

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar year is 50%).
(3) Means for diffusion tubes have been corrected for bias. All means have been “annualised” as per Boxes 7.9 and 7.10 in LAQM.TG16 if valid data capture for 
the full calendar year is less than 75%. See Appendix C for details
(4) Average of triplicate diffusion tubes.

P
age 224



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 25

Appendix B: Full Monthly Diffusion Tube Results for 2017-2018
Table B 1 – NO2 Monthly Diffusion Tube Results – 2017

NO2 Mean Concentrations, 2017 (µg/m3)
Annual Mean

Site ID
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Raw 

Data

Bias 
Adjusted 
(0.88) and 

Annualised 
(1)

Distance 
Corrected 

to 
Nearest 

Exposure 
(2)

HP1 37.9 30.3 21.7 23.8 20.5 22.9 19.0 20.9 22.9 23.9 33.1 30.2 25.6 22.5 22.4
HP2 73.5 - 73.6 35.1 - 76.7 70.8 67.7 - 65.2 83.5 62.4 67.6 59.5 N/A
HP3 - 47.8 33.2 - 32.0 34.0 34.2 31.5 37.1 31.3 47.6 33.9 36.3 31.9 31.8
HP4 52.0 - 45.1 21.7 34.1 35.9 39.5 34.6 38.0 40.6 50.2 34.6 38.8 34.1 33.8
HP5 65.5 64.3 66.3 34.2 51.5 59.5 61.4 55.4 48.2 56.1 71.7 60.4 57.9 50.9 50.4
HP6 45.5 39.3 36.9 44.4 36.6 33.9 36.4 30.5 35.2 36.7 40.1 34.7 37.5 33.0 32.9
HP7 31.8 - 34.1 11.1 18.4 15.3 14.5 13.9 17.3 16.4 23.6 17.5 19.4 17.1 16.9
HP8 58.9 51.3 55.8 64.1 39.9 50.9 46.6 48.5 52.3 51.6 63.6 49.3 52.7 46.4 45.6
HP9 37.3 27.2 32.3 26.1 24.4 27.0 24.3 23.4 29.6 28.5 38.8 30.4 29.1 25.6 25.5

HP10 42.1 33.8 31.2 13.5 26.5 29.7 29.2 30.0 30.4 28.8 39.2 35.1 30.8 27.1 26.8
HP11 28.6 26.9 24.1 9.0 26.8 21.7 21.3 20.8 25.2 20.1 23.2 23.3 22.6 19.9 19.7
HP12 39.0 - 33.5 14.0 33.7 33.7 33.0 34.1 33.5 35.9 35.4 33.9 32.7 28.8 24.6
HP13 23.8 - 17.2 8.2 12.8 10.0 10.9 11.1 13.5 13.3 17.1 18.5 14.2 12.5 12.5
HP14 40.7 32.1 33.2 13.0 21.9 25.4 26.1 28.5 26.5 30.8 36.1 37.8 29.3 25.8 21.5
HP15 40.4 36.3 34.8 24.0 23.3 24.4 24.4 22.6 28.6 31.3 38.1 36.3 30.4 26.7 22.6
HP16 42.7 37.4 35.7 11.3 25.9 26.6 25.2 25.6 30.5 29.2 42.3 35.5 30.7 27.0 24.9

P
age 225



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 26

HP17 37.2 38.7 39.4 35.3 42.4 36.8 34.8 32.0 40.4 33.2 36.7 39.7 37.2 32.8 26.5
HP18 55.2 41.5 36.7 43.6 41.9 41.9 43.1 41.2 45.6 38.0 42.5 - 42.8 37.7 N/A
HP19 38.3 41.6 38.9 17.7 34.3 35.4 35.9 35.8 38.6 35.4 39.6 32.6 35.3 31.1 21.4
HP20 53.5 46.8 48.0 24.3 37.3 43.6 38.8 38.9 - - - - 41.4 38.5 34.7
HP21 70.7 54.4 50.1 44.6 44.7 47.0 47.5 43.6 49.8 44.7 57.4 51.3 50.5 44.4 43.5
HP22 55.9 52.9 46.8 39.5 31.1 35.3 35.5 37.1 39.4 37.5 49.7 47.3 42.3 37.2 36.8

☐ Local bias adjustment factor used 
☒ National bias adjustment factor used 

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% (none required)

Notes: 
Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold.
NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and underlined.
(1) See Appendix C for details on bias adjustment and annualisation.
(2) Distance corrected to nearest relevant public exposure.
(3) Anomalous result has been omitted from the annual mean calculation.

Table B 2 – NO2 Monthly Diffusion Tube Results – 2018
NO2 Mean Concentrations, 2018 (µg/m3)

Annual Mean

Site ID
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Raw 

Data

Bias 
Adjusted 
(0.89) and 

Annualised 
(1)

Distance 
Corrected 

to 
Nearest 

Exposure 
(2)

HP1 31.3 27.5 26.4 23.9 - 19.6 24.0 21.7 28.1 27.1 22.9 30.9 25.8 22.9 22.8
HP3 - 36.0 - 31.3 33.4 35.0 37.3 28.4 30.8 26.1 30.5 34.1 32.3 28.7 28.6

P
age 226



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 27

HP4 - 33.5 - - 29.1 27.9 39.7 30 32.5 30.3 24.4 32.6 31.1 27.7 27.5
HP5 58.1 50.9 48.2 50.7 - 50.1 61.1 52.9 55 57.8 42 54.4 52.8 47.0 46.6
HP6 38.8 34.6 37.9 36.8 42.3 35 41.9 36.6 32.7 - 32.4 36.2 36.8 32.8 32.7
HP8 52.5 45.9 45.4 43.6 40 40.1 48.8 40.8 43.8 47.6 40.4 41 44.2 39.3 38.7
HP9 31.6 28.2 22.3 25.2 26.1 25.4 24.2 25 26.3 28.1 20.9 22.8 25.5 22.7 22.6

HP10 34 30.6 31.9 28 27.3 28.9 32.8 28.3 28.3 39.4 29.1 32.3 30.9 27.5 27.2
HP11 24.1 25.2 31.2 27.1 26.6 23.6 24.5 21.4 20.1 22.3 26.5 18.3 24.2 21.6 21.4
HP12 41.6 36.9 39 36.5 33.1 29.2 35.7 30 33.5 36.2 42.6 30.8 35.4 31.5 26.5
HP13 18.8 19.5 18.3 15.4 12.8 13.1 12.1 11.8 12.4 18.2 18 15.6 15.5 13.8 13.8
HP14 34.5 29.6 29.6 26.2 24.1 19.9 26.7 24.8 24.4 30.9 23.9 30.5 27.1 24.1 20.3
HP15 37.6 31.8 27 25.6 23.1 21 24 21.3 28 26.4 22 32 26.7 23.7 20.3
HP16 37.4 31.8 29.4 28.3 27.3 27.7 28 24.3 25.6 31.3 28.3 - 29.0 25.8 23.8
HP17 8.9 39.6 45.6 40.3 40.5 42.7 44.2 29.9 33.2 41.1 35.5 38.2 36.6 32.6 26.1
HP18 42.3 44.3 45.8 40.8 46 43 48.4 41.8 41.3 41.2 35.9 - 42.8 38.1  
HP19 34.9 33.5 36.1 35.1 33.1 18.9 37 29.1 32.5 33.3 35.8 15.9 31.3 27.8 19.5
HP20 40.5 35.1 34.5 32.5 31 31.4 33.4 26.8 28.7 28.1 32.5 28.9 32.0 28.4 26.0
HP21 51.7 53.1 49.7 44.1 45.8 47.3 47.7 36.8 44.8 45.4 47.5 42.3 46.4 41.3 40.5
HP22 46.1 44.5 44.1 35.3 35 30.6 36.5 30.2 37.5 40 38.3 35.6 37.8 33.6 33.2
HP24 - 39.3 36.4 32.5 33.2 33.5 36.1 27.7 35.4 33.2 28.7 32 33.5 29.8 26.1
HP25 - 58.6 56.5 53.4 - 110.9 60.1 48.9 51.3 52.3 53.3 56.9 60.2 53.6 40.6
HP26 - 45.4 38.2 38.3 39.1 37.6 43.1 33.4 32.5 41.1 36.8 41.5 38.8 34.5 33.8
HP27 - 38.1 37.1 - - 35.8 37.7 36.4 38.5 34.7 35.1 37.8 36.8 32.7 25.4
HP28 - 30 27.3 23.3 21.8 17.1 26.1 23.9 24.4 28.9 27.9 33.9 25.9 23.0 21.0
HP29 - 35.8 30.9 37.9 34.5 34 39.5 32.3 31.7 31.5 34.2 37.7 34.5 30.7 30.3
HP30 - 34 28 31.3 30.7 32.8 33.9 30.2 30 30.9 25.6 41.9 31.8 28.3 24.8
HP31 - 48.2 48.5 43.7 44.6 36.9 51.5 41 43 30.1 40.3 39 42.4 37.8 36.5

P
age 227



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 28

HP32 - 40.6 63.5 36.3 48.6 47 50.6 37.3 43.6 46.2 39.7 44.2 45.2 40.3 34.4
HP33 - 49.2 60.5 54 56.1 54.7 54.2 44.9 54.8 58.2 48.1 60.9 54.1 48.2 47.6
HP34 - - - - - - - - - 26.5 30.3 34.5 30.4 23.6 22.4
HP35 - - - - - - - - - 37.2 42.8 31.9 37.3 29.0 28.2
HP36 - - - - - - - - - 42 46.7 35.9 41.5 32.3 22.0
HP37 - - - - - - - - - 34.7 31.7 31.3 32.6 25.3 22.7
HP38 - - - - - - - - - 40.6 28.4 36.8 35.3 27.4 24.4
HP39 - - - - - - - - - 33.4 23.4 31.9 29.6 23.0 20.4
HP40 - - - - - - - - - 32.4 34.5 34.5 33.8 26.3 23.9

☐ Local bias adjustment factor used
☒ National bias adjustment factor used

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% (none required)

Notes: 
Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold.
NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and underlined.
(1) See Appendix C for details on bias adjustment and annualisation.
(2) Distance corrected to nearest relevant public exposure.

P
age 228



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 29

Appendix C: Supporting Technical Information / Air 
Quality Monitoring Data QA/QC
3.3 Supporting Technical Information
Changed and new sources of pollution have been investigated and any changes to 

existing sources, or new sources are listed below:

3.3.1 Trans Pennine Upgrade, Glossop

The purpose of the Trans-Pennine Upgrade Programme is to address longstanding 

issues of connectivity, congestion, reliability and safety on strategic Trans-Pennine 

routes between the M67 at Mottram and the M1 junction 36 and junction 35A north of 

Sheffield. The strategic objectives for the upgrade programme focus on improving 

connectivity, congestion, resilience and safety, as well as helping to resolve 

environmental and social issues.  As part of this scheme, Highways England intend 

to construct a new single carriageway link from the A57(T) at Mottram Moor to a new 

traffic signalised junction on the A57 Wooley Lane, to alleviate the existing traffic 

problems encountered within the area of Mottram Moor, Wooley Lane and Wooley 

Bridge.

3.3.2 Buxton sidings extension: Transport and Works Act order

Network Rail gained an approval  to extend the railway sidings in Buxton. The 

scheme would facilitate an increase in the capacity of freight trains from 1,750 tonnes 

to 2,600 tonnes, which would contribute to the long term economic viability of those 

quarries and help to reduce the amount of future quarry traffic using the local road 

network.

They were satisfied that in relation to operation, as there would be no increase in the 

number of operational freight rail movements, the existence of the scheme would 

have no impact on local air quality.

3.3.3 STORS site

An energy facilities (STORS Short Term Operating Reserve electricity generation 

facilities) has been identified in the planning system, in the Waterswallows Industrial 

Park, Walterswallows Lane off the A6 north east of Buxton.  The site follows 

Page 229



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 30

numerous energy facilities which were submitted for planning permission from 2014 

to 2016.  The planning reference and description can be seen in the Table below.  

Planning 
Reference Site Location Proposal AQ 

Assessment

HPK/2017/0558
Land East Of Waterswallows 

Industrial Park  Waterswallows 
Road Green Fairfield Buxton

Energy 
reserve facility Yes

3.3.4 Housing developments

A number of housing developments have also been identified through the planning 

system.  A short overview is provided in the Table below.  In some cases, air quality 

assessments have been requested, but no significant impacts have been identified.  

In most cases, baseline concentrations are low.  High Peak Borough Council will 

continue to monitor planning applications and identify any locations where cumulative 

impacts may be significant.  At this stage it is considered that none of these 

developments are likely to cause any exceedance of the air quality objectives.

Planning 
Reference Site Location Proposal AQ 

Assessment

HPK/2017/0198

Land at Woolley 
Bridge East of 
A57 Hadfield 

Glossop

Outline application with all 
matters reserved (except 

access) for residential 
development and associated 

works

No

HPK/2017/0247
Land Off  

Linglongs Road  
Whaley Bridge

Reserved matters application 
for 107 dwellings and 

associated works

Yes previous 
AQ 

(HPK/2014/011
9)

HPK/2017/0325
Land North Of  
Dinting Road  

Glossop

Outline application for 
residential development for up 

to 108 dwellings (access 
considered)

No

HPK/2017/0366
Land off Ellison 
Street  Glossop 

SK13 8BY

Proposed residential 
development of 22 no. 

dwellings together with various 
infrastructure and landscaping 
works, following demolition of 

existing buildings and 
subsequent site clearance

No

HPK/2017/0417

Land North Of  
Dinting Road  

Glossop SK13 
7UU

Approval of Reserved matters 
- Construction of 29 dwellings 
related to planning permission 

(HPK/2016/0648)

No

Page 230

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=215549
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=225288
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=216913
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=217330
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=217830


High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 31

Planning 
Reference Site Location Proposal AQ 

Assessment

HPK/2017/0534 Land Off  Hayfield 
Road  New Mills

Residential development 
comprising 97 units including 

means of access and 
associated works.

No

HPK/2017/0590

Foxlow Farm  
Harpur Hill Road 

Harpur Hill 
Buxton SK17 9LE

Submission of reserved 
matters relating to the 

appearance, landscaping, 
layout and scale for the whole 
of the residential phase of the 
development ( 395 dwellings) 
pursuant to outline planning 
permission HPK/2013/0603

HPK/2013/060
3 previously 
undertaken

HPK/2018/0120

Former bottling 
plant Station 
Road  Buxton 

SK17 6AQ

Erection of Extra Care 
accommodation for older 

people, landscaping and car 
parking

Yes

HPK/2018/0125

Buxton Mineral 
Water  Station 
Road  Buxton 

SK17 6AQ

New multi-agency healthcare 
campus Yes

HPK/2018/0272

Samas Roneo Ltd  
Glossop Road 

Gamesley 
Glossop SK13 

9JH

Full planning for 44 houses 
and apartments. Yes

3.3.5 Industrial Developments

A number of industrial developments have also been identified through the planning 

system.  A short overview is provided in the Table below.

Planning 
Reference Site Location Proposal AQ 

Assessment

CM1/1115/117 
Arden Quarry, 

Birch Vale, New 
Mills

Extraction of and removal from 
site of mineral reserves. Yes

CM1/1016/58 Brierlow Quarry , 
Buxton

The installation and operation 
of a combined heat and power 

('CHP') plant.
Yes

CM1/0417/4 

Dove Holes 
Quarry, Dale 
Road, Dove 

Holes

Recycled aggregate facility. Permitted

R1/1197/11 Tunstead Quarry
Submission of Scheme of 

Conditions and Environmental 
Statement.

Yes

Page 231

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=219108
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=219748
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=222716
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=222770
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=224608
https://apps.derbyshire.gov.uk/applications/planning-applications/profile.asp?AppCode=CM1/1115/117&AppType=1
https://apps.derbyshire.gov.uk/applications/planning-applications/profile.asp?AppCode=CM1/1016/58&AppType=1
https://apps.derbyshire.gov.uk/applications/planning-applications/profile.asp?AppCode=CM1/0417/4&AppType=1
https://apps.derbyshire.gov.uk/applications/planning-applications/profile.asp?AppCode=R1/1197/11&AppType=1


High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 32

3.4 Diffusion Tube Bias Adjustment Factors
3.4.1 QA/QC of Diffusion Tube Monitoring

Nitrogen dioxide analysis procedures are compliant with the Diffusion Tubes for 

Ambient NO2 Monitoring: Practical Guidance for users and laboratories (February 

2008).  The diffusion tubes are supplied and analysed by Socotec UK (formerly 

known as ESG Didcot) utilising the 50% Triethanolamine (TEA) in acetone 

preparation method.  Socotec UK is a UKAS accredited laboratory which participates 

in the AEA inter-comparison, AIR PT and the WASP scheme.  In 2018, Socotec UK 

was 100% satisfactory in all AIR PT/WASP trials.

3.4.2 Bias Adjustment Factor

High Peak Borough Council does not have any real time monitoring and therefore, 

the bias factor has been taken from the diffusion tube spreadsheet of national 

comparison studies.  Bias adjustment factors in the national Bias Adjustment 

Spreadsheet (version 06/19) for Staffordshire Scientific Services 20% TEA in water, 

are as follows:

 2017 – 0.88 based on 19 studies

 2018 – 0.89 based on 15 studies

Page 232



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 33

3.4.3 Diffusion Tube Annualisation

Diffusion tube monitoring sites have been annualised as per Technical Guidance 

LAQM.TG16 in instances where valid data capture was less than 75% (and at least 

25%).

Only one site in 2017 needed annualisation (HP20), whereas in 2018 there were 

seven sites that needed adjustment (DT34, DT35, DT36, DT37, DT38, and DT39).  

For both years the data was annualised against automatic monitoring sites ‘Barnsley 

Gawber’, ‘Manchester Piccadilly’, and ‘Salford Eccles’, which fulfil the criteria 

specified by LAQM.TG16 guidance of being long-term continuous background 

monitoring sites with data capture over 85% for the year, preferably forming part of 

the AURN network.  

Three adjustment factors (one for each of the automatic sites used) have been 

calculated for each diffusion tube site based on the ratio of the mean concentration 

measured by the automatic sites during the monitoring period for which data for the 

diffusion tube site was available and annual mean concentrations measured by the 

Page 233



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 34

automatic sites (see Table C.3, and Table C.4).  An average of the three adjustment 

factors was then calculated (see Table C.5) and applied to the diffusion tube bias 

adjusted annual means. 

Table C.3: 2017 Annualisation Factor Calculation

Raw Diffusion 
Tube Mean NO2 
Conc. (g/m3)

Automatic Mean NO2 Conc. (g/m3) 
when Diffusion Tube Data is Available

2018 Month Exposure 
Days

DT 20 Barnsley 
Gawber

Manchester 
Piccadilly

Salford 
Eccles

January 27.0 53.5 31.3 50.5 39.4

February 30.1 46.8 20.8 41.6 27.6

March 26.0 48 18.9 42.5 28.4

April 36.0 24.3 12.0 31.1 21.4

May 35.0 37.3 13.1 30.7 21.4

June 28.0 43.6 9.8 26.5 16.1

July 28.0 38.8 10.5 25.1 17.5

August 35.9 38.9 11.3 26.9 19.9

September 27.0  - 15.0 32.5 25.7

October 29.0  - 14.6 33.3 23.0

November 33.2  - 18.1 44.2 35.7

December 35.8  - 19.1 49.0 38.4

PERIOD MEAN 41.2 15.8 34.0 23.7

ANNUAL MEAN: 16.1 35.7 26.2

ANNUALISATION FACTOR: 1.02 1.05 1.10

Table C.4: 2018 Annualisation Factor Calculation

Raw Diffusion Tube Mean NO2 Conc. 
(g/m3)

Automatic Mean NO2 Conc. 
(g/m3) when Diffusion Tube Data 

is Available2018 Month Exposure 
Days

HP
34

HP
35

HP
36

HP
37

HP
38

HP
39

HP
40

Barnsley 
Gawber

Manchester 
Piccadilly

Salford 
Eccles

January 27.0 - - - - - - - 21.2 42.8 30.2

February 28.0 - - - - - - - 19.2 44.4 33.2

March 28.0 - - - - - - - 19.3 39.7 29.2

April 36.0 - - - - - - - 14.2 36.2 23.1

May 35.0 - - - - - - - 11.6 30.2 23.5

Page 234



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 35

June 28.0 - - - - - - - 9.6 26.0 19.4

July 26.0 - - - - - - - 11.8 24.1 19.7

August 38.0 - - - - - - - 11.3 26.8 19.4

September 27.1 - - - - - - - 11.9 30.0 20.5

October 26.9 26.5 37.2 42.0 34.7 40.6 33.4 32.4 15.7 37.0 26.7

November 35.0 30.3 42.8 46.7 31.7 28.4 23.4 34.5 21.4 39.1 26.8

December 35.0 34.5 31.9 35.9 31.3 36.8 31.9 34.5 20.6 36.2 29.1

PERIOD MEAN 30.8 37.3 41.5 32.4 34.8 29.2 33.9 19.5 37.5 27.6

ANNUAL MEAN: 15.6 34.6 24.7

ANNUALISATION FACTOR: 0.799 0.924 0.895

Table C.5: Average Annualisation Factors

Year DT20 DT34 DT35 DT36 DT37 DT38 DT39 DT40

2017 1.058 - - - - - - -

2018 - 0.873 0.873 0.873 0.873 0.873 0.873 0.873

3.4.4 Distance from Road Calculation

All relevant sites have been distance corrected using the relevant tool supplied by 

Defra.  Sites which have been distance corrected are HP12, HP14, HP15, HP16, 

HP17, HP19, HP20, HP24, HP25, HP28, HP30, HP32, HP34, HP36, HP37, HP38, 

HP39, and HP40.  Screenshots of the tool used are included below.

Page 235



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 36

Figure C 1: Distance Correction Calculations 2017

Page 236



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 37

 

Figure C 2: Distance Correction Calculations 2018

Page 237



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 38

Appendix D: Detailed Dispersion Modelling Dinting 
Vale, Glossop
Introduction
Measurements indicate that the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective has been 

exceeded along the A57 in Dinting Vale, Glossop.  High Peak Borough Council 

(HPBC) has therefore decided to undertake a Detailed Assessment of air quality 

within the Dinting Vale area of Glossop.

The purpose of this Detailed Assessment is to determine whether an exceedance of 

an air quality objective is likely and the geographical extent of that exceedance, 

which will determine the extent of the AQMA that has to be declared. Subsequent to 

the declaration of an AQMA, an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) should be prepared 

within one year and approved by Defra.  The AQAP will identify measures to improve 

local air quality and to achieve the air quality objectives.  In order to inform the Action 

Plan process the magnitude of reduction in emissions required to achieve the 

objective has also be calculated.

This report presents a Detailed Assessment, following the findings of HPBC’s 

pollutant monitoring which is described in Section 3.  

Background
The Air Quality Strategy (Defra, 2007) published by the Department for Environment, 

Food, and Rural Affairs (Defra) and Devolved Administrations, provides the policy 

framework for air quality management and assessment in the UK.  It provides air 

quality standards and objectives for key air pollutants, which are designed to protect 

human health and the environment.  It also sets out how the different sectors: 

industry, transport and local government, can contribute to achieving the air quality 

objectives.  Local authorities are seen to play a particularly important role.  The 

strategy describes the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) regime that has been 

established, whereby every authority has to carry out regular reviews and 

assessments of air quality in its area to identify whether the objectives have been, or 

will be, achieved at relevant locations, by the applicable date.  If this is not the case, 

the authority must declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), and prepare an 

Page 238



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 39

action plan which identifies appropriate measures that will be introduced in pursuit of 

the objectives.  

Technical Guidance for LAQM (LAQM.TG16) (Defra, 2016) sets out a streamlined 

approach to the Review and Assessment process.  This prescribes the submission of 

a single Annual Status Report (ASR) which all local authorities in England must 

submit each year by the 30th June.  It should identify new non-compliant areas and 

report progress made within existing AQMA’s.  When an exceedance has been 

identified, the local authority can either use the “Fast Track Option” and immediately 

declare an AQMA, or obtain further information and/or data before deciding on the 

declaration of an AQMA.  The latter approach is being treated as a ‘Detailed 

Assessment’ for the purposes of this report4.

The Air Quality Objectives
The Government’s Air Quality Strategy (Defra, 2007) provides air quality standards 

and objectives for key air pollutants, which are designed to protect human health and 

the environment. The ‘standards’ are set as concentrations below which health 

effects are unlikely even in sensitive population groups, or below which risks to public 

health would be exceedingly small. They are based purely upon the scientific and 

medical evidence of the effects of a particular pollutant. The ‘objectives’ set out the 

extent to which the Government expects the standards to be achieved by a certain 

date. They take account of the costs, benefits, feasibility and practicality of achieving 

the standards. It also sets out how the different sectors: industry, transport and local 

government, can contribute to achieving the air quality objectives. The objectives are 

prescribed within The Air Quality (England) Regulations 2000 (2000) and The Air 

Quality (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2002 (2002). Table E.1 summarises the 

objectives which are relevant to this report. Studies have shown associations of 

nitrogen dioxide in outdoor air with adverse health effects; respiratory and 

cardiovascular morbidity and mortality.  Evidence associating nitrogen dioxide with 

health effects has strengthened substantially in recently years. 

Table D.1: Air Quality Objectives for Nitrogen Dioxide 

4 Detailed Assessments were part of the previous approach to LAQM, but they are no longer required in current 
TG16 guidance.

Page 239



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 40

Pollutant Time Period Objective

1-hour mean 200 g/m3 not to be exceeded more than 18 times a yearNitrogen Dioxide

Annual mean 40 g/m3

The air quality objectives only apply where members of the public are likely to be 

regularly present for the averaging time of the objective (i.e. where people will be 

exposed to pollutants). For annual mean objectives, relevant exposure is limited to 

residential properties, schools and hospitals. The 1-hour objective applies at these 

locations as well as at any outdoor location where a member of the public might 

reasonably be expected to stay for 1 hour or more, such as shopping streets, parks 

and sports grounds, as well as bus stations and railway stations that are not fully 

enclosed. 

Measurements across the UK have shown that the 1-hour nitrogen dioxide objective 

is unlikely to be exceeded unless the annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentration is 

greater than 60 µg/m3 (Defra, 2016). Thus exceedances of 60 µg/m3 as an annual 

mean nitrogen dioxide concentration are used as an indicator of potential 

exceedances of the 1-hour nitrogen dioxide objective.

Modelling
Annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations have been predicted using detailed 

dispersion modelling (ADMS-Roads v4.1). Details of the model inputs, assumptions 

and the verification are provided in Appendix E, together with the method used to 

derive background concentrations.  Where assumptions have been made, a realistic 

worst-case approach has been adopted.

The modelling has sought to determine the area within which the annual mean 

nitrogen dioxide objective is likely to have been exceeded.  The model outputs have 

been verified against 2018 data from the diffusion tube monitoring sites HP21, HP22 

and HP25; further details of model verification are supplied in Appendix E.  

Concentrations have been predicted at specified receptor locations along Dinting 

Road and Simmondly Lane (Figure D.1).  The receptors are modelled at the façades 

of buildings considered to represent worst-case locations, in terms of nitrogen dioxide 

concentrations.  All receptors were modelled at a height of 1.5 m, except receptors 6 

Page 240



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 41

and 7 which were modelled at 3.5 m to account for the houses being elevated above 

road level. 

Figure D.1: Receptor and Monitor Locations
Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019.  Ordnance Survey licence number 
100046099. 

Results
Predicted concentrations exceed the annual mean objective at locations within the 

study area, as shown in Figure D.2.  The figure shows the receptors exceeding 

40 µg/m3 (red), between 36 µg/m3 and 40 µg/m3 (yellow), and below 36 µg/m3 in 

green.  

Page 241



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 42

Figure D.2: Predicted Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations (µg/m3) in 
2018 at Ground-Floor Level
Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019.  Ordnance Survey licence number 
100046099. 

There are relevant receptors with exceedances, thus an AQMA should be declared.  

The AQMA should include, as a minimum, the receptors which have modelled 

exceedances in 2018. 

Air Quality Improvements Required
The degree of improvement needed in order for the annual mean nitrogen dioxide 

objective to be achieved is defined by the difference between the predicted 

concentration at a worst-case relevant exposure location and the objective level (40 

μg/m3).  

In terms of describing the reduction in emissions required, it is more useful to 

consider nitrogen oxides (NOx).  The required reduction in local nitrogen oxides 

emission has been calculated in line with guidance presented in LAQM.TG16 (Defra, 

2016).  Table D.2 sets out the required reduction in local emissions of NOx that would 

be required at each of the receptor locations where an exceedance is predicted, in 

order for the annual mean objective to be achieved.

Page 242



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 43

The annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations at receptors 3 to 5, and 8 to 23 are 

predicted to exceed 40 μg/m3 in 2018.  The worst case receptor, receptor 18, 

requires a reduction of 11.6 μg/m3 in order to achieve the objective.  Table D.2 shows 

the receptor locations which are predicted to have experienced exceedances in 

2018, and the NOx emissions which would be required in order to achieve the 

objective.  

Table D.2: Improvement in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations 
and Nitrogen Oxides Concentrations Required in 2018 to Meet the Objective

Required Reduction in annual 
mean nitrogen dioxide (NO2)

Required Reduction in annual 
mean nitrogen oxides (NOx)

Receptor
µg/m3 % of total 

predicted NO2
µg/m3 % of total 

predicted NOx

Receptor 3 2.7 6.3 7.1 10.7

Receptor 4 2.9 6.8 7.6 11.3

Receptor 5 7.0 14.9 18.0 23.2

Receptor 8 2.7 6.3 7.0 10.5

Receptor 9 2.3 5.4 6.1 9.2

Receptor 10 1.9 4.5 5.1 7.9

Receptor 11 1.8 4.3 5.0 7.7

Receptor 12 1.8 4.3 4.9 7.6

Receptor 13 2.7 6.3 7.1 10.6

Receptor 14 4.2 9.5 10.8 15.3

Receptor 15 4.3 9.7 11.2 15.7

Receptor 16 4.6 10.3 11.9 16.8

Receptor 17 9.6 19.4 24.7 29.5

Receptor 18 11.6 22.5 30.3 33.9

Receptor 19 9.3 18.9 24.0 28.9

Receptor 20 9.6 19.4 24.9 29.6

Receptor 21 9.9 19.8 25.6 30.2

Receptor 22 1.3 3.1 3.6 5.7

Page 243



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 44

Receptor 23 1.0 2.4 2.9 4.6

Conclusions and Recommendations
A Detailed Assessment has been carried out for nitrogen dioxide at Dinting Vale in 

Glossop.  This area was identified as being at risk of exceeding the annual mean air 

quality objective for nitrogen dioxide through passive diffusion tube monitoring carried 

out by HPBC. 

The Detailed Assessment has been carried out using a combination of monitoring 

data and modelled concentrations. Concentrations of nitrogen dioxide have been 

modelled for 2018 using the ADMS-Roads dispersion model. The model has been 

verified against measurements made at three diffusion tube monitoring locations 

which are adjacent to the road network included in the model.

The assessment has identified that the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective is 

being exceeded at relevant locations along Dinting Vale, between Glossop Road and 

Simmondly Lane.  It is recommended that an AQMA is declared to include, as a 

minimum, those residential properties that are predicted to be exceeding 40 µg/m3 

(see Figure D.2). The proposed Glossop AQMA area can be seen in Figure D.3.

Page 244



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 45

Figure D.3: Proposed Glossop AQMA
Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019.  Ordnance Survey licence number 
100046099. 

It is also recommended that HPBC continues monitoring nitrogen dioxide at the 

existing locations.

Page 245



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 46

Appendix E: Dispersion Modelling Methodology
Uncertainty in Road Traffic Modelling Predictions
There are many components that contribute to the uncertainty of modelling 

predictions.  The road traffic emissions dispersion model used in this assessment is 

dependent upon the traffic data that have been input, which will have inherent 

uncertainties associated with them.  There are then additional uncertainties, as 

models are required to simplify real-world conditions into a series of algorithms.

An important stage in the process is model verification, which involves comparing the 

model output with measured concentrations.  Because the model has been verified 

and adjusted, there can be reasonable confidence in the prediction of 2018 

concentrations.

Model Inputs
Predictions have been carried out using the ADMS-Roads dispersion model (v4.1).  

The model requires the user to provide various input data, including emissions from 

each section of road and the road characteristics (including road width, and canyon 

height and porosity, where applicable).  Vehicle emissions have been calculated 

based on vehicle flow, composition and speed data using the EFT (Version 9.0) 

published by Defra (2019c).    

Hourly sequential meteorological data from Emley Moor for 2018 have been used in 

the model.  The Emley Moor meteorological monitoring station is located 

approximately 26 km to the north east of Glossop town centre.  It is deemed to be the 

nearest monitoring station representative of meteorological conditions in the vicinity 

of the study area. The Emley Moor meteorological monitoring station will be 

influenced by the effects of inland meteorology over hilly topography.

Traffic data for the assessment have been provided by Highways England.  The 

traffic data were provided in the form of am/pm peaks from a traffic survey taken on 

the 20th March 2018. The data was then factored to AADT using government road 

traffic statistics for ‘average daily traffic flow by month’, ‘average traffic distribution by 

day of the week’, and ‘traffic distribution on all roads by time of day and day of the 

week’. Traffic speeds have been determined based on professional judgement, 

taking account of the road layout, speed limits and the proximity to a junction.  The 

Page 246



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 47

traffic data used in this assessment are summarised in Table E.1.  Diurnal flow 

profiles for the traffic have been derived from the national diurnal profiles published 

by DfT (2019b).

Table E.1:Summary of Traffic Data used in the Detailed Assessments (1)  

Road Link AADT % HDV

Two-way Flows

Dinting Vale (West of Glossop Road) 17,730 4.61

Glossop Road 12,232 2.16

Dinting Vale (East of Glossop Road) 20,457 4.38

Dinting Vale (East of Dinting Lane) 20,620 4.32

Simmondly Lane 4,546 1.69

Dinting Vale (East of Simmondly Lane) 16,746 3.61

Primrose Lane 5,216 9.06

High Street West 16,675 2.81

Turning Counts

Glossop Road to Dinting Road (West) 2,215 1.98

Glossop Road to Dinting Road (East) 3,496 2.45

Dinting Road (West) to Glossop Road 2,538 1.90

Dinting Road (East) to Glossop Road 3,984 2.15

Dinting Road (West) to Dinting Road (East) 6,770 6.36

Dinting Road (East) to Dinting Road (West) 6,207 4.74

Notes:
(1) This is just a summary of the data entered into the model, which have been input as 24-hour AADT 
flows with hourly diurnal flow profiles.

Figure E.1 shows the road network included within the model for Glossop, along with 

the speed at which each link was modelled, and the width of the modelled canyons.  

Page 247



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 48

Figure E.1: Modelled Road Network, Canyons & Speed
Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019.  Ordnance Survey 
licence number 100046099.  Additional data sourced from third parties, including public sector 
information licensed under the Open Government Licence v1.0.  

Background Concentrations
Background concentrations of nitrogen dioxide for the study area have been defined 

using the 2017-based national pollution maps published by Defra (2019c).  These 

cover the whole of the UK on a 1x1 km grid and are published for each year from 

2017 until 2030.  The background annual mean nitrogen dioxide maps for 2018 have 

been calibrated against concurrent measurements from national monitoring sites 

(AQC, 2019b).  The calibration factor calculated has also been applied to future year 

backgrounds.  This has resulted in slightly higher predicted nitrogen dioxide 

concentrations for the future assessment year than those derived from the Defra 

maps. The background concentration for the study area for 2018 ranged from 11.5 

μg/m3 to 11.8 μg/m3.

Page 248



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 49

Model Verification
In order to ensure that ADMS-Roads accurately predicts local concentrations, it is 

necessary to verify the model against local measurements. 

Most nitrogen dioxide (NO2) is produced in the atmosphere by reaction of nitric oxide 

(NO) with ozone.  It is therefore most appropriate to verify the model in terms of 

primary pollutant emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOx = NO + NO2).  The model has 

been run to predict the annual mean NOx concentrations during 2018 at the locations 

of diffusion tube monitoring sites.  

The model output of road-NOx (i.e. the component of total NOx coming from road 

traffic) has been compared with the ‘measured’ road-NOx.  Measured road-NOx has 

been calculated from the measured nitrogen dioxide concentrations and the 

predicted background nitrogen dioxide concentration using the NOx from NO2 

calculator (Version 6.1) available on the Defra LAQM Support website (Defra, 

2018b).  

An adjustment factor has been determined as the slope of the best-fit line between 

the ‘measured’ road contribution and the model derived road contribution, forced 

through zero.  The calculated adjustment factor has been applied to the modelled 

road-NOx concentration to provide adjusted modelled road-NOx concentrations.  The 

adjustment factor applied was 3.1215.

The total nitrogen dioxide concentrations have then been determined by combining 

the adjusted modelled road-NOx concentrations with the predicted background NO2 

concentration within the NOx to NO2 calculator.  

The results imply that the model has under predicted the road-NOx contribution.  This 

is a common experience with this and most other road traffic emissions dispersion 

models.  The monitors used for verification, and much of the study areas, are within 

street-canyons, where poor dispersion conditions lead to increased concentrations of 

pollutants.  Street-canyons have been modelled, and can be seen in Figure F.1, and 

have been modelled with location specific height and porosity.    

The model has been verified using the results at diffusion tubes HP21, HP22, and 

HP25.  The comparison of the measured road NOx and unadjusted modelled road 

NOx concentrations used to determine the verification factor is shown in Figure E.3.  

Page 249



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 50

A comparison of measured total NO2 to final adjusted modelled total NO2 

concentrations is shown in Figure E.4.

Figure E.3: Comparison of Measured Road NOx to Unadjusted Modelled Road 
NOx Concentrations.  The dashed lines show ± 25%.

Figure E.4: Comparison of Measured Total NO2 to Final Adjusted Modelled 
Total NO2 Concentrations.  The dashed lines show ± 25%.

Page 250



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 51

Model Post-processing
The model predicts road-NOx concentrations at each receptor location.  These 

concentrations have been adjusted using the adjustment factor set out above, which, 

along with the background nitrogen dioxide, has been processed through the NOx to 

NO2 calculator available on the Defra LAQM Support website (Defra, 2018b).  The 

traffic mix within the calculator has been set to “All other urban UK traffic”, which is 

considered suitable for the study area.  The calculator predicts the component of 

nitrogen dioxide based on the adjusted road-NOx and the background nitrogen 

dioxide.

Sensitivity Test
The verification factor for the model is relatively high, and this was investigated 

further.  It was discovered that to some extent, the meteorology site used was driving 

this verification factor.  When the model was run with Manchester airport meteorology 

site (located 22.5 km to the south west of the study area), this resulted in a lower 

verification factor (1.86).  The results using Emley Moor meteorology site form the 

basis of the studies results, due to the site being more representative of the 

conditions at the study area. However, it is useful to note that the outcomes of the 

modelling were the same in relation to which receptors were exceeding the objective.  

A comparison of the results calculated using the Manchester airport met site 

sensitivity test, compared with those using the Emley Moor meteorology site is set 

out in Table E.2.

Table E.2:Comparison of the Official and Sensitivity Test Results (1)

Receptor
Predicted Concentrations 

using Emley Moor Met Site 
(µg/m3)

Predicted Concentrations using 
Manchester Airport Met Site 

(µg/m3)

Receptor 1 33.3 34.9

Receptor 2 31.0 28.7

Receptor 3 42.7 46.6

Receptor 4 42.9 47.1

Receptor 5 47.0 51.3

Receptor 6 21.1 19.4

Page 251



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 52

Receptor 7 19.8 18.4

Receptor 8 42.7 44.7

Receptor 9 42.3 44.0

Receptor 10 41.9 43.8

Receptor 11 41.8 43.8

Receptor 12 41.8 43.9

Receptor 13 42.7 44.5

Receptor 14 44.2 46.2

Receptor 15 44.3 46.2

Receptor 16 44.6 46.7

Receptor 17 49.6 51.7

Receptor 18 51.6 50.6

Receptor 19 49.3 51.7

Receptor 20 49.6 52.0

Receptor 21 49.9 52.0

Receptor 22 41.3 42.8

Receptor 23 41.0 42.5

Receptor 24 33.5 33.3

Receptor 25 33.2 33.3

Receptor 26 33.6 33.8

Receptor 27 34.1 34.7

Receptor 28 20.4 21.1

(1) Exceedances shown in bold.

Table E.2 shows the receptors which are predicted to experience exceedances of the 

annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective are concordant between the main set of 

results, using Emley Moor meteorology site, and the sensitivity test, using 

Manchester Airport meteorology site. 

The recommendation for an AQMA covering the area shown in Figure D.3 is 

therefore considered to be robust.

Page 252



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 53

Appendix F: Maps of Monitoring Locations and 
AQMAs

Figure F 1: Diffusion Tube Locations in Tintwistle

Page 253



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 54

Figure F 2: Diffusion Tube Locations New Town Lights

Figure F 3: Diffusion Tube Locations Glossop

Page 254



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 55

Figure F 4: Diffusion Tube Locations in Hadfield

Figure F 5: Diffusion Tube Locations Furness Vale

Page 255



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 56

Figure F 6: Diffusion Tube Locations Dove Hole School

Figure F 7: Diffusion Tube Locations Buxton

Page 256



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 57

Appendix G: Summary of Air Quality Objectives in 
England
Table G 1 – Air Quality Objectives in England

Air Quality Objective5
Pollutant

Concentration Measured as
200 µg/m3 not to be exceeded more 
than 18 times a year 1-hour meanNitrogen Dioxide 

(NO2) 40 µg/m3 Annual mean
50 µg/m3, not to be exceeded more 
than 35 times a year 24-hour meanParticulate Matter 

(PM10) 40 µg/m3 Annual mean
350 µg/m3, not to be exceeded more 
than 24 times a year 1-hour mean

125 µg/m3, not to be exceeded more 
than 3 times a year 24-hour meanSulphur Dioxide 

(SO2)
266 µg/m3, not to be exceeded more 
than 35 times a year 15-minute mean

5 The units are in microgrammes of pollutant per cubic metre of air (µg/m3).

Page 257



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 58

Glossary of Terms

Abbreviation Description

AQAP Air Quality Action Plan - A detailed description of measures, 
outcomes, achievement dates and implementation methods, 
showing how the local authority intends to achieve air quality limit 
values’

AQMA Air Quality Management Area – An area where air pollutant 
concentrations exceed / are likely to exceed the relevant air quality 
objectives. AQMAs are declared for specific pollutants and 
objectives

ASR Annual Status Report

Defra Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

LAQM Local Air Quality Management

NO2 Nitrogen Dioxide

NOx Nitrogen Oxides

PM10 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10µm 
(micrometres or microns) or less

PM2.5 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm 
or less

QA/QC Quality Assurance and Quality Control

SO2 Sulphur Dioxide

Page 258



High Peak Borough Council Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019

LAQM Annual Status Report 2018 and 2019 59

References
AQC. (2017a). Calibrating Defra’s Background NOx and NO2 Maps against 2016 Measurements.
AQC. (2019b). Calibrating Defra’s 2017-based Background NOx and NO2 Maps against 2018 

Measurements.
Defra. (2007). The Air Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. Defra.
Defra. (2016). Review & Assessment: Technical Guidance LAQM.TG16. Defra.
Defra. (2016a). Local Air Quality Management Policy Guidance (PG16).
Defra. (2018b). Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) Support Website. Retrieved from 

http://laqm.defra.gov.uk/
Defra. (2019c). Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) Support Website.
Derbyshire County Council. (2011). Derbyshire Local Transport Plan 2011-2026. A Healthy Future for 

Local Transport. 
DfT. (2017b). DfT Automatic traffic Counters Table TRA0305-0307.
DfT. (2018). Annual Average Daily Flows. Retrieved from http://www.dft.gov.uk/matrix/
DfT. (2019b). DfT Road traffic statistics (TRA03).
High Peak Borough Council. (2015). Detailed Air Quality Assessment Report - A628 Tintwistle NO2 

Assessment. 
High Peak Borough Council. (2016). HIgh Peak Local Plan Adopted. Shaping the Future. 
Peak District National Park Authority. (2001). Local Plan.
Peak District National Park Authority. (2011). Peak District National park Local Development 

Framework - Core Strategy Development Plan.
Peak District National Park Authority. (2011). Peak District National Park Local Development 

Framework - Core Strategy Development Plan.
The Air Quality (England) (Amendment) Regulations, 2002, Statutory Instrument 3043. (2002). HMSO.
The Air Quality (England) Regulations, 2000, Statutory Instrument 928. (2000). HMSO.

Page 259



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Executive

4 December 2019

TITLE: Air Quality Monitoring Action Plan Update on 
the AQMA Woodhead Road (A628) Tintwistle 

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Todd Executive Councillor for 
Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety

CONTACT OFFICER: Alicia Patterson – Head of Environmental 
Health

WARDS INVOLVED: Tintwistle and all Wards 

Appendix A Draft Action Plan 

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To enable the Executive to review and comment on the Action Plan for the Air 
Quality Management Area on part of the Woodhead Road (A628), Tintwistle. 

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Executive notes the contents of the report.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 This report outlines the actions that High Peak Borough Council will deliver 
between 2019-2023 in order to reduce concentrations of air pollutants and 
exposure to air pollution; thereby positively impacting on the heath and quality 
of life of residents and visitors to the High Peak. 

3.2 The Environment Act 1995 places a duty on the Council to regularly review air 
quality within its boundaries against a number of national air quality objectives.  
The objectives are human health based standards, seeking to protect the most 
vulnerable in society, i.e. the very young, the elderly and those with pre-
existing conditions.  Locations adjacent to the Borough’s busiest roads have 
been found to have pollution levels above the national annual mean objective 
for nitrogen dioxide (NO2).  The Council currently has one declared Air Quality 

Page 261

Agenda Item 11



Management Area (AQMA), on part of the Woodhead Road, Tintwistle, which 
is in place due to non-compliance with the national annual mean air quality 
objective for nitrogen dioxide, a road traffic related pollutant. 

3.3 Where an exceedance of the objectives is found to be likely, the 1995 Act 
requires the local authority to declare an Air Quality Management Area 
covering, as a minimum, all those areas where the objective is likely to be 
breached. 

3.4 The Act does not prescribe any timescale for preparing an Air Quality Action 
Plan (AQAP), however, the Government expects them to be completed within 
12-18 months following the designation of any AQMA.  The prime 
responsibility for preparing the submitting the AQAP rests with the Council, 
however, there is a requirement on other relevant stakeholders to collaborate 
with HPBC to identify proposals in pursuit of the Air Quality Strategy (AQS) 
objectives within their respective responsibilities and functions.      

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1  Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak.

5. Alternative Options

5.1 There are no alternative options to consider, the Authority is required by law to 
produce an action plan once an area has been declared.  The Committee may 
comment on the contents of the AQAP.

6. Implications 

6.1 Community Safety 

There are no Community Safety issues arising from this report. 

6.2 Workforce 

An existing pollution post has been converted to a full time post to 
support this work.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Councils 
Diversity and Equality Policies. 

6.4 Financial Considerations 

Page 262



There are no initial financial implications arising from this report.  
Dependent on the final actions additional funding may be needed if 
appropriate grants are not available or secured.  

6.5 Legal 

The Council has a statutory duty to manage Air Quality in its area, 
having declared an AQMA the Authority must implement the action 
plan, and failure to do so may result in legal action being taken against 
the authority. 

6.6 Sustainability 

There are no sustainability implications arising from this report. 

6.7 Internal and External Consultation

None relevant to this report.

6.8 Risk Assessment 

It is a statutory requirement that the Council assess air quality and 
takes action where appropriate. 

Mark Trillo 
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Alicia Patterson
Head of Environmental Health
alicia.patterson@highpeak.gov.uk

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019

High Peak Borough Council
Air Quality Action Plan

In fulfilment of Part IV of the
Environment Act 1995
Local Air Quality Management

November 2019

Page 265



 High Peak Borough Council

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019

Local Authority 
Officer Daniel McCrory

Department Environmental Health

Address Town Hall, Buxton SK17 6DZ

Telephone 01538 395400 

E-mail Daniel.McCrory@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Report Reference 
number HPBC AP1

Date November 2019

Page 266



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 i

Executive Summary

This draft Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) has been produced as part of our statutory 

duties required by the Local Air Quality Management framework. It outlines the action 

we will take to improve air quality in High Peak between November 2019 -2023.

Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts. It is recognised 

as a contributing factor in the onset of heart disease and cancer. Additionally, air 

pollution particularly affects the most vulnerable in society: children and older people, 

and those with heart and lung conditions. There is also often a strong correlation with 

equalities issues, because areas with poor air quality are also often the less affluent 

areas1,2.

The annual health cost to society of the impacts of particulate matter alone in the UK 

is estimated to be around £16 billion3. High Peak Borough Council is committed to 

reducing the exposure of people in High Peak to poor air quality in order to improve 

health.

We have developed actions to improve air quality in the Borough, and specifically in 

the declared Air Quality Managements Areas (AQMAs), that can be considered 

against the following five broad topic areas:

 Transport measures –; changes to road layout or operation; formulation of 

traffic plans, with the aim being to encourage the use of greener modes of 

transport, and/or reduce congestion and associated vehicle emissions;

 Leading by example measures – measures that HPBC will implement to 

encourage wider behavioural changes in the local population with respect 

to their travel choices;

 Education, community and partnership measures – provision of 

information to increase community awareness of the challenges faced on 

air quality within the local area, to facilitate behavioural change;

 Statutory measures – use of legislation and targeted enforcement to 

control air pollution; and

1 Environmental equity, air quality, socioeconomic status and respiratory health, 2010
2 Air quality and social deprivation in the UK: an environmental inequalities analysis, 2006
3 Defra. Abatement cost guidance for valuing changes in air quality, May 2013

Page 267



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 ii

 Air quality monitoring – ensuring satisfactory air quality monitoring data is 

available to track outcomes of the implementation of our action plan 

measures and allow effective management of air quality.

Our priorities are focussed on the reduction of emissions from Heavy Duty Vehicles 

(HDV) and diesel vehicles, and trying to reduce congestion along the Woodhead 

Road (and throughout the Borough).  

Regulation of emissions from industry has shown to be sufficient such that these 

sources of emissions are not the significant contributor to the problems identified by 

the Council in respect of the AQMAs.

In this AQAP we outline how we plan to effectively tackle air quality issues within our 

control. However, we recognise that there are a large number of air quality policy 

areas that are outside of our influence (such as roads managed by Highways 

England and vehicle emissions standards agreed in Europe), but for which we may 

have useful evidence, and so we will continue to work with regional and central 

government on policies and issues beyond High Peak Borough Council’s direct 

influence.

Responsibilities and Commitment
This AQAP was prepared by the Environmental Health team of High Peak Borough 

Council. 

It has been approved by:

Details of high level Council members who have approved the AQAP & also support 

from County Councils or from Highways England where appropriate. 

This AQAP will be subject to an annual review, appraisal of progress and reporting to 

the Council’s Executive and Community Select Committee. Progress each year will 

be reported in the Annual Status Reports (ASRs) produced by High Peak Borough 

Council’s, as part of our statutory Local Air Quality Management duties.

If you have any comments on this AQAP please send them to: 

Head of Environmental Health at:

Address: Town Hall, Buxton SK17 6DZ
Telephone: 01538 395400 
Email:  Envhealth@highpeak.gov.uk 

Page 268

mailto:Envhealth@highpeak.gov.uk


High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 iii

Table of Contents
Executive Summary .................................................................................................... i

Responsibilities and Commitment ........................................................................................ii

1 Introduction........................................................................................................1
2 Summary of Current Air Quality in High Peak Borough Council. .................2
3 High Peak Borough Council’s Air Quality Priorities ......................................9

3.1 Public Health Context...............................................................................................9

3.2 Planning and Policy Context ..................................................................................10

3.3 Source Apportionment............................................................................................11

3.4 Required Reduction in Emissions ..........................................................................15

3.5 Key Priorities ..........................................................................................................15

4 Development and Implementation of High Peak Borough Council 
AQAP.........................................................................................................................20

4.1 Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement...........................................................20

4.2 Steering Group .......................................................................................................21

5 AQAP Measures...............................................................................................22
Appendix A: Response to Consultation.................................................................27
Appendix B: Reasons for Not Pursuing Action Plan Measures ..........................28
Glossary of Terms....................................................................................................29
References ................................................................................................................30

List of Tables
Table 4.1 ‒ Consultation Undertaken.........................................................................20
Table 5.1 ‒ Air Quality Action Plan Measures ............................................................23

List of Figures
Please insert a list of Figures/Charts here.

Page 269



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 1

1 Introduction
This report outlines the actions that High Peak Borough Council (HPBC – the 

Council) will deliver between 2019-2023 in order to reduce concentrations of air 

pollutants and exposure to air pollution, thereby positively impacting on the health 

and quality of life of residents and visitors to the High Peak.

It has been developed in recognition of the legal requirement on the local authority to 

work towards Air Quality Strategy (AQS) objectives under Part IV of the Environment 

Act 1995 and relevant regulations made under that part and to meet the 

requirements of the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) statutory process. The 

Act does not prescribe any timescale for preparing an AQAP. However, the 

Government expects them to be completed within 12- 18 months following the 

designation of any AQMAs. The prime responsibility for preparing and submitting the 

AQAP rests with HPBC; however, there is a requirement on other relevant 

stakeholders to collaborate with HPBC to identify proposals in pursuit of the AQS 

objectives within their respective responsibilities and functions.

This Plan will be reviewed every five years at the latest and progress on measures 

set out within this Plan will be reported on annually within High Peak Borough 

Council’s air quality ASR.

Page 270



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 2

2 Summary of Current Air Quality in High 
Peak Borough Council. 

Please refer to the latest ASR from High Peak Borough Council for a summary of Air 

Quality across the Borough.

This AQAP has been prepared following the declaration of an Air Quality 

Management Area (AQMA) for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) along part of the Woodhead 

Road (A628) in Tintwistle.  

2.1 AQMA No1 Tintwistle
The Woodhead Road (A628) is one of the major non -motorway trans-pennine 

crossings routes from Manchester and affords a shorter route compared to the 

motorway (M62, M1) route.   Approximately 12,300 vehicles use it daily, with around 

13% of these being Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs);   

Monitoring of NO2 in Tintwistle has established exceedances of the annual mean NO2 

objective at relevant locations immediately adjacent to the (A628).  This confirmed 

the findings of a previous Detailed Assessment, and required that a  Air Quality 

Management Area (AQMA) was declared in October 2018, encompassing the area 

between the Bank Lane / Woodhead Rd Junction and Old Rd/ Woodhead Rd 

Junction (Figure 2.1).  In addition monitoring was expanded along the A628.   

 The monitoring locations are shown in figure 2.2.  

   

Page 271



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 3

Figure 2.1 – AQMA No 1 Tintwistle

P
age 272



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 4

Figure 2.2 – AQMA No 1 Tintwistle; monitoring Locations

P
age 273



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 5

2.2 Monitoring Results 
The results from the recent monitoring (2014-2018) are shown below in Table 1 

Table 1: Nitrogen Dioxide Monitoring Results along the A628 Woodhead Road  

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m3) (3)

Site ID
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

HP2(4) 60.8* 65.0 60.2 59.5 -
HP3 30.5 34.5 32.3 31.9 28.7
HP4 32.0 34.3 32.0 34.1 27.7
HP5 50.2 51.8 49.9 50.9 47
HP6 34.9 35.4 32.1 33 32.8
HP7 18.5 19.0 20.9 17.1 -
HP8 39.3 38.6 36.2 46.4 39.3
HP9 22.7 23.7 23.0 25.6 22.7

HP20 30.5 32.0 30.8 38.5 28.4
HP30 - - - - 28.3
HP31 - - - - 37.8

* Bold indicates exceedance of the 40 µg/m3 AQS

The results indicated that the only result to exceed the AQS in 2018 was at HP5 

within the current AQMA.  HP8 continues to be high but was below the AQS. 

Similarly, high levels were also observed at one of the new locations slightly further 

westbound.  

The topography of the AQMA of the road means that moving Eastbound along the 

Woodhead road from the start of the AQMA between Bank Street and Chapel Brow, 

there is a slight incline with gradient between (+) 0  to (+) 2.7% and the speed limit 

changes from  30– 40mph, with vehicles accelerating up a gradient.  

Westbound, the gradient is a slight downhill but the area is prone to queuing traffic, 

notably near the Back Street turn. (Figure 2.2aii).  

It is considered that it is the close proximity of the queuing traffic that is responsible 

for exceedance at HP8, and high levels seen at HP31.

   

Page 274



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 6

Figure 2.2ai;  Church Street Junction East Bound 

Figure 2.2aii;  Church Street Junction West bound (HP 8)

Page 275



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 7

From Chapel Brow to Ebenezer Brow is approximately 250m, with the speed limit of 

40mph. The road rises steeply from a gradient of (+) 2.7% to approximately (+) 7-9% 

until prior to the junction (Figure 2.2b).   

This junction is also served by pedestrian traffic lights, meaning that within the 250M 

stretch, traffic can be accelerating and decelerating before coming to a halt junction 

(at times) and then moving away on a 7-9% gradient. 

This location has the highest recorded emissions of NO2 along the AQMA, although it 

is not considered representative of relevant exposure.    

Figure 2.2b; Ebenezer Brow Junction & traffic lights (location HP2)

*Traffic lights were being replaced at the time of the picture and were located at the sight of the automated monitor 
box on the left hand side of the picture

Page 276



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 8

From Ebenezer Brow to the end of the end of the AQMA, at the junction with Old  

Road,  the gradient remains steep  at around 7% and after only 50m from the 

junction are  flanked by properties immediately the Northern side (HP5) (Figure 2.2c).   

It is consider that it is the slow acceleration of vehicles on this gradient, likely to have 

significantly increased the emissions from these vehicles at these speeds. This is 

confirmed by source apportioning work (section 3.3). 

Figure 2.2c;   Old Road Junction (HP5)

Page 277



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 9

3 High Peak Borough Council’s Air Quality 
Priorities

3.1 Public Health Context
Information needed in relation to public health context awaiting data from Public 

Health  

The Air Quality Indicator in the Public Health Outcomes Framework (England) 

provides further impetus to join up action between the various local authority 

departments which impact on the delivery of air quality improvements.

To help facilitate this, Defra commissioned research to develop a toolkit to help 

local authorities and public health professionals tackle air pollution in their 

area7. The toolkit provides a one-stop guide to the latest evidence on air 

pollution, guiding local authorities to use existing tools to appraise the scale 

of the air pollution issue in its area. It also advises local authorities how to 

appropriately prioritise air quality alongside other public health priorities to 

ensure it is on the local agenda.

Integral to a successful process is the development of communication 

methods for localised air quality and health impact information. Communication 

guides were developed through a series of workshops and interviews. 

Participants included Directors of Public Health, public health professionals, 

local authority air quality managers and members of the public.

The toolkit comprises the following key guides:

 Getting to grips with air pollution – the latest evidence and techniques;

 Understanding air pollution in your area;

 Engaging local decision-makers about air pollution;

 Communicating with the public on air pollution; and

 Air Pollution: an emerging public health issue: Briefing for elected 
members.

For HPBC, the fraction of mortality attributable to air pollution is TBC which is 

similar to the national average of 5.1%. 

Page 278



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 10

3.2 Planning and Policy Context
Local policies contained within the Local Transport Plan for Derbyshire, the Peak 

District National Park Core Strategy and the Local Plan for High Peak all aim to 

reduce traffic across High Peak. These policies are currently being implemented 

through the inclusion of planning conditions.  Environmental Health Services are a 

statutory consultee on planning applications and routinely monitor all applications for 

potential contribution to air quality to ensure that any potentially unacceptable 

increases in pollutants are identified and mitigated.

The High Peak Local Plan (2016-2031) was formally adopted in April 2016 and 

provides a framework for delivering development for the period 2016 to 2031, by 

setting out the development strategy, strategic and development management 

policies and land designations for the Borough. Several of the previous policies have 

been updated, to reflect a need to improve the environment including air quality: The 

key policies are:

 Policy EQ1: Climate Change: The Council will strive to meet part of the 

Borough's future energy demand through renewable or low-carbon energy 

sources (which could be through a variety of technologies, in line with current 

evidence which identifies the feasibility of these forms of energy across the 

Borough).

 Policy EQ 10 on Pollution Control and Unstable Land states that: “The Council 

will protect people and the environment from unsafe, unhealthy and polluted 

environments. This will be achieved by: Ensuring developments avoid 

potential adverse effects and only permitting developments that are deemed 

(individually or cumulatively) to result in the following types of pollution 

[including air pollution (including odours or particulate emissions)].  If there are 

any remaining potential adverse effects, they should be mitigated to an 

acceptable level by other environmental controls or measures included in the 

proposals.” 

 Policy CF6 Accessibility and Transport states that Assessments required to 

accompany relevant proposals under Policy CF6 should include consideration 

of the impact of proposals on air quality.

Page 279



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 11

Derbyshire County Council  (DCC) is responsible for producing a statutory Local 

Transport Plan (LTP) which sets out the Council's strategy for transport between 

2011–2026.  The strategy was informed by a Strategic Environmental Assessment 

(SEA) and puts forward several policies and measures under the County Council’s 

jurisdiction that will impact on air quality: 

 Policy TENV3 requires that consideration should be given to the 

appropriateness of providing infrastructure for alternative vehicle technology, 

for example, the installation and operation of charging points for electric/hybrid 

vehicles in new developments.

 Policy TENV4: Ensure transport elements of developments pay sufficient 

account to environmental issues interventions to support the local economy in 

this and other settlements.

To support mitigation measures by the above policies DCC have developed an 

Investment Protocol: Environmental Mitigation and Enhancement – to incorporate 

environmental mitigation and enhancement in all LTP programme areas.

The Peak District National Park Core Strategy includes several policies that will that 

will impact on air quality: 

 Policy T1 of the Peak District National Park Core Strategy aims to reduce the 

need to travel and encourages sustainable transport by making the National 

Park’s characteristics the primary criterion in planning and design decisions, 

by deterring cross-park traffic, and by encouraging sustainable transport (Peak 

District National Park Authority, 2011). 

 Policy LC21 of the Peak District Local Plan (Peak District National Park 

Authority, 2001) on pollution and disturbance has been retained. It is designed 

to prevent development that presents a risk of pollution.

3.3 Source Apportionment
The AQAP measures presented in this report are intended to be targeted towards the 

predominant sources of emissions within High Peak Borough Council’s area, with 

specific focus on those emissions sources which contribute to the exceedances of 

the annual mean AQS objective for NO2 within the AQMAs.

Page 280



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 12

To better understand the contribution of various emissions sources, to the total 

annual mean NO2 concentrations, a provisional source apportionment exercise was 

undertaken.

The total levels of NO2 recorded at a location can be split into three components

 ▪ The regional background, which the Council is unable to influence;

▪ The local background, which the Council may have some influence over; 

and

▪ Other local sources (explicitly modelled), which the Council may have full 

control over. 

At this stage, the contribution of NO2 from background and other local emissions (e.g. 

coal fires/ boilers/ industry) have not been included as it is considered that the 

primary source of emissions in this area is primarily from transport,  with limited (& 

constant) background sources.

To better understand the contribution of various vehicle types a provisional source 

apportionment exercise was undertaken, for both NOx and NO2 using the Emissions 

Factor Toolkit (v 9). 

The Emissions Factors Toolkit (EFT) is published by Defra and the Devolved 

Administrations. The EFT allows users to calculate road vehicle pollutant emission 

rates for NOx, PM10, PM2.5  and CO2 for a specified year, road type, vehicle speed 

and vehicle fleet composition.

3.3.1 Data Inputs

Traffic data used for the assessment was obtained from the Department of Transport 

(DfT; https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/downloads), EFT set up under ‘Detailed Option 2’. 

To enable source apportionment of Road-NOx emissions, the ‘breakdown by vehicle’ 

and ‘source apportionment’ additional outputs were utilised.

Two relevant data points were available, one East to the South and one to the North 

of the AQMA. The data point to the North (7373) was considered to be the most 

representative.

The key data inputs used in the model are shown below:

Page 281

https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/downloads


High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 13

Key data inputs:  

 Year: 2018;

 Source Id:  7373;

 **Gradient 6% (6% is the highest gradient that can be currently modelled using EFT model)  

 Average Speed 30km/hr (18.5mph)

 Daily Average Traffic Flow; 12, 272 Vehicles  

% Breakdown of Traffic Flow 

 Car = 64.77% 

 LGV = 21.15%; 

 Rigid HGV= 5.94% 

 Articulated HGV= 7.37%; 

 Bus & Coach=0.19%;  

 Motorcycle = 0.58%

3.3.2 Results

The results from the initial source apportionment exercise are shown in figure 3.1 & 

3.2.

The initial split between the Heavy Duty Vehicles (HGVs & Buses) and the Lighter 

duty vehicles (Cars, LGV’s etc ) indicates that although  these only account for  

13.5% of  all vehicles, they contribute to 42% of the NO2 from the road.  

Splitting the results further into vehicle type (figure 3.2) indicates that the majority of 

NO2 emissions are attributed to diesel vehicles (approximately, 96%).  

The breakdown of traffic figures provided by the DfT is based on a 2014 road survey, 

with data extrapolated to 2018 (by DfT). It would be beneficial to undertake a more 

detailed traffic study to improve the source apportionment work and ensure it remains 

accurate, particularly to identify the age (and nature) of the vehicles using the road.

Page 282



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 14

Figure 3.1.  Source of emissions between Light and Heavy Duty Vehicles 

Figure 3.2.  Source of emissions between general Vehicle types  

Page 283



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 15

3.4 Required Reduction in Emissions
The specific reduction in emissions required has not yet been calculated as this 

requires the inclusion of regional and background data   (considered to be a 

constant). 

 

3.5 Key Priorities
The results indicate that the largest contributor to NO2 emissions is from Diesel 

Vehicles, predominately HGVs, Eastbound on the AQMA. The impact of these 

emissions is compounded by the location of the crossing on a very steep section 

meaning HGVs (and other vehicles) are producing significant emissions at this point. 

Southbound the issue is due more to the close location of the properties to the road 

and around Church Street.   

The proposed measures to tackle these issues have been generally categorised into; 

 Transport, 

 leading by example measures (policy), 

 Education, community and partnership measures 

3.5.1 Transport;

 Highways England 

Both the North and South Bound Issues require the input of Highways England, who 

are the responsible road authority, to see what measures are possible at these 

locations.  

It is considered that it would be desirable to relocate the pedestrian crossing so that 

acceleration from the crossing and associated (relative) increase in vehicle emissions 

is away from relevant receptors.   

Southbound, it is desirable to improve flow to reduce congestion. 

Page 284



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 16

These discussions are ongoing with the Highways England and will be included in 
the final draft AQAP.

 EV Charging Points 

Currently no networks operate any charge points on public operated car parks in the 

High Peak. The NHS has installed some at their facilities and the others are on 

privately owned land. Therefore, the public have very limited options for charging 

EVs when they are visiting or residing in High Peak other than charging their EVs at 

home. 

High Peak Borough Council has been working with Derbyshire County Council, 

Nottingham City Council and BP Chargemaster as part of a D2N2 project known as 

the “Go Ultra Low Programme”, which has the aim to bring electric vehicle (EV) 

charge points to the area. 

The installation of Electric Vehicle charge points across the Borough is considered a 

key component in all these options.  It will help the public to more easily switch to 

less polluting vehicles by providing the infrastructure to do so. The use of Council car 

parks will demonstrate that High Peak Borough Council is leading by example and 

the publicity will increasing awareness of air quality issues across the local 

community.

Phase 1 of this project has been completed and determined five HPBC car park 

locations that are suitable for installation of rapid charge points for electric vehicles.  

These are: 

o South Street Car Park, Buxton

o Municipal Buildings Car Park, Glossop

o Station Road Car Park, Hadfield

o Hope Valley Car Park, Hope

o Miry Meadow Car Park, Chapel-en-le-Frith

3.5.2  Leading by example measures
The measures that we will seek to adopt will be developed through policy. In 

accordance with climate change policy, DCC have developed a Transport Carbon 

Dioxide Reduction Strategy CO2 reduction project, to reduced CO2 emissions and 

other greenhouse gases (including NOx). These include: 

Page 285



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 17

 Sustainable Travel Town Initiatives including a full package of measures to 

promote and encourage more sustainable transport. 

 Business Travel Planning to include encouraging lower carbon HGV 

technologies.

 Encouraging walking and cycling, creation of viable cycle networks which link 

to the wider Greenway network throughout Derbyshire, and promotion and 

marketing of networks, including production of maps.

  Provision of cycle training for adults if required. Smarter driving campaign, 

potential for provision of discounted smarter driving training. 

Vehicle type and fuel choice campaign – awareness raising campaign, 

including providing up-to-date information regarding outlets selling alternative 

fuels.

 Transport Choices’ education campaign to be investigated.

In addition to policy the Council are looking to adopt the following lead by example 

initiatives/policies: 

 Replacing the Council vehicles (when required) with ones that are less 

polluting and more fuel efficient, 

 Adopting an anti-idling policy / eco-driver training for some essential car users.

 Securing EV charging points at appropriate places of work

 Continuing to develop initiatives, such as flexible working, that reduces the 

need for employees to use their cars to get to work.

3.5.3 Education, community and partnership measures

HPBC is a member of the Derbyshire Pollution Group (DPG) and Derbyshire Air 
Quality Forum (DAQF), which has encouraged partnership working on local air 
quality management, which is important given the cross boundary nature of air 
pollution. The DAQF comprises of local authority air quality officers, Derby City 
Council, Derbyshire County Council, Public Health England and County Public 
Health staff and other relevant stakeholders as necessary. DAQF is also a member 
of the East Midlands Air Quality Network (EMAQN).  Over the past 12 months the 
Forum has been delivering a comprehensive Action Plan with multi-agency and 
private sector support. The Action Plan is based around six key themes:

Page 286



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 18

 Strategic vision and cross organisational working; 

 Improve access and promote usage of sustainable travel;

 Increase awareness of air quality issues amongst the population and 
strategic leaders;

 Reduce exposure and harm for those with existing health conditions and 
vulnerable groups;

 Planning and Development Control;

 Monitoring.

Specific actions from partners within the forum have included;

 The development of a Draft Derbyshire Low Emissions Infrastructure 
Strategy;

 The development of supplementary planning guidance for local planning 
authorities (in conjunction with the EMAQN) ;

 Mapping of ebike charging points across the County;

 Development and implementation of strategic plan for cycling to ensure 
continued investment in infrastructure;

 Support of the Healthy Homes project around fuel poverty and affordable 
warmth; 

 Development of Annual trends report to Derbyshire Health and Wellbeing 
Board

 Development of Heat Map

 Promotional activities around clean air day

 Awareness raising and training events

The progress of these indicatives measures are reported annually to the DCC Health 

and Wellbeing Board. A draft Air Quality Strategy is due to be submitted to the Health 

Page 287



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 19

and Wellbeing Board, which will outline the roles of Health and Wellbeing Board 

partners to reduce air pollution and mitigate the impacts from 2020-2030.

Whilst the measures stated above and in Table 5.1 will help to contribute 
towards improvements in Air Quality, HPBC anticipates that further additional 
measures not yet prescribed will be developed with the support of key stakeholders 
to address air quality issues across the Borough. 

Page 288



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 20

4 Development and Implementation of High 
Peak Borough Council AQAP

4.1 Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement
In developing/updating this AQAP, we have worked with other local authorities, 

agencies, businesses and the local community to improve local air quality. Schedule 

11 of the Environment Act 1995 requires local authorities to consult the bodies listed 

in Table 4.1. In addition, we have undertaken the following stakeholder engagement:

 Articles in local newspapers

 Questionnaires distributed directly to households along major roads

 Drop in session at Tintwistle Village Hall

The response to our consultation stakeholder engagement is given in Appendix A.

Table 4.1 ‒ Consultation Undertaken

Yes/No Consultee

Yes the Secretary of State

Yes the Environment Agency

Yes the highways authority

No all neighbouring local authorities

No other public authorities as appropriate, such as Public Health officials

Yes bodies representing local business interests and other organisations as 
appropriate

Page 289



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 21

4.2 Steering Group

Proposals for membership of the Steering Group to oversee development and 
implementation of this AQAP is as follows:

 Highways England 

 HPBC Councillors, including Cllr Baker as Ward Councillor for Tintwistle

 Public Health Board (DCC)

 Public Health England

 Highway Authority 

 Peak Park 

Page 290



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 22

5 AQAP Measures
Not yet finalised

Table 5.1 shows the provisional High Peak Borough Council AQAP measures. 

It contains:

 a list of the actions that form part of the plan

 the responsible individual and departments/organisations who will deliver this 
action

 estimated cost of implementing each action (overall cost and cost to the local 
authority) 

 expected benefit in terms of pollutant emission and/or concentration reduction

 the timescale for implementation

 how progress will be monitored

NB: Please see future ASRs for regular annual updates on implementation of these 
measures

Page 291



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 23

Table 5.1 ‒ Air Quality Action Plan Measures

Meas
ure 
No.

Measure EU 
Category EU Classification

Organisatio
ns involved 

and 
Funding 
Source

Planning 
Phase

Implementa
tion Phase

Key 
Performance 

Indicator

Reduction in 
Pollutant / 

Emission from 
Measure

Progress to Date
Estimated / 

Actual 
Completion 

Date

Comments / 
Barriers to 

implementation

1

Installation of 
public rapid EV 
Charging points 
across borough

Promoting 
Low 

Emission 
Transport

Promote Low 
Emission Vehicles

HPBC  / 
DCC/NCC

2018/ 
2019 2019 Unknown Reduced Vehicle 

emissions Ongoing Ongoing

https://www.transp
ortnottingham.com
/driving/ultra-low-

emission-vehicles/

2

Installation of 
off street EV 

Charging points 
across borough

Promoting 
Low 

Emission 
Transport

Promote Low 
Emission Vehicles

HPBC  / 
DCC/NCC 2019 Provisionally 

2020 Unknown Reduced Vehicle 
emissions Ongoing Ongoing

https://www.transp
ortnottingham.com
/driving/ultra-low-

emission-vehicles/

3

Develop 
Electric Vehicle 

Charging 
Strategy for 

borough

Promoting 
Low 

Emission 
Transport

Developing 
infrastructure to 

promote Low 
Emission 

Vehicles, EV 
recharging, Gas 
fuel recharging

HPBC  / 
DCC/NCC Ongoing Ongoing Unknown Reduced Vehicle 

emissions Ongoing Ongoing

https://www.transp
ortnottingham.com
/driving/ultra-low-

emission-vehicles/

4
HPBC Core 

Strategy 
PolicyEQ10

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developmen

t Control

Other policy HPBC 2014 2015 TBC
Reduced vehicle 

and building 
emissions

Implementation 
on-going Operational None

5
Peak District 

Core Strategy 
Policy T1

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developmen

t Control

Other policy

Peak District 
National 

Park 
Authority

2013 2014 TBC
Reduced vehicle 

and building 
emissions

Implementation 
on-going Operational None

6
Peak District 
Local Plan 

Policy LC21

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developmen

t Control

Other policy

Peak District 
National 

Park 
Authority

2000 2001 TBC
Reduced vehicle 

and building 
emissions

Implementation 
on-going Operational None

7 Local Transport 
Plan (LTP3)

Transport 
Planning 

and 
Infrastruct

ure

Other Policy DCC 2011 Ongoing TBC
Reduced 
Vehicle 

emissions

Implementation 
ongoing 2026

https://www.derbys
hire.gov.uk/transpo
rt-roads/transport-
plans/ltp3/local-
transport-plan-

P
age 292



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 24

three.aspx

8 Workplace 
Travel Planning

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp
ort_plans/sustaina
ble_travel/default.

asp

9 Workplace 
Travel Planning

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions
Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp
ort_plans/sustaina
ble_travel/default.

asp

10
Encourage / 

facilitate home-
working

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/worki
ng_for_us/smarter
_travel/default.asp

11 School Travel 
Plans

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions
Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp
ort_plans/sustaina
ble_travel/travel_s
mart/default.asp & 
https://modeshiftst

ars.org/

12 Promotion of 
cycling

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/cycling/default.

asp

13 Promotion of 
walking

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

educed 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/walking/default.

asp

14 Car Share 
Derbyshire

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions
Ongoing

https://liftshare.co
m/uk/community/d

erbyshire

P
age 293



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 25

15
Promote use of 

rail – Community 
rail partnerships

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions
Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/public_
transport/communi
ty_rail_partnership

s/default.asp

16 Public cycle hire 
schemes

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions

Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/cycling/cycle_hi

re/default.asp

17 Improving Cycle 
network

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective

Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/cycling/default.

asp

18
Strategic 

Environmental 
Assessments

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective
Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions

Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp
ort_plans/ltp3/env
_assessments/def

ault.asp

19
Planning 

Guidance for 
developers

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Workplace Travel 
Planning DCC Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing Air Quality 

Objective
Reduced 
vehicle 

emissions

Ongoing

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/transp

ort_plans

20

East Midlands 
Air Quality 
Network

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developm

ent 
Control

Regional 
Groups Co- 
coordinating 
Area wide 

Strategies to 
reduce 

emissions and 
improve air 

quality

PHE /East 
Midlands 
Councils

Ongoing Ongoing N/A Reduction in a 
range of 

pollutants

Work Plans / 
Action 
Plans 

Developed

N/A

Air Quality 
Working 
Group 

involves key 
players at 

senior level in 
Public sector 
and voluntary 

sectors

21

East Midlands 
Air Quality 
Network 

Guidance for 
Developers

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developmen

t Control

Air Quality 
Planning and 

Policy Guidance

PHE /East 
Midlands 
Councils

2018 Ongoing N/A
Reduction in a 

range of 
pollutants

Establishes a 
range of 

measures 
expected by 
developers 

Reduction in 
a range of 
pollutants 

from 
development

N/A

To be adapted 
locally taken to the 

Planning and 
Health Group on 

completion for 
discussion and 

local adoption and 
implementation

P
age 294



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 26

22

Derbyshire Air 
Quality 

Working 
Group

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Develop
m ent 

Control

Derbyshire 
Groups Co- 
coordinating 
Area wide 

Strategies to 
reduce 

emissions and 
improve air 

quality

Derby City 
Council/ 

DCC/ District 
Councils

2016
onwards ongoing n/a

Reduction in a 
range of 

pollutants

Work Plans / 
Action Plans 
Developed

Ongoing

Annual report from 
group taken to 

Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 
Annual work plan 
created and a ten 
year Derbyshire 

Air Quality 
Strategy in 
production

23

Raise 
awareness of 

impacts of coal 
and wood 
burning

Public 
Informatio

n

Regional Groups 
Co-ordinating 

programmes to 
develop Area-wide 

Strategies to 
reduce emissions 
and improve air 

quality

HPBC/
Defra Ongoing Ongoing Unknown Unknown Ongoing Ongoing

DEFRA Leaflet 
now on Council 
websites (City 
and County).
In addition, 

DCC Healthy 
Homes 

Programme 
continues to 
offer grant 
funding to 

convert coal 
fires to gas 

central heating 
systems.

24

Inspect under 
the 

Environmental 
Permit regime 
and enforce 
legislation to 

reduce 
combustion 
processes

Environment
al Permits

Introduction/ 
increase of 

environment 
charges through 
permit systems 
and economic 
instruments

HPBC

Completed On-going

Installations 
adhering to 
permits and 

enforcement/p
enalties for 
breaches

By restricting 
emissions from 

industrial 
processes

on-going Continual

This is standard 
HPBC work in 
Environmental 

Protection

25 Air quality 
monitoring

Public 
Information Other

HPBC On-going On-going

# monitoring 
locations and 

On-time 
submittal of 

ASRs

Through 
EHO/public 
awareness

On-going annually Annual

Possibly liaise with 
Defra regarding 

need for additional 
monitoring and/or 

AURN funding.
Consider 

continuous 
monitoring and AQ 
grant application

P
age 295



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 27

Appendix A: Response to Consultation
Table A.1 ‒ Summary of Responses to Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement on the AQAP

Consultee Category Response

e.g. Chamber of 
Commerce

Business E.g. Disagree with plan to remove parking on High Street in favour of buses 
and cycles; consider it will harm business of members.

P
age 296



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 28

Appendix B: Reasons for Not Pursuing Action Plan Measures
Table B.1 ‒ Action Plan Measures Not Pursued and the Reasons for that Decision

Action category Action description Reason action is not being pursued (including 
Stakeholder views)

TBC TBC

P
age 297



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 29

Glossary of Terms
Please add a description of any abbreviation included in the AQAP – An example is 

provided below.

Abbreviation Description

AQAP Air Quality Action Plan - A detailed description of measures, 
outcomes, achievement dates and implementation methods, 
showing how the local authority intends to achieve air quality limit 
values’

AQMA Air Quality Management Area – An area where air pollutant 
concentrations exceed / are likely to exceed the relevant air quality 
objectives. AQMAs are declared for specific pollutants and 
objectives

AQS Air Quality Strategy

ASR Air quality Annual Status Report

Defra Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

EU European Union

LAQM Local Air Quality Management

NO2 Nitrogen Dioxide

NOx Nitrogen Oxides

PM10 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10µm 
(micrometres or microns) or less

PM2.5 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm 
or less

… …

Page 298



High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2019 30

References

Page 299



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 301

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 307

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 317

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 323

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 329

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 337

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Corporate Plan: Communication and Engagement Plan and Performance Framework Update
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	5 Second Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2019/2020
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	6 Updated Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 to 2023/24
	Appendix A

	7 Car Parking: Pay and Display Machine Upgrades
	8 Leisure Centre Options
	9 Food Enforcement Plan
	Appendix A

	10 Declaration of an Air Quality Managment Area on part of the A57, Dinting Vale, Glossop
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	11 Air Quality Monitoring Action Plan Update on the AQMA Woodhead Road (A628) Tintwistle
	Appendix A

	13 To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting
	14 Buxton Crescent and Thermal Spa Project - Alternations to lease and support for Buxton Heritage Trust
	15 Contract Award Report P3954 Queens Court Roofing Works
	Appendix A

	16 P4120 Supply and Installation of Windows, Doors and Glazing - HRA Properties Contract Award Report
	Appendix A




